A/CONF.26/7



THIRD UNITED NATIONS CONGRESS ON THE PREVENTION OF CRIME AND THE TREATMENT OF OFFENDERS

UNITED NATIONS

THIRD

UNITED NATIONS CONGRESS ON THE PREVENTION OF CRIME

REVENIION OF CRIMI

AND THE

TREATMENT OF OFFENDERS

Stockholm, 9-18 August 1965

Report prepared by the Secretariat



UNITED NATIONS New York, 1967 Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.

A/CONF.26/7

UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATION

Sales No.: 67. IV. 1

Price: \$ U.S. 1.00 (or equivalent in other currencies)

NOTE

CONTENTS

Introduction

I.	Terms of reference	Paragraphs 1-2	Page 1
II.	Preparation	3-4	1
III.	Participation	5-15	1
IV.	Agenda	16-18	2
V.	Documentation	19-22	2
VI.	Officers	23-26	2
VII.	Organization of work	27-29	5
VIII.	Other activities	30-35	5
IX.	Publicity	36	5

Part One. Deliberations of the Congress

I.	Opening plenary meeting	37-62	6
II.	Reports on the discussions	63-291	8
	A. Report on the research meeting. Rapporteur : Mr. Pedro Solis (Philippines)	64-88	8
	B. Report on agenda item (1): Social change and criminality. Rapporteur: Mr. Marshall Clinard (United States of America)	89-113	11
	Chimmandy. Rapportour + 211 11 Houni (1. Berla)	114-153	14
	D. Report on agenda item (3): Community preventive action. Rapporteur: Miss Zuleika S. Kenworthy (Brazil).	154-204	17
	E. Report on agenda item (4) : Measures to combat recidivism. Rapporteur : Mr. Norval Morris (Australia)	205-229	21
	F. Report on agenda item (5): Probation and other non-institutional measures. Rapporteur: Mr. Maarten E. Tjaden (Netherlands).	230-264	24
	G. Report on agenda item (6): Special preventive and treatment measures for young adults. Rapporteur: Mr. Duncan Fairn (United		
	Kingdom)	265-291	26
III.	Closing plenary meeting	292-299	29

Part Two. Lectures

I.	The challenge of fair and effective criminal administration	300-309	31
II.	Comradeship courts and related innovations in the Soviet Union	310-322	32
III.	Approaches to crime prevention in rapidly changing societies	323-335	33
IV.	Youth and criminality in Africa today	336-347	34

Annexes

т	Resolution adopted by the Congress.	Page 36
II.	List of participants	36
	Rules of procedure of the Congress	
IV.	List of documents	68

×

- 1 -

I. Terms of reference

1. The Third United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders was organized in conformity with paragraph (d) of the annex to General Assembly resolution 415 (V) of 1 December 1950, which provided for the convening every five years of an international Congress in this field. The First Congress had been held in 1955 at the European Office of the United Nations in Geneva, Switzerland, and the Second Congress, with the Government of the United Kingdom acting as host, at Church House and Carlton House, London, in 1960.¹

2. The Government of Sweden generously invited the United Nations to convene the Third Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders in Stockholm. This invitation was accepted by the Secretary-General on behalf of the United Nations and the Congress was held at *Folkets Hus*, Stockholm, from 9 to 18 August 1965.

II. Preparation

3. The Ad Hoc Advisory Committee of Experts on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, which met in January 1963, considered *inter alia* the organization of the Third United Nations Congress and gave its advice on the items which might be included in the Congress agenda and on various other questions concerning the preparation and organization of the Congress.² The Secretary-General informed the Social Commission at its fifteenth session that he intended to organize the Congress on the basis of the suggestions made by the Ad Hoc Advisory Committee.³ Six of the seven items proposed by the Congress, and provision was made for a special plenary meeting on research. The rules of procedure for the Congress were prepared by the United Nations Secretariat; the text is reproduced in annex III.

4. The responsibility for running the Congress was shared by the United Nations and the Government of Sweden. The Government appointed a Swedish Organizing Committee composed of representatives of various departments of the Government of Sweden, under the chairmanship of Mr. Torsten Eriksson, Director-General of the National Correctional

³ Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Thirty-sixth Session, Supplement No. 12, annex I, project No. 38.1. Administration of Sweden, which co-operated with the United Nations Secretariat in servicing the Congress.

III. Participation

5. The following categories of persons were entitled to attend the Congress: experts designated by Governments invited to participate in the Congress; representatives of the specialized agencies of the United Nations, of intergovernmental organizations and of non-governmental organizations in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council and interested in, or concerned with, social defence matters; and qualified individuals.

6. All States Members of the United Nations, as well as nine other Governments, were invited by the Secretary-General to appoint representatives to participate in the Congress. The invitation expressed the hope that Governments which had appointed correspondents with the Secretariat in the field of the prevention of crime and the treatment of offenders in conformity with Economic and Social Council resolution 357 (XII) might appropriately designate them among the members of their delegation to the Congress. It also pointed out that, in view of the nature of the Congress, the delegates would express their views in their individual expert capacity.

7. Three specialized agencies and three intergovernmental organizations interested in the questions on the agenda were invited to send representatives to the Congress.

8. Invitations to participate in the Congress were also addressed to interested non-governmental organizations in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council and to the International Penal and Penitentiary Foundation.

9. Subject to the acceptance of their applications by the United Nations Secretariat, persons having a direct interest in the field of social defence, including representatives of criminological institutes and of national non-governmental organizations concerned with social defence matters, could participate in the Congress in an individual capacity.

10. The Secretary-General also invited all the national correspondents with the United Nations in the field of social defence to attend the Congress in an individual capacity unless designated as Government delegates.

11. In all, 1,083 persons attended the Congress. The list of participants, by categories, may be found in annex II of this report.

^{&#}x27; For the reports on the two previous congresses see United Nations publications, Sales Nos.: 56.IV.4 and 61.IV.3.

² E/CN.5/371, paras. 35-69.

12. A total of 354 experts designated by 74 Governments participated in the Congress.

13. The International Labour Organisation (ILO), the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), and the World Health Organization (WHO) were represented at the Congress, as were also the Council of Europe and the League of Arab States. Twelve persons attended as representatives or experts of these organizations.

14. Thirty-nine non-governmental organizations in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council sent a total of 65 representatives. The International Penal and Penitentiary Foundation designated four representatives. Among the representatives of these organizations, ten persons participated in more than one capacity.

15. Six hundred and fifty-eight persons, including some experts from countries which were not officially represented at the Congress and some from Trust and Non-Self-Governing Territories, attended the Conference as individuals.

IV. Agenda

16. The programme of the Congress was devoted to the general theme of the *Prevention of Criminality*. This theme was interpreted widely so as to include consideration both of activities of a broader social character and of special measures designed to prevent criminality. The programme comprised the following agenda items:

(1) Social change and criminality;

(2) Social forces and the prevention of criminality (with particular reference to the public, the family, educational facilities and occupational opportunities);

(3) Community preventive action (with particular reference to the planning and implementation of medical, police and social programmes);

(4) Measures to combat recidivism (with particular reference to adverse conditions of detention pending trial and inequality in the administration of justice);

(5) Probation (especially adult probation) and other non-institutional measures;

(6) Special preventive and treatment measures for young adults.

17. The special plenary meeting on questions of research preceding the Section meetings was designed to keynote the discussions on the six agenda items from the point of view of the importance and needs of research in the field of social defence and to draw attention to the various research problems connected with the improvement of policies and programmes through the advancement of technical knowledge.

18. On four days during the Congress, the late afternoons after regular Section meetings were devoted to lectures followed by question and answer periods in plenary sessions. The Secretary-General had invited four persons prominent in the field of the prevention of crime and the treatment of offenders to address the Congress. The International Penal and Penitentiary Foundation, which had graciously made a grant of 20,000 Swiss francs towards the Congress budget, sponsored the programme of lectures; its four representatives presided in turn over the four lecture sessions. Summaries of these lectures may be found in Part Two of this report.

V. Documentation

19. In keeping with specific recommendations by the Ad Hoc Advisory Committee of 1963, basic United Nations documentation was not of a survey character as in the two previous Congresses but was limited to brief statements on the different topics of the agenda, setting the stage for the discussions by giving the elements of the problem, indicating the preoccupations of various countries on the matter and defining the major issues involved.

20. Three issues of the International Review of Criminal Policy served as background documentation for the Congress. They were respectively devoted to the evaluation of methods used for the prevention of juvenile delinquency (No. 21),⁴ to the academic and practical training of personnel dealing with adult and juvenile offenders, both in the developed and the developing countries (No. 22),⁵ and to trends and needs of research in the social defence field, including questions of methodology and different aspects of planning and co-ordination (No. 23).⁶

21. At the request of the United Nations Secretariat, the three specialized agencies participating in the Congress, as well as the Council of Europe, the International Criminal Police Organization (Interpol) and several non-governmental organizations submitted papers in connexion with several agenda items. In a consultant capacity, the National Council on Crime and Delinquency, New York, had undertaken to prepare a report on the young adult offender, which was issued as a United Nations document in connexion with agenda item (6). A complete list of Congress documentation appears in annex IV.

22. Various announcements, including the agenda and the daily programme of meetings, were issued by the Secretariat during the Congress as required.

VI. Officers

23. At its opening meeting, the Congress elected the following persons as its officers in accordance with rule 13 of the Rules of procedure : *President*

Mr. Herman Kling, Minister of Justice, Sweden; *Vice-Presidents* :

Mr. Yoshitsugu Baba, Prosecutor-General, Japan; Sir Charles Cunningham, Permanent Under-Secretary of State, United Kingdom;

Mr. Louis Damour, Premier Président honoraire de la Cour de Cassation, France;

Mr. Abdoulaye Diop, Président de chambre à la Cour d'Appel, Senegal;

Mr. Torsten Eriksson, Director-General, National Correctional Administration, Sweden;

⁴ United Nations publication, Sales No.: 64.IV.3.

⁵ United Nations publication, Sales No.: 65.IV.1.

^e United Nations publication, Sales No.: 65.IV.4.

- 2 -

Mr. Hedi Khefacha, Secretary of State for Justice, Tunisia;

Mr. Hussein Mahanna, Minister of Justice, Syria; Mr. Thurgood Marshall, Judge of the United States Court of Appeals of the Second Circuit (New York) and Solicitor-General Designate, United States of America;

Mr. Nicola Reale, President of Section at the Supreme Court of Cassation, Italy;

Mr. Conrado V. Sanchez, Presiding Justice, Court of Appeals, Philippines;

Mr. L. N. Smirnov, President of the Supreme Court of the Russian Soviet Federated Socialist Republic, Soviet Union;

Mr. Eduardo Varas Videla, Justice of Supreme Court, Chile;

Mr. Stanislaw Walczak, Minister of Justice, Poland.

24. Mr. Philippe de Seynes, Under-Secretary for Economic and Social Affairs, Miss Julia Henderson, Director of the Bureau of Social Affairs, and Mr. Edward Galway, Chief of the Section of Social Defence, represented the Secretary-General at the Congress. Mr. Georges Kahale was designated as Executive Secretary of the Congress.

25. In accordance with rule 14 of the Rules of procedure, the Secretary-General designated in advance of the Congress the Chairmen, Vice-Chairmen and Rapporteurs for the special plenary meeting on research and for each of the six Sections. The list of officers so designated and placed for affirmation before the Congress at its first plenary meeting was as follows:

Special plenary meeting on research Chairman :

Mr. Thorsten Sellin (United States of America), President of the International Society for Criminology; Vice-Chairman :

Mr. Valentin Soine (Finland), Director-General of the Prison Administration;

Rapporteur :

Mr. Pedro Solis (Philippines), Chief, Crime Prevention Research Division, Ministry of Justice; Panel Members :

Mr. William Clifford, United Nations Senior Consultant in the Democratic Republic of Congo;

Mrs. Loreley Friedman (Chile), Director, Centre of Criminological Research, University of Chile;

Mr. Daniel Glaser (United States of America), Professor of Sociology, University of Illinois;

Mr. Roger Hood (United Kingdom), Lecturer in

Social Administration, University of Durham; Mr. I. I. Karpets (USSR), Director, Institute for the Prevention of Crime, Moscow;

United Nations Secretariat :

Mr. Edward Galway;

Miss Helene Pfander (Secretary).

Section I. Social change and criminality Chairman:

Mr. Ahmed M. Khalifa (United Arab Republic), Director, National Centre of Social and Criminological Research, Cairo; Vice-Chairman :

Mr. F. L. Okwaare (Uganda), Commissioner of Prisons;

Rapporteur :

Mr. Marshall Clinard (United States of America), Professor of Sociology, University of Wisconsin; Panel Members :

Mr. G. V. Coelho, Representative of UNESCO;

Dr. Franco Ferracuti (Italy), Director, Criminology Programme, Social Science Research Centre, University of Puerto Rico;

Dr. T. C. Gibbens (United Kingdom), Reader in Forensic Psychiatry, London University;

Mr. Bernard Russell (United States of America), Director, Office of Juvenile Delinquency and Youth Development, Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Washington D.C.;

Mr. S. Zivs (Soviet Union), Head of Department, Institute of State and Law of the Academy of Sciences, Moscow;

Research Specialist:

Mr. W. H. Nagel (Netherlands), Professor of Criminology, University of Leiden;

United Nations Secretariat :

Mrs. Elizabeth A. Fabricant;

Mr. Ivan Nicolle (Secretary).

Section II. Social forces and the prevention of criminality Chairman :

Mr. Nikola Srzentic (Yugoslavia), Judge of the Constitutional Court;

Vice-Chairman :

Mr. Kong Heng (Cambodia), Director of the Prison Services;

Rapporteur :

Dr. T. Asuni (Nigeria), Psychiatrist of the Neuro-Psychiatric Centre of Abeokuta; Panel Members :

Mr. Carlos Castillo Rios (Peru), Secretary-General of the National Council for Minors, Ministry of Justice;

Mr. Mustapha El Aougi (Lebanon), Judge of the Court of Appeal;

Mr. Sheldon Glueck (United States of America), Roscoe Pound Professor of Law, Emeritus, Harvard Law School;

Mr. I. I. Korchak (Ukrainian SSR), Deputy Procurator;

Mr. William C. Kvaraceus (Expert sponsored by UNESCO), Professor of Education and Director of Youth Studies, Lincoln Filene Center, Tufts University, Medford, Mass., United States of America;

Mr. C. H. Lindsey (Expert sponsored by ILO), Inspector of Youth Employment Service, United Kingdom;

Mr. Paul Lutz (Expert sponsored by ILO), Conseiller à la Cour d'Appel, Paris, France;

Research Specialist :

Mr. Knud Sveri (Sweden), Assistant Professor, University of Stockholm;

United Nations Secretariat :

Mr. James Riby-Williams;

Miss M. C. Hellin (Secretary).

- 3 -

Chairman :

Mr. Maurice Veillard-Cybulski (Switzerland), President of the International Association of Youth Magistrates;

Vice-Chairman : Mr. Antonio Ferrer

Mr. Antonio Ferrer Sama (Spain), Professor of Penal Law;

Rapporteur : Miss Zuleika S. Kenworthy (Brazil), Juvenile Court

Judge; Panel Members :

Dr. P. Baan, Representative of WHO;

Mr. Wilfred H. Chinn (United Kingdom), Adviser on Social Development, Ministry of Overseas Development;

Mr. H. Féraud, Representative of INTERPOL;

Mr. J. N. Kawuki (Uganda), Principal Welfare and Refugees Officer, Ministry of Planning and Community Development, Kampala;

Dr. T. A. Lambo (Expert sponsored by WHO), Professor of Psychiatry and Head of Department of Psychiatry, Neurology and Neurosurgery, University of Ibadan, Nigeria;

Mr. Alfonso Quiroz Cuarón (Mexico), Professor of Criminology;

Mr. David Reifen (Israel), Acting Chief Magistrate, Juvenile Court, Tel-Aviv;

Research Specialist :

Mr. Walter C. Reckless (United States of America), Professor of Sociology, Ohio State University; United Nations Secretariat :

Mrs. Elizabeth A. Fabricant;

Miss M. C. Hellin (Secretary).

Section IV. Measures to combat recidivism

Chairman :

Mr. Manuel López-Rey (Bolivia), United Nations Social Defence Expert in Turkey; Vice-Chairman:

Mr. L. G. Maksimov (Byelorussian SSR), Deputy Procurator;

Rapporteur :

Mr. Norval Morris (Australia), Professor of Law, University of Chicago;

Panel Members :

Sir Charles Cunningham (United Kingdom), Permanent Under-Secretary of State;

Mr. Mohamad Ali Hedayati (Iran), Professor of Law, University of Teheran;

Mr. George E. Henries (Liberia), Assistant Attorney-General;

Mr. F. D. L. Ratnaike (Ceylon), Commissioner of Prisons;

Mr. J. L. Robson (New Zealand), Secretary for Justice;

Research Specialist :

Mr. Israel Drapkin (Chile), Director, Institute of Criminology, Hebrew University, Jerusalem;

United Nations Secretariat :

Mr. V. N. Pillai;

Miss Helene Pfander (Secretary).

Probation and other non-institutional measures

Chairman :

Mr. Paul Cornil (Belgium), Secretary-General of the Ministry of Justice, President of the European Committee on Crime Problems of the Council of Europe;

Vice-Chairman :

Mr. Bohumil Repik (Czechoslovakia), Judge of the Supreme Court;

Rapporteur :

Mr. Maarten E. Tjaden (Netherlands), Superintendent of Probation and Parole, Ministry of Justice;

Panel Members :

Mr. Myrl Alexander (United States of America), Director, Federal Bureau of Prisons, Department of Justice;

Mr. Samuel Amperey Obuobi (Ghana), Assistant Director of the Department of Social Welfare and Community Development;

Mr. T. G. Street (Canada), Chairman, National Parole Board, Department of Justice;

Mr. Toshio Suzuki (Japan), Chief, General Affairs Section, Correction Bureau, Ministry of Justice;

Mr. Alfons Wahl (Federal Republic of Germany), Councillor in the Federal Ministry of Justice;

Mr. Stanislaw Walczak (Poland), Minister of Justice; Research Specialist :

Mr. Karl O. Christiansen (Denmark), Professor of Criminology;

United Nations Secretariat :

Mr. V. N. Pillai;

Miss Helene Pfander (Secretary).

Section VI. Special preventive

and treatment measures for young adults

Chairman :

Mr. Justice J. H. McClemens (Australia), Judge of the Supreme Court of New South Wales; *Vice-Chairman*:

Mr. François Mateta (Democratic Republic of Congo), Secretary-General of the Ministry of Justice; *Rapporteur*:

Mr. Duncan Fairn (United Kingdom), Assistant Under-Secretary of State in charge of the Prison Department;

Panel Members :

4

Mr. Jean Benglia (Senegal), Judge and Head of Juvenile Supervised Education;

Mr. Jean Charles Cantin (Canada), Member of Parliament;

Mr. Milton Rector (United States of America), Director, National Council on Crime and Delinquency;

Mr. Adel Younés (United Arab Republic), Vice-President of the Court of Cassation;

Research Specialists :

Mr. R. C. Andry (Expert sponsored by UNESCO), Lecturer in Psychology, Institute of Education, London University;

Mrs. Katja Vodopivec (Yugoslavia), Director, Institute of Criminology, University of Ljubljana; United Nations Secretariat :

Mr. James Riby-Williams;

Mr. Ivan Nicolle (Secretary).

26. In conformity with rules 28 and 29 of the Rules of procedure, the Steering Committee of the Congress comprised the following members :

Mr. H. Kling, President of the Congress; Mr. E. Galway, representative of the Secretary-General of the United Nations; Mr. T. Eriksson, representative of the Host Government (Chairman of the Committee); Mr. A. M. Khalifa, Chairman of Section I (United Arab Republic); Mr. N. Srzentic, Chairman of Section II (Yugoslavia); Mr. M. Veillard-Cybulski, Chairman of Section III (Switzerland); Mr. M. Lopez-Rey, Chairman of Section IV (Bolivia); Mr. P. Cornil, Chairman of Section V (Belgium); Mr. C. H. McClemens, Chairman of Section VI Rapporteur of the (Australia, Committee); Mr. T. Sellin, Chairman of the special plenary meeting (United States of America); Mr. Y. Baba, representative of the Host Government for the next quinquennial Congress (Japan); Mr. L. N. Smirnov, co-opted member (USSR, Vice-Chairman of the Committee); Mr. G. Kahale (Executive Secretary of the Congress).

VII. Organization of work

27. In accordance with rule 7 of the Rules of Procedure, the items of the agenda of the Congress were allocated to six sections. Sections I and IV held two meetings each; Sections II, III, V and VI held four meetings each. The Congress held four plenary meetings and also met on four occasions to hear the general lectures referred to above.

28. The working languages of the Congress were English, French, Russian and Spanish; simultaneous interpretation into and from these languages was provided, as required, during all section meetings, plenary meetings and lectures.

29. A working method distinct from that followed by the two previous Congresses was used at the Third Congress in that the discussions were initiated and guided by small panels selected by the Secretary-General with due regard to geographical representation as may be seen from the list of officers under VI above.

VIII. Other activities

30. The Government of Sweden generously organized group visits to a number of institutions for adult and juvenile offenders in and around Stockholm on 13 August 1965, under the guidance

of staff of the Swedish Correctional Administration. A programme of interest to wives of participants was also arranged for the same day.

31. The Government of Sweden also organized an international exhibition in which all governments invited to participate in the Congress were asked to take part. The purpose of the exhibition was to show new developments in the planning and construction of penal and re-educational institutions. The display was arranged in the building where the Congress met.

32. During the Congress, three showings of films were held. They included the following items :

(1) The Prison Community (National Film Board of Canada, Montreal, Quebec);

(2) Psychiatric Newsreel, Issue 2 (Smith Kline and French Laboratories, Philadelphia, Pa.);

(3) A Sense of Belonging (Central Office of Information, London);

(4) Take an Option on Tomorrow (Film Library, New York State Division for Youth, Albany, N.Y.);

(5) Ritorno nella Società (Ministero di Grazia e Giustízia, Direzione Generale per gli Istituti di Prevenzione e Pena, Rome);

(6) The Ex-Con (Indiana University, Audio-Visual Center, Bloomington, Indiana).

33. Hospitality extended to the Congress included a reception for all participants given by the city of Stockholm in the City Hall, as well as dinners offered by the Swedish Government and receptions given by the United Nations, by various delegations and by several non-governmental organizations.

34. A bookstall for the sale of United Nations and other publications in the field of social defence was provided at *Folkets Hus* and was staffed by C. E. Fritze's Kungl. Hovbokhandel A-B, distributor for United Nations publications in Sweden, which distributed a printed list of all publications on display.

35. Various professional groups and associations convened meetings during the Congress. On request, meeting rooms were placed at their disposal at *Folkets Hus.*

IX. Publicity

36. The work of the Congress was covered extensively by the press and the radio. A United Nations press officer issued press releases and arranged for press conferences with United Nations officials and Congress officers, as well as interviews with delegates for broadcasting to their respective countries. Articles concerning the Congress appeared in newspapers throughout the world.

- 5 -

PART ONE. DELIBERATIONS OF THE CONGRESS

I. Opening plenary meeting

37. Mr. Herman Kling, Minister of Justice of Sweden, welcomed the participants on behalf of the host Government. He recalled that Sweden had been host to the second world congress on penitentiary matters in 1878, when the statutes of the International Penal and Penitentiary Commission were adopted.

38. Since then, Mr. Kling continued, steps had been taken to improve both strategy and tactics in combating crime, and there had been steady progress in devising new methods of treatment and prevention of crime. He spoke of the conviction that the combination of humaneness and proper care should result in a reduction of recidivism, and that increased education of the people and improved social conditions should also bring about a general decline of criminality. Noting that the present era tended to overstress efficiency, he warned that severe and humane methods might not yield very different results as indicated by some research, and this might lead to a restriction of the humanizing tendencies in criminal policy if they did not, so to speak, yield profits. Thus, his advice was to persevere in exercising humaneness irrespective of profits as this was a duty to one's fellowmen. It was for this reason that world congresses of this nature were important, and it was natural that the United Nations should have taken the leadership in these efforts to overcome feelings of revenge and adopt methods worthy of society itself in dealing with those who had violated the law.

39. Referring to the importance of research for defining criminal policy, Mr. Kling emphasized that the lack of complete knowledge of the basic causes of criminality should not serve as an excuse for doing nothing. Experimenting with humane methods should always continue.

40. Mr. Kling stated that the Congress would give participants an opportunity to study Sweden's own facilities and policies for the treatment of offenders and prevention of crime. He added that he would appreciate the participants' critical evaluation of its correctional system.

41. Mr. Kling said it was particularly gratifying to note that in his country and elsewhere public support for the humane treatment of offenders had largely replaced the aggressive tendencies toward criminals. The care and treatment of offenders, which had once been primarily a philanthropic interest, were now the concern of the general public. This change of attitude towards criminal policy was clearly characterized by the meeting places of the two Stockholm Congresses. In 1878 the Congress met in the House of the Nobility whereas this time it met in the House of the People.

42. Having concluded his address, Mr. Kling called upon Mr. Philippe de Seynes, Under-Secretary for Economic and Social Affairs, Miss Julia Henderson, Director of the Bureau of Social Affairs, and Mr. Edward Galway, Chief of the Section of Social Defence, to take their places on the podium.

43. On behalf of the Secretary-General of the United Nations, Mr. de Seynes thanked the Swedish Government and people, and the authorities of the City of Stockholm for the generous hospitality extended to the Congress. He said it was a moving experience to meet in the homeland of the late Secretary-General Dag Hammarskjold, who had realized the immense value of a vast network of exchanges of views and experiences such as embodied by this Congress, which was likely to have a more profound effect on international life than did diplomatic instruments between States.

44. In evaluating the half-way mark in the United Nations development decade, Mr. de Seynes observed that the results achieved fell short of expectations. One important result was the recognition of the importance of the qualitative human factor in the process of development.

45. Mr. de Seynes pointed out that failure to maintain law and order could disrupt or completely halt a country's development. The maintenance of law and order was not only a question of enlarging the police establishment but was now seen to depend largely on the formulation and implementation of a comprehensive social defence policy. An appreciable increase in the rates of criminality could seriously undermine the manifold benefits of economic development, and this could happen to countries undergoing rapid social change unless sound measures of prevention and control were instituted in good time.

46. Mr. de Seynes recalled that only a few days ago the Economic and Social Council, in recognition of the intimate relationship between the control of criminality and economic and social development, adopted a resolution endorsing the principle that the prevention of juvenile delinquency and adult criminality should form part of comprehensive economic and social development plans. This approach would have a number of practical advantages. Governments would be forced to give specific attention to problems whose connexion with development might not always be immediately apparent to them; it would encourage social defence workers to analyse their activities in the light of specific goals and measures to attain those goals, and would also facilitate the choice of priorities.

47. Mr. de Seynes pointed out that specialists were unanimous in deploring many of the conventional

methods of treating offenders. Policymakers, he said, were not fully aware of the high cost of crime since little systematic research had been done in spite of the vast sums expended in coping with crime. In the United Kingdom an estimated £100 million were spent in 1963 on the prevention of crime and treatment of offenders. The Scandinavian countries spent at least \$150 million for police and prison services in 1963, a sum a thousand times higher than the amount spent on criminological research in those countries. The State of New York spent \$665 million a year in combating crime.

48. It was not enough to measure the cost of crime in terms of public expenditure; the main emphasis should be placed on the loss in terms of human resources. In this connexion, the special problems of young people was one of the main concerns of the United Nations family. Youth, Mr. de Seynes said, was an ideal field for investment in human resources. Almost everywhere efforts were being made to harness the vitality of young people in the pursuit of the common good. He stressed, however, that efforts should be made for youth programmes to reach those groups which needed them most in terms of delinquency prevention.

49. While juvenile delinquency was a scourge shared by both rich and poor countries, Mr. de Seynes observed that the initial stages of economic development and urbanization were usually accompanied by an increase in juvenile delinquency. The connexion between criminal tendencies and the sense of revolt which youth might feel in respect of certain unworthy social and economic conditions needed attention. Comparative research was hoped to contribute to the evaluation of preventive methods. Individual treatment had been advocated by those who considered juvenile delinquency an emotional problem, while environmental treatment was increasingly being favoured by those who regarded it as an environmental symptom.

50. Mr. de Seynes concluded by reminding participants that any efforts dedicated to the prevention of crime and the treatment of offenders with the help of the modern science of human behaviour should be motivated by that deep sense of human compassion which had prompted the setting up of the International Penitentiary Commission in 1872. To use the words of the United Nations Charter, only through "faith in the dignity and worth of the human person" could the efforts of this Congress serve to achieve the common objective: to better the lot of man.

51. Mr. de Seynes declared open the Third United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, whereupon Mr. Kling was elected President by acclamation.

52. The Congress then heard an address by Mr. Torsten Eriksson, Director-General of the National Correctional Administration, under the title "Reflections on the Swedish Correctional System".

53. Mentioning the distribution to all participants of basic information consisting of the New Penal Code, effective 1 January, 1965, the Child Welfare Act of 1961, and a brief survey of the Swedish correctional

7 —

system, Mr. Eriksson said that he intended to give the Congress a deeper insight into the functioning of his country's correctional system, with a view to the scheduled visits to institutions.

54. As regards the problem of the young criminal. Mr. Eriksson referred to the absence of juvenile courts in Sweden, a fact which was striking to most foreign visitors, as maladjusted and delinquent young people were handled by Child Welfare Boards which had been existence since 1902. He pointed out that, in although these boards were politically appointed at the local level, there was no real danger of their decisions being influenced by party politics. As a rule, board members were not necessarily members of the majority party in the local parliament, and anybody could be co-opted on the grounds of competence and suitability. The jurisdiction of Child Welfare Boards was unlimited over offenders under the age of 15 years. The measures available to them were, however, strictly limited to treatment and care and the Boards were not empowered to prescribe any form of punishment. For those over the age of 15 years, court measures and child welfare measures could supplement each other. Child Welfare Boards had worked well in Sweden.

55. Speaking on the new penal institutions in Sweden, Mr. Eriksson said that some foreign visitors expressed surprise at the large number of small institutions with a large number of staff for a relatively small number of offenders. There existed, in fact, 100 institutions of various sizes, serviced by 3,000 persons to care for 5,000 offenders.

56. The construction of the new institutions, Mr. Eriksson explained, was guided by four principles, namely: (1) the small-group principle to facilitate the observation of and the communication with each inmate; (2) the provision of large institutional ground for adequate recreational facilities; (3) a maximum use of modern technology for internal security and communication, and (4) the provision of suitable employment for inmates.

57. Recalling the opinion put forward in international discussions that prison labour should be integrated with the national economy, Mr. Eriksson instanced Sweden where the objective was that an inmate be paid the same wages as his civilian counterpart with a comparable job. But this, he added, would necessarily involve the inmate in similar financial obligations as his free counterpart. He emphasized, however, that to achieve this objective the work in correctional institutions had to be organized and mechanized along the same lines as in the outside world. In many countries, however, there still existed strong opposition to criminals being provided with paid employment whilst honest men might remain unemployed. Sweden was no exception but took advantage of the shortage of manpower created by economic expansion after the Second World War to transform radically its prison labour system. Mr. Eriksson noted with satisfaction the co-operation and willingness of Swedish trade unions in placing discharged prisoners in the open market of free men. In this connexion, he mentioned that the building where the Congress met belonged to a confederation of trade unions.

58. Referring to open institutional care, Mr. Eriksson emphasized that the ultimate aim of the Swedish correctional system was to make the treatment in open institutions the rule, and the closed system the exception. Apart from being treated under freer conditions, the inmates were allowed to enjoy more privileges. For example, an inmate might receive unsupervised visits in his room by his wife or other members of his immediate family. Another interesting feature was the system of furloughs, dating back to 1937 when the law permitted Prison Boards to grant prisoners leave to visit seriously ill members of their immediate family or to attend the funeral. The scope of furloughs was enlarged by an amendment in 1945 constituting two types, special and regular. The furlough system was more restrictive in closed institutions. The first furlough would last for 48 hours and subsequent ones for 72 hours, exclusive of travel time. The advantages of the furloughs appeared to outweigh the disadvantages, which represented only a few cases of escape. This system had not only obviated the risk of divorcing a prisoner completely from normal life, but had helped him to maintain emotional ties with his immediate family. Above all, Swedish correctional institutions were almost free of homosexuality.

59. Speaking on treatment in freedom as the most promising aspect of the correctional system, Mr. Eriksson stated that Sweden was satisfied with its widely practised types of supervision such as probation and the measures taken to rehabilitate prisoners released on parole. A proposal was under consideration to permit parole after serving half the sentence instead of two-thirds. The time of parole for young offenders as well as adult recidivists was fixed in consideration of future treatment, and the law called it explicitly a "transfer to care outside the institution".

60. In Sweden, Mr. Eriksson pointed out, institutional treatment and treatment in the community were merged into one total system, and this called for all-round training for those engaged in correctional work. It was gratifying to note that more university trained women were applying for positions in both branches of the correctional system, and experience had shown that they were just as successful as their male counterparts.

61. Concluding, Mr. Eriksson stated that success in community treatment in Sweden depended greatly on the efforts and co-operation of private citizens who had volunteered to supervise offenders placed on probation and discharged prisoners. These lay supervisors came from all walks of life, including parliamentarians, and were normally supervised by the professional head of a community treatment agency or "protective consultant".

62. In accordance with the relevant rules of procedure, thereafter, the Congress elected its Vice-Presidents and endorsed the list of other officers

proposed by the Secretary-General. Having stated general agreement on the various nominations, the President adjourned the opening meeting.

II. Reports on the discussions

63. The draft reports prepared by the Rapporteurs on the deliberations of the special plenary meeting on research and the six sections were submitted on the last day to the Congress in the course of two plenary meetings. A few amendments touching upon points actually made in the earlier debates were accepted by the Rapporteurs concerned. In conformity with rule 11 of the Rules of procedure, the final reports were recognized by the Congress as an appropriate synthesis of its deliberations. The seven texts are reproduced below.

A. REPORT ON THE RESEARCH MEETING

RAPPORTEUR : MR. PEDRO SOLIS (PHILIPPINES)

64. There is a growing awareness in an encouraging number of countries of the importance of scientific research into the prevention of crime and the treatment of offenders and the need to encourage the further development of this trend. Progress in the understanding of human beings and their behaviour is lagging behind the understanding and control of the physical universe. Changes in the nature of criminality in any society are not independent of developments in its social structure and institutions. The phenomenon of crime persists in every society and in general appears to increase the more complex society becomes. Intuition or common sense will no longer serve as adequate means for the solution of these problems. Experience has to be organized and it is only by the application of scientific methods of study, i.e., by the use of the logic and methods of investigation common to all empirical science, that it may be hoped to find solutions. Account must be taken of whatever knowledge scientific enquiry can yield, however imperfect it may be.

65. Criminological research will have to embrace not only social conditions, the characteristics of persons upon whom these conditions have a criminogenic effect and the inter-connexion between these factors, but also the impact of the entire system of dealing with offenders from their apprehension and adjudication to the application to them of whatever measures of punishment or treatment may be decreed by judicial and administrative authorities. Criminal events are complex situations; it is necessary to study the parts played by agents of society and victims as well as those of offenders themselves.

66. Despite increasingly sophisticated studies, progress in the control of crime has been slow. There are various reasons for this—including a reluctance to proceed by experimental methods which social conscience would tend to reject and the crudeness of existing instruments for measuring the effectiveness of preventive action. There is a need for more sensitive measuring devices than can be provided by traditional criminal statistics. Until relatively recently, most correctional agencies have tended to neglect or avoid the evaluative studies which would enable them to increase their efficiency-perhaps because of a certain distrust of academic research and perhaps because of the anxieties inherent in attempts to assess their achievements and failures. A new attitude towards scientific research is now beginning to manifest itself in correctional agencies in several countries. Some agencies are beginning to regard research into the policies and methods of dealing with offenders as a necessary administrative tool, and they are losing their fear of acknowledging openly the failure or uselessness of their treatment as applied to this or that type of offender.

67. However, a great deal remains to be worked out in practice as regards the organization of research in order to evolve the most efficient pattern of collaboration between official agencies and research centres or institutes. One such pattern would be for research to be done by competent researchers, attached to university centres or institutes, who are given access to data available in correctional agencies, who are called upon to assist such agencies in setting up rigorous experiments in treatment and who are given a free hand in evaluating the results. As a general principle, it is desirable that criminological research, whether centred in a university or elsewhere, should have considerable independence. The organization of research must take account of the need to bring together both users and producers of research and must ensure that the latter is carried out on an interdisciplinary basis.

68. It is acknowledged that criminological research carried out by penal administrations themselves is of necessity limited in scope, because the inmates of institutions constitute only a small proportion of the offenders in society and not a representative sample of the criminal population as a whole. The research of penal and other social agencies will naturally be concentrated on problems of direct concern for the work of such agencies, and these enquiries will have to be supplemented and co-ordinated with those of national and university research centres in order to amass complete data on crime and its treatment over a whole country.

69. An effective system of communication is essential if research is to be conducted economically, in a co-ordinated fashion without wasteful overlap or duplication, and if it is to have a maximum usefulness for penal policy and practice. This is particularly true at a time when research resources are still limited in most countries. Many of the tools of modern research are relatively expensive and satisfactory economies can be achieved by pooling certain resources and sharing equipment with other research groups in the social or economic field.

70. Clearing houses will be required to ensure a regular exchange of information between research centres on completed, current and proposed research. Communication of this kind at the international level will involve special problems of finance, language and the working out of accepted common standards and bases of comparison.

- 9 -

71. The results of research will also have to be communicated from research centres to interested social agencies, and appropriate machinery or channels. of communication will have to be set up to enable administrators, judges and others concerned with offenders to work out together the practical implications of research findings.

72. It should also be stressed that criminological research as well as treatment should be organized and controlled in such a way as to preserve human rights and principles of individual justice. Such ethical considerations set limits to the extent to which ideal research designs can be applied in the field of social action directed towards the control and elimination of crime.

73. Ideally, it is desirable to strive for the closest possible approximation to controlled experiment which can be achieved. This requires conditions where a larger pool of persons is eligible and suitable for a particular kind of treatment than can be given this service and where the allocation of cases to "treatment" or "control" groups is arranged by methods which have at least some basis in randomization. These ideal conditions may be difficult to achieve, and it may frequently be necessary to resort to *ex post facto* designs (e.g., a comparison of results obtained before and after the introduction of a new treatment method) or to make use of such other, cruder comparative methods as may be available.

74. Follow-up studies of single treatments have obvious limitations. For the most part, they provide information about those persons for whom a treatment is unsuccessful but not for whom it is successful, and indicate little of what might have been achieved if other treatment methods had been used on the same types of offenders. The future lies with comparative studies of the relative effectiveness of different types of treatment for different types of offenders. Such studies of the subsequent criminality of groups of offenders dealt with by different treatment methods or by different social agencies will require techniques for categorizing offenders in ways that are relevant to different treatment alternatives and to the various components of these treatment processes, as well as the subsequent relating of this information to future criminality. Hence the importance of typological research on offenders and the intensive study of the content or process of treatment in order to identify precisely what elements of treatment are making an effective impact on what kinds of offenders.

75. The concept of the treatment process has to be broadened to include the whole range of successive stages of judicial and social processes. The effects of various procedures can and must be subjected to empirical investigation. For example, the publication or not of the names of offenders should be investigated specifically in relation to subsequent criminality. Similarly, the practice as regards bail provides a further example of a procedure which still has to be studied, even at the simplest level, in order to determine not only the immediate effect of variations in practice but also the longer-term effects of such variations on the subsequent careers of offenders. Further, improvements in penal policy will also depend on increasing the understanding of the sociological and psychological factors underlying judicial decision-making.

76. It is necessary to emphasize that basic descriptive studies are still required even in countries where research has developed some technical sophistication. In most countries, criminological research is relatively new and knowledge is still elementary. Many assumptions underlying institutionalized procedures still remain to be tested – e.g., that pre-sentence enquiries are valuable in all cases, irrespective of the kind of information that is required and actually used by courts in reaching decisions about the best disposal of offenders. Again, reference is constantly made to "public opinion", unsupported by relevant evidence which could be provided by systematic surveys.

77. As regards the methodology of research, various points still require emphasis. The official records of offenders must be improved if they are to be of any value for research. This will require co-operation between research organizations and social agencies which compile data for their own record purposes. More than this, the collection of adequate research data will need to be planned in terms of the precise purposes and designs of research investigations. In particular, where treatment innovations are being introduced, evaluative research should be built-in from the beginning, research workers being involved in the initial planning and not merely brought in later in a passive role.

78. It has to be recognized also that research results will seldom be definitive; they will have a limited life, if only because conditions affecting crime will change and treatment methods or their application will alter in various ways. Predictive research techniques, in particular, will require to be modified continuously and kept up to date. There is a certain danger that the findings of limited or early studies will be interpreted without due qualification, accepted as conclusive and applied uncritically by administrators and policy-makers. Such pilot studies will be no more than suggestive in their implications for action and will require to be repeated or extended if a firm basis for policy decisions is to be provided.

79. Research has tended to concentrate on the effects of treatment on individual offenders and to pay insufficient attention to wider considerations such as general deterrence or the protection of society. Research into institutional treatment may have to examine more closely such questions as the appropriateness of penal methods for the rehabilitation of offenders and identify more clearly those types of individuals who must be dealt with in this way because of the threat which they present to society.

80. Treatment research has perhaps tended up till now to focus attention on crime and criminals, and to pay insufficient regard to the effects on the offender of systems of prevention and control, judicial procedures, the roles of different professions and types of personnel engaged in the treatment

- 10 -

process. There are signs that greater attention will be paid in future to how the "response of society" affects its levels of crime.

81. Criteria for assessing the effectiveness of preventive and treatment measures have tended to be unduly restricted. More sensitive and diversified indices of recidivism will be required in future. Multiple criteria will have to be evolved, the traditional statistics of re-conviction being supplemented by information on social and personal adjustment, on the subsequent work record and so on. Even such information will have to be checked further by reference to the extent to which criminal behaviour has been replaced by other forms of social deviance or mental illness. While the main focus of attention for criminological research is criminality as defined by the law, a deeper understanding of crime will be achieved by operating within the wider context of deviant social behaviour generally.

82. As far as the developing countries are concerned, it is necessary to underline the need for basic information of the most rudimentary kinds. The priority here is for the routine collection of essential data and for research reduced to its simplest terms, the keeping of systematic records and simple case studies, even if these were more subjective than might be desirable. The discipline of keeping complete records is in itself a useful contribution to the training of those engaged in work with offenders.

83. While the developing countries might require considerable assistance from outside in introducing programmes of research, this process would not be all one way. It is important that opportunities for studying conditions of rapid social change should not be lost, and it is necessary to recognize that many developing countries have rich cultural traditions, balanced social structures and social controls which are still relatively effective in preventing crime. Some of these might well have relevance for the reduction of crime in more developed countries. Great opportunities are present within such simpler and more flexible social systems for conducting experiments in community action to prevent crime, and great contributions can be made in this way to criminological theory by clarifying and extending the concepts of social forces and culture in relation to crime.

84. To a greater or lesser extent in different countries, action research into problems of delinquency has to concern itself with a broad range of social problems. In some countries it has been easier to demonstrate that an interdisciplinary team, working at the level of the family and concentrating on social pathology and mental health, has made a greater impact in terms of reduced infant mortality, increased community participation in local affairs, improved group activities for young people and the treatment of alcoholism than in terms of reduced delinquent or deviant behaviour as such. Where delinquency is inseparable from the problems of children who are homeless, abandoned, living in extreme poverty or without stable discipline or support, the main tasks of criminological research may be those of identifying the obstacles to effective socialization or successful treatment and rehabilitation and of systematically exploring the effectiveness of possible ways of counteracting such criminogenic factors – by supporting the role of the mother in the family, strengthening the links between the school and the family, stimulating community responsibility and so on. At certain stages of social development it may be necessary to give prior attention to such situations, including the purely material environment, rather than to make a direct approach to the understanding and control of delinquency as the prevailing problem or symptom.

85. While it has to be recognized that certain forms of criminological theory are not equally acceptable or congenial for countries with different kinds of social systems and political organization, nevertheless it is accepted that certain basic principles of social research methodology exist which can be applied universally to the study of social problems. The team approach to criminological research, for example, is being employed successfully in countries with widely differing social philosophies.

86. Research must be based on rigorous methods appropriate to the nature of the problems to be studied. This will require greater numbers of suitably trained research personnel than are at present available. Such training must be recognized as an essential function of criminological institutes and other research centres and adequate funds allocated to them for this purpose.

87. The problems of criminological research were summed up by one participant as involving organization, communication and integration with policy and practice, methodology and techniques, and strategies. In this connexion, it is clear that priorities will necessarily vary to some extent from country to country, depending on the state of their development, their resources of finance, trained personnel and accumulated knowledge.

88. There is general agreement that criminological research is relatively undeveloped as a scientific pursuit. It would be unreasonable to expect rapid or complete answers to the complex problems with which it is concerned. Research is not a panacea, a substitute for action or an excuse for delaying action which must be pushed ahead on the basis of the best evidence available at any one time. Without systematic research, progress in tackling the problems of crime will be retarded; without the active interest, support and involvement of society, and of its policy-makers, administrators and practitioners, criminological research will be sterile.

B. REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM (1): SOCIAL CHANGE AND CRIMINALITY

RAPPORTEUR : MR. MARSHALL CLINARD (UNITED STATES OF AMERICA)

89. During the course of the discussion, participants sought to determine whether and in which ways certain

- 11 -

changes in a society may affect the incidence of delinquency and criminality. The discussion also turned on whether the legal system adequately reflected social change in the sense of change in the institutional structure and behavioural patterns of a society or nation. It was observed that all countries undergo change, but that the contemporary world appeared to be particularly characterized by rapid and important changes. Some changes may be imperceptible over short periods, and rates of change may differ from one society to another, and within a society certain institutional patterns may be more stable than others.

90. Changes in social institutions occur in all societies, and it is erroneous to assume that changes are associated primarily with developing countries; in fact, there are indications that some types of social change may be even more rapid in the developed countries. Likewise, it was recalled that many so-called developed countries are in some geographic areas as likely to be as underdeveloped as countries labelled as less-developed.

91. It was agreed that economic explanations of crime are not fully satisfactory in all countries. While developing countries are likely to attribute their crime and delinquency rates exclusively to poverty and unemployment, and while certain developed countries are likely to attribute some of their crime to poverty in slum areas, the incidence of crime and delinquency appears to be extensive in countries which are economically highly developed. Such a situation is confusing and in a sense discouraging to developing countries. It appears that in both highly industrialized and developing countries the answers may well lie primarily in factors other than economic, namely, in urbanization, in new values and norms and in changes in social control.

92. While there was some dissent, the consensus was that the factors in causes of delinquency and crime must be sought not so much in the individual or in his family as in the broader social and political changes taking place in his environment. Consequently, in formulating measures of social defence this approach must be taken into consideration.

93. It was pointed out that in Japan, for example, where industrial development and the standard of living have rapidly risen, there has been a considerable increase in youth crime since the Second World War. The spread of ideas of freedom and equality and the interpretation of these ideas by young people resulted in many of them becoming preoccupied with the desire to have more and more consumer goods and pleasures. Many of them appear to have almost unlimited desires for such possessions. In this context it is not poverty that lies behind criminality, but desire for the multivariety of consumer items available and for enjoying life.

94. Laws do not always keep up with the social changes occurring in a society, with the result that crimes occur and criminals are made by laws sociologically no longer acceptable to the society. Evidence was cited, for example, of sex laws in many countries which appear no longer to be in accord with the sentiments and attitudes of the people as a whole. Another example is the existence of laws making drunkenness a criminal offence and some efforts are now being made in several countries to change such laws. It is often assumed that laws are supported by the people, and this may not necessarily be the case. Research should therefore be conducted on the changing moral judgments of the population. In some cases, however, new criminal laws have reflected changes in and affirmation of fundamental new values, as in the case of newer legislation in some countries eliminating racial discrimination or guaranteeing equality of women. The hope was expressed that more countries would pass laws to eliminate racial and other forms of discrimination since such discrimination violates human rights.

95. It was observed that there is in most countries an increasing recourse to social control through law to replace the decline in family, religious, tribal, village and caste controls. There was general agreement that, in the enactment of new laws in both developed and developing countries, caution should be exercised in the exclusive use of the criminal sanction, since this tends to designate as criminals persons who might not otherwise be so considered. In place of strict legal measures, efforts should be made to deal with new forms of deviant behaviour by the use of other types of sanctions. It is also possible to eliminate certain categories of criminal offenders, such as alcoholics or certain motor vehicle violators, by the use of other measures.

96. Nearly all countries reported an increase in crime and delinquency, which presumably reflects social changes affecting the violation of legal norms in the society. Some participants from countries with centrally planned economies reported that delinquency and criminality had decreased during recent years. This was attributed to changes in the social system primarily through the elimination of unemployment, increase in literacy, provision of more cultural and recreational activities and strengthening youth morale, as well as through enlisting the support of the average person in the condemnation of deviant behaviour. The substitution of non-criminal sanctions in place of penal measures for certain offences was also said to have contributed to this reduction.

97. Criminal statistics, which measure assumed increase in delinquency and criminality, as well as comparisons between the statistics in different countries, should be utilized with great caution. An increase in delinquency or youth crime, for example, may reflect population growth in the younger age categories and improved reporting measures, as well as the availability of more police and judicial facilities which may result in the processing of more persons and the stricter enforcement of some laws. At certain times there may also be less tolerance by the public of certain offences, thus putting pressure on governmental authorities to enforce the laws by making more arrests. An increase may also reflect the transfer of social control from the family and other institutions

to the legal measures of the political state, even though the same number of offences had previously occurred. New laws, or the greater use of existing laws due to changes in the society, may also tend to increase the incidence of delinquency and criminality. Greatly increased use of motor vehicles may add to the total amount of delinquency and criminality. Likewise, the more rigorous enforcement of laws dealing with liquor violations among youths will inflate delinquency figures. Increased delinquency and crime may reflect more general public concern, and consequently a tendency for the police to apprehend more persons in certain age groups or for certain offences.

98. In making comparative appraisals of crime and delinquency in various countries, extreme caution must be exercised because of the differences in the reliability of the statistics, the degree to which statistical data are generally available, the degree of enforcement of laws, and whether or not the laws are identical or comparable. When comparing developing countries with the more developed, for example, the comparative absence of motor vehicles and knowledge of how to operate them in the developing countries makes for less offences of this type and may make it difficult to compare accurately the incidence of delinquency and crime in the two types of countries.

99. Usually statistics on delinquency and crime are presented for the whole country, and judgments of increase or decrease are based on such figures to show the effect of social change. This is highly misleading, for there may actually be great variations within a given country. The figures for a given country may also reflect the degree of urbanization or the fact that no distinction is made between criminality in urban and rural areas.

100. It is likely that, as a society becomes more complex in its social organization and industrial development, more legislation will be needed. Consequently, the incidence of crimes may be expected to increase. In this regard, developing countries are faced with special problems as they progress toward a more highly industrialized stage. Violations of *l* commercial and industrial regulations may be cited as examples. For instance, countries may enact compulsory health insurance which, in turn, may produce cases of fraud which did not previously arise; increased regulation of motor vehicles or new forms of taxation may likewise increase criminality.

101. The view that crime is associated with urbanization was repeatedly expressed in the discussion, and one contention was that a higher rate of criminality existed in large urban areas, that crime increased by city size and that criminality was related to the changing social structure presented to rural migrants moving to urban areas. On the other hand, it was contended that in some situations urbanization had not been associated with criminality.

102. While there were differences in the other aspects of crime in developed and developing countries, they appear to have one thing in common, namely, that urbanization is associated with increased delinquency

- 12 -

and crime. Urbanization appears to afford an opportunity for greater impersonality. It gives rise, inter alia, to different social values, some of which are conducive to criminality and delinquency; to greater freedom of action, more temptations for violations of law, and a general decline in social controls exerted through the family, such as family reputation, as well as tribal, village, caste, or other associations; and to a breakdown in communication between age groups due to the absence of the family members from home and different occupations and education of the younger and older members. Urbanization may introduce new norms, result in new forms of social control and necessitate changes in the legal system and even in measures of correctional treatment. It is impossible to reverse this on-rushing tide of urbanization, and its role must therefore be accepted and measures devised to cope with it.

103. The effect of urbanization appears to be particularly pronounced among youths. It is largely for this reason that almost throughout the world criminals are young urban persons. Most delinquency and crime occur among those under the age of twenty. Several participants mentioned that the growth of cities often resulted in a largely separate youth culture, separated from adult controls and with its own norms and standards which can readily lead to forms of delinquency and crime as accepted forms of recreation, excitement or ways of obtaining material goods. Youth in most countries tends to be isolated from the general society. Several countries reported that youth tends to be in conflict with the norms of the general society.

104. There are some indications that the motivations for youth crime may be somewhat different in the developed and less developed countries. In the more developed countries, the behaviour may be a product of affluence, of youth lacking a challenge under urban conditions, and relatively little pressure on them to work. Long years of schooling may increasingly separate youths from adults and from playing an important substantive role in society. In the slums of affluent societies, the impact of a separate youth culture may have serious consequences. On the other hand, in the less developed and developing countries the impact of urban life on village migrants, detribalization and loss of other ties, and the impact of a widespread slum way of life with its often deviant norms and standards on migrants may have great effect upon youth criminality.

105. Another factor contributing particularly to youth crime is the tendency toward greater individualization in many contemporary societies. In addition to urbanization, industrialization and decline of social controls, there is also increasing emphasis today upon individual freedom of action. Democratic values, particularly as they are taught in the schools, the emphasis upon the individual and his need for freedom of action, the frequently expressed desire to free the individual from traditional controls may have great consequences upon the behaviour of youths. As one speaker said, it may be that delinquency and

- 13 -

crime might indeed be part of the price which had to be paid for freeing the individual all over the world which sometimes led to his rebellion against existing forms of society. It was, therefore, essential that special emphasis should be laid on the improvement of social institutions with a view to seeking to teach young people the responsible use of freedom.

106. The correlation between youth and criminality presents great potential problems for developing countries. There is a higher proportion of individuals under the age of twenty than in many developed countries, and in some developing countries the percentage of persons in this age group may run as high as fifty per cent. Moreover, it was pointed out that, in some countries, as in Africa, the population of the cities consists primarily of younger persons; rather than speaking of a youth sub-culture, one could therefore well characterize such cities as consisting of a dominant youth culture with the older population a minority. The preponderance of youths in the cities of many developing countries presents a particularly dangerous situation as disruptive values are introduced and as technological changes, such as the presence of motor vehicles, increase.

107. It was generally recognized that the decline in family controls, due to changes such as urbanization, has had considerable consequences on the development of delinquency and crime. At the same time, it was generally agreed that the traditional role of the family would be difficult to reinstate fully under urban conditions. A number of participants stressed the need to find means of strengthening the family as much as possible in an urban setting. This was considered particularly important in the case of migrant families to the city. Governments should emphasize the importance of the family and give social assistance to strengthening it whenever possible. In this connexion, the need to devise methods of helping families to adjust to difficult urban conditions was recognized.

108. Because of rapid changes in contemporary society and of increased education and literacy, there are increasing conflicts between youths and adults particularly in urban areas of developing countries. Under urban conditions there is often a decline in the concept of family honour and families – rather than supporting punishment by legal authorities – often try to see that the authorities do not take action, even though the families themselves have not done so.

109. A number of participants stressed the importance of involving the public in efforts to cope with problems produced by social change : there was need to involve more ordinary persons rather than relying exclusively on governmental agencies and legal processes in coping with problems presented by social change. Particularly in urban areas, the control of delinquency and crime should also be considered as part of the responsibility of the ordinary citizen. This might involve more efforts at the local community level, responsibility for dealing with crime being assumed by smaller administrative units, and there should be greater involvement of persons in groups representing potential risks for delinquency and crime, such as lower-class persons and particularly urban youths. In fact, an experimental programme in Puerto Rico was described which involved the return of recovered young, urban drug addicts to their local communities to help deal with problems of drug addiction. It was suggested that this method may offer similar possibilities for the employment of former delinquents and criminals in helping to change the attitudes of their local communities.

110. Despite pronounced changes in the general society, most developing countries have not introduced sufficient changes in their programmes to deal with delinquency and crime. It was pointed out, however, that new nations should be extremely selective in their choice of measures to deal with delinquency and crime. Changes in the understanding of the nature of delinquency and crime as well as differences in their own problems and available resources mean that the application of methods used in other parts of the world may be unsuitable.

111. The expansion of education facilities may in itself be unsuccessful in dealing with deviant behaviour of youth; there is need for more specific education on the values of society, on problems of social relationships and on the understanding of national objectives and values.

112. It was suggested that there needs to be extensive research on the relation between the dynamics of social change and criminality. Changes in values do not necessarily lead to criminality. It is necessary to demonstrate in what specific way change affects delinquent and criminal behaviour. Many existing studies of criminal behaviour, dealing as they do with a past situation, may be no longer valid or applicable because of changes subsequently taking place in a society. There is need for more studies of contemporary social change and of the relation existing between social change and criminality. Such studies and predictions of future trends might do much to develop a more effective and realistic prevention and treatment programme.

113. Delinquency and crime appear to occur in varying degrees and in different forms in countries with differing political structures, varying stages of economic development, and different types of economic systems. Several participants urged that there should be more co-ordinated comparative studies of the relation between social change and delinquency and crime. One system suggested that such studies might well be longitudinal research on groups of children and adolescents which could be followed up over a period of time to determine the effects of social change in the society. Research on social change, however, is complicated by difficulties in devising adequate quantitative indices, for measuring, for example, such factors as "decline in family controls" or the presence of "individualistic values". It was felt by several persons that the United Nations should undertake such a co-ordinated comparative research programme and expand its research studies in this field.

C. REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM (2): SOCIAL FORCES AND THE PREVENTION OF CRIMI-NALITY (WITH PARTICULAR REFERENCE TO THE PUBLIC, THE FAMILY, EDUCA-TIONAL FACILITIES AND OCCUPATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES)

RAPPORTEUR : DR. T. ASUNI (NIGERIA)

114. Social forces, in one way or other, have some bearing on the control of juvenile delinquency and adult criminality. Among these forces are public opinion, religion, education, urbanization, migration from rural to urban areas and industrialization. It was observed that although these social forces may not in themselves be regarded as either preventive of or conducive to crime, they are capable of engendering certain collective attitudes towards fundamental social value or direction, as a consequence of rapid social, economic and political changes. Hence, if social defence preventive programmes are to achieve any measure of success, they must recognize these essential factors and the attitudes which they engender.

115. The nature of public participation in crime preventive measures would depend, among other factors, on the political or economic systems of the countries concerned. In communities where the people exert a large measure of influence on the exercise of public authority, there is greater concordance between legislation and the administration of justice, on the one hand, and the general sense of justice and morality on the other. No matter how well organized and advanced the police, judiciary and penal institutions are, their efforts will not achieve optimum results without the participation and collaboration of the public.

116. Various speakers described different forms of participation by the public in crime prevention. In some countries, peoples' volunteer militia units, whose task it is to preserve law and order, have been constituted. The participation of schoolchildren in the control of traffic is another example. The public could also participate in adjudication and the administration of justice. Comradeship courts, for instance, have been established in some countries to function in specific occupational settings and to deal with various forms of misdemeanour. Thus drunken drivers are tried in clubs for drivers, in the expectation that this will have a deterrent effect on other drivers. In one country more than a quarter of all cases are dealt with in this way, through comradeship courts.

117. In most countries the public, in one form or another, also participates in the rehabilitation of offenders. Private citizens help to carry out educational work in penal institutions in order to raise the level of technical training for detainees. They also assist in placing discharged prisoners and ex-inmates of delinquency institutions in employment and may act as voluntary after-care agents.

118. The participation of the public can also be seen in such experiments as an urban police programme in California, where a Community Relations Division

- 14 -

has been set up in order to establish close liaison with the public. Discussion groups have been organized with teachers, clergymen, businessmen and others taking part, and police officers give talks to schoolchildren on good citizenship. The police arrange sports meetings for children, especially in less privileged sectors of the city. They also employ voluntary police officers. These measures are calculated to make the police appear less threatening, authoritarian and remote.

119. Youth organizations established and run by voluntary agencies, where some educational programme is followed, were also cited as a means of reducing criminality.

120. A note of warning was struck about the danger of the public taking the law into their own hands and misusing it; this danger calls for education in true citizenship, and for objectivity on the part of the public.

121. An example was cited from a country where, to facilitate the participation and co-operation of the public, the programme for delinquency is decentralized. The State's role is mainly one of guidance and co-ordination. Arrangements are made with private institutions for the treatment of juveniles, and charitable organizations are closely involved in social services.

122. Educating the public so as to secure maximum co-operation in preventive programmes is a necessity. Adult education and the elimination of illiteracy could be used to re-awaken family responsibility and improve the training of law officers, as well as to increase public participation in the prevention of crime.

123. It was suggested that methods of securing public co-operation should be given prominence in personnel training programmes, and that mass media should be used to enlist the voluntary co-operation of the public.

124. A description was given of the steps taken in Guinea to combat crime over a certain period. These steps include the establishment of industrial complexes in rural areas in order to limit the internal migration of unskilled workers, a drastic reduction in imports of alcohol, and the dismissal of any worker found in a state of intoxication. It is claimed that these measures have markedly decreased criminality.

125. While to some participants affluence appeared to be a contributory cause, others said that it was not necessarily true that social and economic change was always followed by an increase in crime.

126. Economic development is at present the dominant preoccupation of developing countries. It was therefore urged that developing countries should at least include social scientists in their planning committees, in order to prevent possibly criminogenic elements from being included in development plans. Those aspects of crime prevention which relate to the role of the public and of the family, to educational facilities and to occupational opportunities should be taken into account when economic development plans are drawn up.

127. Participants emphasized the role of the family as an essential social force in the prevention of delinquency. Industrialization is said to encourage delinquency as adolescents become labour units rather than individuals. Migration from country to town weakens the cohesion of the family; and the attitude of adolescents towards their parents undergoes a change, to such an extent that parental control weakens and children are left to drift into reprehensible behaviour. Instead of relying on their family for guidance, the adolescents tend to reject it. Industrialization also alters the behaviour of parents towards their children when both father and mother go to work and the children are left with aged persons who cannot keep them under proper control.

128. It was suggested that the State should establish social assistance committees and guidance centres and, in certain cases, provide allowances to strengthen families in need of help, and that negligent families should be penalized. Youngsters can best be influenced in a "face-to-face" group like the family. If the functions and structure of the family change or grow weaker, other "face-to-face" groups must be found to replace it; for example, in case of abandonment by the parents, the best solution is to rear the abandoned children not in an institution but in carefully selected foster-homes.

129. According to certain research studies, a high proportion of adult offenders were maladjusted and delinquent as children; a large percentage suffer from personality distortions, mental tensions and conflicts, and faulty habits; many of them come from broken homes or from homes in which the parents were not competent to carry out their duties efficiently; many delinquent children left school too early and received neither sufficient academic education nor useful vocational training. This research also shows that a large proportion of young adult offenders have never established even rudimentary habits of continuous and efficient work; that the highest proportion of delinquent children spring from communities in which processes of deterioration and disintegration are marked, manifesting themselves in certain cultural standards in conflict with the standards of the majority of citizens, and that inadequate programmes of probation, parole and institutional treatment also have much to do with recidivism.

130. Anthropologists, social scientists, psychologists and medical officers should participate and collaborate in a greater measure on research on the prevention of crime.

131. The need for comparative criminology is urgent; it should involve replication of experiments in different areas. This would help to determine which of the etiological factors are constants and which are attributable to conditions peculiar to regional culture.

132. Prediction devices are another important area of research as a means of identifying potential

- 15 -

delinquents at an early stage and of making timely intervention possible; prediction will also help to make the administration of criminal justice more efficient.

133. There is a serious need for the collection of more detailed and accurate data by the police and courts. Only if the extent of reported and hidden crime is known can adequate provision be made to combat it. Sociological studies in the population should also be undertaken. Evaluation machinery should be introduced into any project as from the planning stage so that it will be more easily possible to assess the result on a reliable basis. This calls for the assistance of social scientists in action programmes.

134. There is also a great scarcity of ascertainable knowledge about the effects of preventive measures, and consequently much more research in this field is needed. Consideration should be given to the question of how best to publicize scientific experiments conducted in various countries. While some speakers stated that the real need was for applying the research ideas embodied in existing material, others emphasized the need for further research.

135. By virtue of its teaching-learning function and its function as an agent of change, the school has a great responsibility for influencing children and adolescents for good or for ill. A positive and diagnostic attitude towards the behaviour of the pupil, a greater differentiation of instruction in keeping with the wide range of individual differences among the pupils and a meaningful curriculum for those pupils for whom purely academic objectives do not represent a reasonable and realistic goal, are essential. The core of the curriculum should be the communication of skills, proper use of leisure and training in occupational skills. Every effort should be made to improve group dynamics which involve different cultural attitudes and inter-personal relationships, since this hidden learning process often provides more effective learning experiences than are apparent from the visible curriculum. If teachers are to become sensitive observers and to intervene effectively in the handling of potentially maladjusted children and young persons, due attention will need to be paid in their recruitment to personality and professional training. The teachers should serve as examples through the development of strong interpersonal relationships, in order to combat the anonymity, impersonality and boredom which combine to produce a school drop-out, if not a delinquent.

136. The school, to the extent to which it can afford it, should provide and maintain certain special and essential services such as those of a doctor, psychologist, a social worker. Pupils vulnerable or exposed to the development of delinquent behaviour could be identified at an early stage by the teacher, and the early referral of such pupils to the appropriate agency could forestall more serious problems. Special attention should be given to such groups as pupils with difficulties, truants, poor readers, academic failures and school drop-outs as part of the most vulnerable group.

137. The school should improve its partnership role within the total community complex of health and welfare agencies and the homes of the children. These co-operative programmes may include efforts by the school and the police, school action in conjunction with agencies of mass communication, extension of schooling to include adult education and action research programmes conducted jointly by school and research institutes.

138. There is a close relationship between maladjustment and delinquency in children. The same type of background that makes one child maladjusted may make another delinquent. There is evidence that a high correlation exists between bad behaviour and poor school performance on the one hand, and delinquent behaviour on the other. Some of these cases, it was said, might be due to demonstrable medico-psychological factors, which could in fact be handled by trained professionals. Deviation of intelligence from the average, reaction to sexual development in the older children, sibling rivalry and emotional upheaval at home may drive a child to delinquency. For all these and other similar reasons, it is essential that medico-psychological services should be made available to schools. Teachers should realize that there is often some medical or psychological reason for a child's bad behaviour and poor performance.

139. An example was given of the remedial class and tutorial class created to meet the needs of particular children in Israel, by establishing rehabilitation in which elementary school subjects and trades were taught by special teaching methods which developed in the pupils pride in their achievements. The negative competitive aspects of schooling, which might previously have contributed to maladjustment were eliminated. The curricula were designed to enable the pupils to progress at their own speed. Similarly, the classifying centres for delinquent children provide a way of placing different types of children in appropriate approved schools.

140. While it was stated by some that illiteracy tended to promote delinquency, others expressed the view that keen competition for higher education had been one of the causes of juvenile delinquency because of the frustration suffered by those left behind in the struggle. Priority is given to success in examinations, and emotional discipline and moral education are disregarded.

141. It was said that education should include in its programme the inculcation of moral and spiritual values, and that the role of religion in education is important.

142. The education of parents is essential to their understanding of their children and the maintenance of healthy parent-child relationships.

143. Participants stressed the part played in juvenile delinquency and adult criminality by insufficient education, the absence or inadequacy of vocational training, and by the lack of opportunity, of work habits and of recreational facilities.

- 16 -

144. As regards the role of occupational opportunities it was emphasized that attention should be paid to sound, healthy attitudes, as well as skills. Some school children have been given orientation courses towards occupation before they leave school, and these have been found to be profitable with young people who had shown little interest in school work. Such programmes could help them to realize the value of their particular job in the general scheme.

145. Educational programmes should be adjusted to the changing world. Education and vocational training are not at present in keeping with the type and number of occupational opportunities available. Educational and training programmes should, therefore, be preceded by economic surveys of the employment markets for a number of years ahead.

146. The organization of suitable vocational training and of an effective placement system is a major social responsibility. Youth employment agencies should co-operate with teachers, child welfare workers and social workers.

147. Where there is large-scale unemployment, especially in developing countries, it is difficult to find jobs for young persons. Methods which have been used to cope with such large-scale unemployment include the use of youth camps, youth brigades and agricultural settlements.

148. Unemployment for reasons other than economic was also discussed. An example was given of a project in which youths who could not attend vocational training courses because of inadequate elementary education are taught elementary school subjects, as well as trades. Special teaching methods had to be developed to engender in the students a personal pride in their achievement.

149. It was suggested that, to gain a better understanding of the appropriate measures to be introduced, it will be necessary to study types of delinquency and homogeneous groups of offenders. The study of the family should include both families of orientation and procreation.

150. The school provides an excellent environment in which longitudinal studies can be carried out; since the peak age of criminality is very low in the industrialized countries, it is feasible to study the development of a large proportion of the criminal population in the school.

151. In developing countries, where society had been able until the present time to support a certain amount of deviant behaviour, it would be enlightening to study whether the unemployment in developing communities will increase the crime rate, and how far community tolerance of greater deviant behaviour can be stretched.

152. The result of vocational training given in prisons requires study.

153. Emphasis was laid on the need for co-operation between research workers and practical field workers in planning and conducting research. It was noted that field workers should be advised of the type of

- 17 -

information to be collected by them so as to be of use to psychologists and other research workers; in turn, field workers should be influenced in their policy by the result of scientific research.

D. REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM (3): COMMUNITY PREVENTIVE ACTION (WITH PARTICULAR REFERENCE TO THE PLANNING AND IM-PLEMENTATION OF MEDICAL, POLICE AND SOCIAL PROGRAMMES)

RAPPORTEUR : MISS ZULEIKA S. KENWORTHY (BRAZIL)

154. The main attention was devoted to the coordination and planning of measures and means of prevention.

155. It is perceived more clearly nowadays that, the more complex society becomes, the more difficult it is for the individual to abide by the law and uphold public order. It then becomes necessary to intensify the action of the community on each of its members, in order to reduce the risks of criminality.

156. In formulating policies and programmes designed to foster a general improvement in living conditions or directly to prevent criminality, it is important to take into account the peculiarities and needs of each area, as well as the ways and means available to those who are to prepare and apply the policies and programmes in question. The term "community" should therefore be understood not only in the national sense but also, on occasion, in the area or local sense of the term.

157. Several participants considered that, the higher the crime rate in an area or nation, the more desirable it was to centralize the programmes and means brought into play. Such centralization would appear to make it possible to mobilize the potential positive forces in a society more quickly in order to avert phenomena of maladjustment.

158. Preventive measures are needed urgently throughout the world, though the degree of urgency varies from place to place. Criminality can be regarded as a lesion in society. Society must be mobilized to take, by adopting certain positive attitudes, cognizance of that lesion and action to prevent it. The more clearly a community perceives that its interests are directly at stake, the more dynamic, committed and active it will be in applying measures of community development. Efforts must be made to demonstrate more cogently that criminality is the direct concern of the community and of each of its members, not only in view of its moral effects but, by the same token, because of its economic impact. A nation's judicial, police and curative institutions require investment and investigation on a substantial scale. The citizen who is required to contribute to that investment through taxation must be convinced that the investment of more sizeable funds to promote preventive action is an economically profitable undertaking in the long run.

159. It was pointed out by way of example that all too often crime becomes easier in the towns,

whereas a different attitude on the part of the community should make it more difficult.

160. Among the many illustrations offered by the participants, that of Israel may be mentioned, where a "repopulation quarter" is being set up on an experimental basis; this is a sort of young people's city, situated near a town, and all the social services taking part in the anti-illiteracy campaign using individualized treatment are integrated in a highly functional manner from the outset.

161. In Mexico a Department of Social Prevention has been established with the principal aim of harnessing the positive forces latent in the communities. This Department is headed by community development specialists who are endeavouring to avoid the proliferation of government and private action and to coordinate it into convergent, and therefore more effective, channels of effort.

162. Several participants stated in support of current experiments that there appeared to be much to gain by twinning central or local co-ordination bodies with research centres. Uganda is a case in point.

163. In India the action is co-ordinated by the central co-ordination agencies with a view to community development in all its aspects, including the prevention of crime.

164. In Thailand, where the youth crime rate doubled between 1962 and 1964, a National Centre for the Study of Youth Problems was established in conjunction with the National Research Council in 1963.

165. In the Soviet Union the State, as co-ordinator, endeavours to entrust the work of prevention to local bodies whenever possible. The participation of various cells of the community is thus developed directly and the work of the State specialists is extended by volunteers. The procurator acts as the motive force in co-ordinating prevention efforts.

166. In the United States of America, instructive experiments in prevention are being made by small groups of citizens, who mobilize a community's interest in preventing internal disorders and thus spur official and private bodies to practical action.

167. Similar experiments are in progress in Japan.

168. One of the dominant problems of community development arises from the fact that, whereas a fair number of citizens often wish to participate in the prevention of social disorganization, it is difficult to make proper use of them at the right time. It is the function of professional community development officers to foresee the practical measures in which these citizens might participate.

169. In the Soviet Union many experiments have shown that the professional people could play a very important part in preventing crime. It is interesting to discover why one enterprise should have a record of many offences and another be free of them. Methodical studies are being made with a view to eliminating the causes of such offences.

170. In the developing countries, new methods and techniques must be devised to mobilize the vast latent

- 18 -

community resources peculiar to each type of civilization, and to harness them for preventive purposes. Stress must be laid, not on the phenomenon of urbanization alone, but chiefly on socio-cultural disintegration. Particular attention should therefore be paid to the consequences of rapid social and technological change, with a view to enabling the community, as this process of change goes on, to intensify the struggle against factors making for maladjustment and to enlist as many of its members as possible in that endeavour. One of the dominant themes of preventive action in these countries is that of enabling young people to acquire good habits of work, which are closely co-ordinated with economic progress. Measures of planning for the prevention of maladjustment should therefore be dovetailed-even more closely than in other parts of the world, it would seem-into the nation's general economic policy.

171. Developing countries are essentially countries in process of organization. This, therefore, is a good time at which to co-ordinate the emerging structures. Population planning should hold a predominant place in the co-ordination of preventive efforts.

172. Many participants stressed the fact that the co-ordination of preventive efforts calls for specialists who, by using specific methods and techniques suited to each area, will increase the effectiveness of a general will to co-ordinate. All too often, for lack of specialists, this will remains sporadic or achieves no tangible results. It is therefore necessary to specify, for each type of structure, the exact functions it is intended to confer upon these new specialists in the social sciences. Co-ordination is the fruit, not of friendly meetings, but of precise functional relationships. "Functional co-ordination" means the mechanization of all the agencies involved in order to increase their over-all efficiency. Next, it is necessary to interpret the results, to modify policy accordingly, and to reorient the available means, in accordance with the dynamic process, whenever a new stage is reached.

173. It was stressed that, in many countries, general preventive measures reached only the most exposed groups in the community. It is therefore necessary to institute programmes which can better reach such groups; street corner groups are an example.

174. Community development must counteract the feeling that, as society is developing at the present time, the individual is increasingly alone in the crowd. This apparent loneliness must be analysed, and suitable measures taken to overcome this trend. The preventive action taken must win the public over. This explains the importance of keeping a community informed, and of the participation of professional preventive staff in the work of specialists in the use of audio-visual information media.

175. The aim to be followed in the development of a community must be to regard one's neighbour, not as an interfering nuisance, but as a companion with whom certain relations can be maintained and certain exchanges carried on. Such development should therefore aim at increasingly high quality in the relations between individuals within a given group. 176. It was pointed out that the education of world public opinion in the matter of racial discrimination was an important form of preventive action in the struggle to stamp out this great crime against mankind.

177. The opinion emerged that, with the mass of information available in most countries, it would be possible even now to draw up much more specific programmes of action and apply them without delay but that, at the same time, no effort must be spared -quite the contrary-to step up long-term research work.

178. As societies evolve, new maladies continually appear; in the economically developed countries new nervous diseases are now being diagnosed, schizophrenia is on the increase, and so on. The mental factor plays an important role in criminality. The physician and, above all, the psychiatrist should be trained in forensic psychiatry and ought not to remain isolated in an ivory tower. It is observed, unfortunately, that in most countries the universities are further accentuating this isolation; the physician is trained as a specialist in therapy without being given a proper chance to familiarize himself with the structure of the society to which he belongs, and without being invited to take an adequate interest in questions of mental health and the prevention of crime.

179. Provided that they do not mechanically copy the western countries, the developing countries will perhaps be able to arrest, by dynamic action in the mental health field, a great many of the phenomena of mental disorder which beset the economically developed countries.

180. Generally speaking it is found that, if he is to be able to master the whole complex of these problems today, the physician must join working teams composed, among others, of lawyers, sociologists, psychologists and social workers, in which the specialist in each discipline must be neither overestimated nor underestimated; each of them must play his due part, in accordance with his special skills, so that a better understanding may be reached of the behaviour of individuals from the pathological, neurological, psychological, sociological, cultural and other points of view. In view of the rapid changes taking place in social structures, it is important that experiments in interdisciplinary interchange in the social sciences should be developed and intensified in number and quality. Thus all specialists, including the psychiatrist, should participate in the methodical compilation of dynamic statistics designed to provide information indicative of the prevailing trends.

181. In many countries, young physicians are much more attracted to private practice than to multidisciplinary work in the field of social prevention. In order to reverse this trend it is necessary to demonstrate the importance of the latter field of endeavour, which will gradually emerge as the most vital of all.

182. In the developing countries, knowledge of prenatal factors and of the emotional attitudes peculiar to tropical areas, in particular, is decisive for the purpose of drawing up a balance-sheet of personality

- 19 -

in which positive and negative factors are clearly brought out. The physician can play a leading role in contributing to the understanding of these phenomena and hence in fostering a realistic appreciation of behaviour patterns and of measures calculated to promote the formation of personality and character. This might facilitate, for example, the adaptation of school systems which, when they are based only on schemes left behind from the colonial era, all too often set up behavioural imbalances. In this connexion, mention was made of an example furnished by Nigeria : namely, support for parents so that, despite sometimes abrupt socio-cultural phenomena of disintegration, the family nucleus may discern the importance and the new aspects of its educative role.

183. As a behavioural specialist, the physician should be regarded as one of the essential members of the multi-disciplinary teams which every developing country ought to have for the purpose of drawing up and applying its programmes of social prevention.

184. All over the world, the need exists to make a thorough study of the deep-rooted motives which underlie anti-social attitudes, and to investigate the relationship which exists between certain types of personality and certain actions. These phenomena can be compared with the dominant attitude of a society towards its maladjusted or criminal members, an attitude which sometimes has the effect of crystallizing the unadaptability of such negative behaviour patterns. Hence the need for dynamic action to keep public opinion informed, and for specialists enlisted in multidisciplinary research and action teams to participate in all the efforts made to mobilize the positive forces of the community.

185. In Zambia, where there are only two psychiatrists for the entire country, an open institution has been established to accommodate a large number of mental patients, including some delinquents in need of psychiatric care. All members of the staff of the institution who have completed their schooling are invited to participate in the treatment of the patients. Every member of the staff is put in charge of five or six cases. Such an officer, belonging as he does to the same culture as his patients, is particularly well placed to supply the psychiatrist with the requisite information about the patient's social and family habits.

186. While research dealing with juvenile delinquency is still at an early stage, it can help in the planning of projects undertaken either by a public agency or by a voluntary agency, in order to make them as effective as possible and to permit their evaluation. In most countries, the category most vulnerable as potential delinquents is constituted by the young male population between the ages of 12 and 18 years in large cities. The research specialist should be in a position to give advice on prevention programmes designed for this category, particularly with respect to ways of stimulating public participation which could complement administrative direction. Such projects should seek to prepare adolescents for adulthood and should go beyond mere vocational training or recreation.

187. Preventive action is the primary function of the police. It is inconceivable nowadays that a police service should not have as its first duty the prevention of crime. Any policeman capable of drawing conclusions from his action should consider, in any case where he notes a breach of the law, whether that breach does not belong to the category of acts which might have been avoided by more sustained attention, a better organization of services and the education of the public.

188. In all countries, the organic laws governing the police or the codes of criminal procedure refer to the preventive function of the police and so provide the statutory basis for this function.

189. During the debate, reference was made in the first place to the participation of the police in preventive work by means, for example, of guidance services and services responsible for organizing leisure activities. In Sweden, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom a campaign to enlighten public opinion by means of exhibitions, articles in the press, films, television and radio broadcasts is being conducted with success. Its object is in particular to alert public opinion to the serious consequences of certain breaches of the law for the person committing them, for the victim and for the community, and to draw attention to the negligence and carelessness on the part of the victim which provide favourable opportunities for the commission of certain offences. The "advisory services" set up by the Swedish police are proceeding on the same lines.

190. The preventive action of the police with respect to juvenile delinquency is steadily expanding and becoming more diversified; it includes the location of geographical areas which are breeding grounds of delinquency, the detection of young persons in moral danger (e.g. the "holiday action" in France), the spotting and identification of youth gangs, the tracing (in conjunction with social services) of criminogenic families, lectures given by police officers to teachers, the organization of leisure activities for young persons by means and under the guidance of police clubs for young persons (experiment of the Police Athletic League in New York), the establishment and specialized activities of women police to make contact with families and minors and in particular with girls who commit or are the victims of offences.

191. On the other hand, the expansion of preventive action by the police may possibly introduce a form of police supervision in too many sectors of the community, and it is desirable that the police itself should display the necessary caution with a view to protecting the rights of the individual as well as those of society.

192. There was also some discussion about the contribution which the police can make to the formulation of a policy of social defence. The modern conditions for the training of police officers are the fundamental basis for the development of a spirit and policy of social defence within the police force. In addition, in many countries the police action has as its object social protection and social welfare

- 20 -

(Austria, Denmark, United States of America, Guinea). In particular, the police endeavour to detect persons in danger of recidivism and to prevent cases of recidivism; an example of this approach is the proposed establishment of a service for the prevention of delinquency in the Ministry of the Interior in France.

193. For the purpose of the formulation and implementation of a social defence policy in the police services it would be necessary to set up a police corps which would be strictly preventive and which would not be bound by the routine of maintenance of law and order and criminal investigation and hence would be in a better position to win the support and cooperation of the community.

194. The Soviet Union with its "people's volunteer units" and also Hungary are carrying out interesting experiments for the purpose of strengthening the relationship between the police and the public.

195. For the purpose of co-operation between the public and the police – in cases where this is necessary – the police ought to place itself more fully at the service of the community: it should expand its information activities, it should publicize – without surrounding them with an aura of mystery—its activities, means, limitations and achievements, and it should co-operate with the social services and with the social science specialists who, at different levels, are concerned with the protection of society.

196. Social services vary greatly in outward form, not only from country to country but often from area to area within the same country. Specific sociological factors may, as a matter of history, have strongly influenced the inception of social services and then their development which, indeed, has too often been a pragmatic process hitherto. Thus some areas have given a disproportionate place to facilities of a particular type, with the result that the policy applied has had to be revised later on, sometimes at great expense.

197. It is easier to appreciate nowadays the degree to which the social services connected with prevention have grown up unplanned and without adequate coordination. This realization should make it possible to draw up both locally and nationally, specific programmes designed to equip the social services with functional machinery suited to the needs as they can best be assessed.

198. The participants were unanimous in recognizing that the first requirements to be met by the machinery of preventive social services are that it must offer the widest choice of possibilities and that it must be highly adaptable both to individual needs and to the needs of groups of varying size.

199. High-level co-ordination is the only means of maintaining unity of action and a satisfactory standard of quality in the work done, *inter alia* through multi-disciplinary interchange.

200. In many countries the juvenile court judges have encouraged, through the understanding they show for social problems, co-operation by the judiciary both with social services working in the field and with boarding institutions.

201. In many countries the social services are focussing their efforts of support and prevention increasingly on the family nucleus. To strengthen the family, to improve the behaviour of its members and to preserve good relations within it : these are important features of immediate action for the prevention of juvenile delinquency. Among the examples given, mention may be made of the new Italian legislation on the prevention of delinquency, giving prominence to social action of the type described, which is centred more closely on the family. The experiments being made in Syria, Sweden (prevention of alcoholism), Yugoslavia (social assistance centres), the Soviet Union and the Federal Republic of Germany are proceeding along the same lines. Thus, whereas social services were originally limited to child welfare, they are now evolving in the direction of family and social preventive action.

202. As regards efforts made to cater more effectively for specific local factors, recent positive experiments demonstrate that in an urban environment it is often advantageous to decentralize the preventive social services – to divide up the town, as has been done in some cities in the United States of America, India and Pakistan, into several sectors, and to equip each sector according to its economic, social and cultural needs. This experiment in the decentralization of social services within one and the same urban area has as its corollary very strict co-ordination and dynamic research at the policy-making level.

203. In Denmark social and institutional facilities for small children – creches, nurseries, day nurseries, kindergartens and the like – set up for the use of families with pre-school children, form a direct part of the social services responsible for preventing maladjustment and delinquency. Furthermore the strengthening of the family nucleus through the creation of special facilities for infants in each urban quarter fosters the establishment of positive intra-family relationships which are bound to prove beneficial throughout the educative process.

204. Many participants stressed the need to create and multiply opportunities for co-operation with volunteer workers headed by professional members of the social services. Volunteer workers, whose contact with the public is often closer than that of the professional staff, can take very positive action to keep the community better informed and to win its support for the work in progress, as witnessed, for example, by the Volunteer Committees in Australia. It is true that the relations between volunteer and professional workers are full of pitfalls, but these are of little account compared with the vast benefits to be derived from such co-operation; that is one of the strengths of the system in so far as it seeks to involve a whole community in working towards a healthy society. In the last analysis it may be regarded as the only means of bringing about community development and the formation of a positive social outlook in order to combat maladjustment and criminality.

E. REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM (4): MEASURES TO COMBAT RECIDIVISM (WITH PARTICULAR REFERENCE TO ADVERSE CONDITIONS OF DETENTION PENDING TRIAL AND INEQUAL-ITY IN THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE)

RAPPORTEUR : MR. NORVAL MORRIS (AUSTRALIA)

205. There was general agreement on the great social importance of the problems of recidivism, and important topics were selected for discussion on which it was believed a useful contribution could be made to the advancement of knowledge and practice in the struggle in all countries to reduce recidivism.

206. For countries reporting increased rates of recidivism in terms of the return to penal institutions of those previously imprisoned, it was noted that these figures at least in part reflected an increasing use of non-institutional measures for young offenders and first offenders in most countries of the world, with the result that those who do come into the prisons and other correctional institutions tend to be more firmly set in criminal ways when they are first received into the institution.

207. Regarding research and the prevention of recidivism, there was general agreement on the urgent need for more scientifically established knowledge to deal with the many problems involved in reducing recidivism. It was noted, however, that social action could not await research validation and that it is frequently necessary and wise to act on the best professional opinion now; but it was agreed that all action programmes should be accompanied by an effort to evaluate their results and to draw the product of research into their further development.

208. It was stressed that research projects in this field need not be of great complexity nor sophistication. Each country, within its resources of research personnel and finances, should endeavour to build the basic information necessary to rational social planning in this field.

209. It was generally agreed that there was widespread discrimination in the exercise of the discretions to arrest and detain suspected persons, operating adversely to those of lesser financial resources and social position. It was agreed that this discrimination, where it existed, had a criminogenic effect tending to embitter and alienate persons so treated and to make their rehabilitation – if they should later be convicted – of appreciably greater difficulty.

210. Participants from some countries, reporting the disappearance of economic and social discrimination, tended to regard this problem of less immediate importance; but there was unanimity on the aim of reducing so far as possible the needless arrest and detention of suspected persons, and of detaining them in custody only when such a course was absolutely necessary for the protection of society. It was agreed that a bail system, linking as it does freedom and financial resources, should be modified so far as possible to avoid this discriminatory consequence.

- 21 -

Generally speaking, there was the consensus that, to date, the State has too greatly favoured its own convenience at the cost of the liberty of the suspected and accused person.

211. Certain developments having as their purpose the reduction of detention pending trial were discussed, it being the sense of the discussion that experimentation of this nature was to be welcomed with the aim of exorcizing so far as possible financial considerations from the granting of liberty to the accused person. Apart from considerations of human rights, this aim was welcomed as a means of avoiding the criminogenic effects of unfair and unduly prolonged detention.

212. The practices discussed were : reporting regularly to the police while awaiting trial; the retention of the suspect's or accused person's documents of identity pending trial; house arrest; the reliance on the personal assurances of reliable people of integrity in the community that the accused will appear for trial; and the Manhattan Bail Study, which demonstrated the value of social investigation of the circumstances of arrested and accused persons to guide the courts in permitting such persons to be at large pending trial.

213. It was further agreed that, in those cases where it is necessary to detain accused persons pending trial, such detention should be as brief as possible. The view was expressed that punishment too long delayed may be unjust punishment and may well have an effect of increasing the incidence of recidivism and, in the case of those later found not guilty, its serious interference with the balance of their lives and that of their family needs no elaboration. The practice in Turkey was reported by which, if a person is detained in custody awaiting trial and is then acquitted, he will be compensated financially for that detention.

214. There was some discussion concerning conditions of detention prior to trial. Several participants expressed the opinion that the unconvicted person awaiting trial should in all circumstances be kept separate from convicted persons. Others doubted the necessity for this in all cases, since they considered that it depended in part on the size of penal institutions in the country (if they are small the need for such segregation is less great) and on the financial resources of the country in question.

215. The question was raised whether the treatment programme should ever begin – on a voluntary basis – during the detention period, and whether voluntary work should be offered to the detained person; risks in such practices were noted. No consensus emerged on these questions, which were nevertheless regarded as of importance and worthy of further study and research.

216. Concerning unjustified disparity of sentences, it was the firm consensus that fair sentencing and the fair and even-handed administration of justice is a cornerstone of the struggle against crime and recidivism. Unjustified disparity of sentences was noted in many parts of the world – by this was meant not different sentences for similar crimes, which is a

- 22 -

necessary and desirable concomitant of a system of rationally individualized justice, but the application of different sentencing principles to offenders alike in terms of crime, criminal record, personality and social dangerousness. It was agreed that disparity of this nature has a serious adverse effect on the effort to reduce recidivism.

217. Even those who reported the disappearance of social and economic inequities within their countries agreed that such unfair disparity of sentences must be avoided; procedures were described which involved members of the local community in the sentencing process for this and other crime and delinquency preventing purposes.

218. Equal justice under law, an agreed aim, requires the collaboration of the judiciary at all stages of the crime prevention and treatment process. Developments in several countries were noted aiming at improving the sentencing process. The programme of training for magistrates in the United Kingdom and the preparation of guides to sentencing to assist the courts in several countries were welcomed. An important development in the United States of America, outlined in the ensuing paragraph, was also regarded as worthy of consideration with a view to emulation elsewhere.

219. The eight judges of the Federal District Court of the Eastern District of Michigan have developed a Sentencing Council. This involves the independent study of the pre-sentence report by a panel of at least three judges, who endeavour to identify and give appropriate weight to the several factors relevant to the optimum disposition. Each judge indicates his suggested sentence and then they meet, together with the chief probation officer, to discuss their recommendations and their reasons supporting it. Each judge, of course, reflects in his presentation his personal background of experience and philosophy, and the judge with the responsibility for pronouncing sentence emerges with the benefit of the varied experiences and insights of his colleagues. The sentencing judge is not obliged to change his original proposed disposition. However, over its four years' experience, the work of the Council has resulted in a drastic reduction in disparity of sentences. The Council has introduced into the sentencing function the values of group decision. It affords a substantial protection to both the community and the offender from the consequences of individual whim, idiosyncracy or bias. It also has enabled the Court to develop a group philosophy on the appropriate factors in formulating the proper sentence in given circumstances.

220. It was recognized that the court, in fulfilling its onerous burden of rational and even-handed justice, must be better guided by the product of research studies designed to discover the effects of different sentences on diverse groups of offenders; it was the sense of the discussion that this could be achieved without any risk of interference with human rights in the acquisition of such knowledge. The fact was not overlooked, of course, that in imposing a sentence the court has also to fulfil purposes of ensuring public confidence in the administration of justice and the protection of the public; that criminal sanctions may have a generally deterrent as well as a rehabilitative purpose; but here too the need for research to provide guidance as to the truth of this expectation and the facts of this effect was noted and approved.

221. Concerning the issue of reducing the ambit of operation of the criminal law, there was some discussion of the wisdom of excluding young persons from the operation of the traditional criminal law system, including that of the juvenile or children's Several participants expressed a strong court. preference for early intervention by other than judicial agencies in anti-social behaviour by children. Participants from the United Kingdom outlined developments in England and Scotland moving to an extent away from their established system of juvenile courts and towards the system of child welfare boards, as in Scandinavia, but preserving the power of judicial control of such intervention by the State by way of appeal to the courts.

222. The particular problems of women offenders, of persons accused and convicted of motoring offences, and of persons accused and convicted of offences involving drunkenness or the taking of narcotics were mentioned, with a view to their exclusion from traditional criminal law processes or the modification of such processes to deal with their particular problems; no consensus emerged on this point.

223. Several participants expressed the view that crimes against peace and humanity were of such gravity and so seriously influence public confidence in the administration of justice that to neglect their condign punishment would have a tendency to increase crime and recidivism generally in the community. They therefore strongly opposed procedures by which statutes of limitations should be allowed to run so as to exclude such offenders from the control of and punishment by the criminal law.

224. The availability of legal aid for arrested, accused and convicted persons was discussed. There was unanimity on the need to provide legal assistance to arrested and accused persons, and to those convicted of crime who may wish to appeal. Systems of court appointment of counsel for those who could not themselves afford or obtain adequate legal representation were described, but it was the general view that such a system may have the defect of providing legal assistance at too late a stage in the proceedings and at a time when an adequate defence is difficult hurriedly to prepare. It was therefore felt that adequate and timely legal assistance must be available as of right to all arrested and accused persons at a sufficiently early stage in the criminal process adequately to protect their human rights and to ensure the fair and non-discriminatory application of the criminal law to all citizens. This aim is justified not only in terms of human rights and social decency, but also because the failure to provide adequate legal aid may well leave the convicted person with a sense of

- 23 -

injustice which greatly complicates the task of encouraging and assisting him to eschew criminal conduct in the future : the lack of an adequate legal aid system thus tends to increase recidivism.

225. With regard to conditions in penal institutions, classification and treatment techniques aimed at preventing and minimizing recidivism were discussed. Much attention was devoted to the important problems of training prison staff and other correctional officers for their difficult work, the opinion being expressed that in many countries such training or in-service training programmes were rudimentary, with the result that a valuable source of rehabilitative effort was neglected.

226. Problems of the employment of prisoners, their accommodation, their supervision inside and outside correctional institutions were discussed, and there was general agreement that treatment within and outside the institution, for those who are sent to a penal institution and released under supervision thereafter, is a continuum, and must be planned to provide a continuous and integrated retraining and rehabilitating programme. Some opinion in favour of the administrative integration of prison and parole staffs was expressed as one means of ensuring this continuity of treatment.

227. It was recognized that correctional treatment is an entity, not something done at special times and by special members of the prison staff. Security and custody measures may well be a necessary element in such treatment programmes, but they should not be overvalued at the cost of other necessary elements in those programmes. On this topic, several participants reported a greatly increased use of open institutions to replace closed security prisons. In this connexion it was noted that in Hong Kong all offenders under twenty-one years of age are first classified to open institutions as a matter of routine, and in Denmark there are open institutions for recidivists serving terms of up to four years.

228. There was widespread agreement on the need to mobilize community support to assist the rehabilitation of convicted offenders, and various methods were described of marshalling such support and allowing it expression.

229. In conclusion, there was recognition of the fact that it is easier to point to defects in methods of minimizing recidivism than to achieve the social action necessary for the elimination of those defects; on this topic the gap between precept and practice, between agreed aims and present achievements, is very great. Means of narrowing this gap were discussed and two such were thought to merit particular attention. Firstly, in every country a continuing effort should be made to involve the judiciary and the organized legal profession in the prevention and treatment of crime; secondly, on-going continuing research evaluative of current and developing methods of preventing recidivism is a necessity if social protection is to be achieved, human suffering minimized, and financial waste avoided.

F. REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM (5): PROBATION (ESPECIALLY ADULT PROBATION) AND OTHER NON-INSTITUTIONAL MEASURES

RAPPORTEUR : MR. MAARTEN E. TJADEN (NETHERLANDS)

230. Probation in its various forms is a treatment measure which is very flexible in its application. It has developed to the point where it may now be considered as a treatment method in its own right, by means of which an offender may be reintegrated into society without recourse to traditional methods of correction. Its results are particularly striking wherever it has been integrated in the cultural patterns and social setting.

231. It is well established that probation provides sufficient safeguards for the protection of society, while retaining its unique quality of adaptability to individual needs and pressures. Thus, it may be regarded as a major element in penal policy in both the developing and the developed countries. In countries which rely on traditional methods of punishment, its introduction would be a major step in the evolution of penal policies.

232. In many countries, probation began as a treatment measure for juvenile delinquents and was subsequently extended to adult first offenders; in some countries it is even used as a treatment measure for recidivists. Reference was made to unofficial or para-judicial forms of probation whereby an offender could be spared an appearance in court if he could prove to the satisfaction of the authorities that he was making a genuine effort to change his behaviour. In this connexion, reference was made to the system of "prosecutor's probation" practised in Japan, for example, although there was no provision for it in law.

233. The development and efficient use of probation would be impeded if the sentencing authorities were excessively restricted by legislative provisions confining its application to specific categories of offenders or offences.

234. On the other hand, it was submitted that probation officers tended to advocate a more selective policy since this would minimize the failure rate and so make the probation system itself more acceptable to the public.

235. In the selection of offenders for probation, the sentencing authority should be guided by a pre-sentence investigation providing the necessary information about the personality of the offender, his family history, social background, work record, and some indication of his suitability for probation. It was observed that in the actual selection process for probation, the approach should be social rather than purely clinical.

236. The question of the confidential nature of the pre-sentence report was raised, and while it was conceded that the offender might have a right to know what the report said about him, the withholding of certain information sometimes became inevitable. The opinion was expressed that perhaps a balance

- 24 -

might be struck between the requirements of confidentiality and the desirability of free access to information by providing for a discussion between the offender and the probation officer on the contents of the report before it was submitted to the sentencing authority.

237. A decision regarding a probation order is generally based, in great measure, on the pre-sentence report. Since human lives could be ruined because of judicial action based on erroneous information contained in the pre-sentence report, great care should be taken to ensure that the data contained in the report was accurate and not distorted by gossip or hearsay. In this connexion, the possibility of an appellate review of a decision concerning probation was raised, and it was observed that such a review had been provided for in recent years in a number of jurisdictions, for example, in the United States.

238. The probation officer's time should generally be divised in a rational way among the functions he is to discharge. It was observed that pre-sentence investigation and routine administrative work often take up too much of his time, with the result that he is unable to give sufficient attention to supervisory and case-work functions.

239. A note of warning was sounded regarding the danger of what was termed "an information explosion". It was suggested that more effort should be devoted to the development of practical scientific techniques for gathering only useful and relevant information. A suggestion was made, in this connexion, that pre-sentence investigations should be carried out by special diagnostic units rather than by probation officers.

240. Since probation is a form of treatment in the community, its development requires the acceptance and support of the public. It was stated that the expansion of probation was hampered by an insufficient realization on the part of the public that this method is in fact an efficient means of preventing crime. Even today, probation is often criticized as being too lenient a measure. It was said that this lack of understanding also influences legislators and judges, inasmuch as the administration of justice cannot diverge too far from public opinion. Among other things, these attitudes are reflected in the insufficient allocation of funds for the adequate staffing of the probation organization.

241. Hence, it must be made clear that probation serves not only the interest of the offender but also that of the public, and is not inconsistent with public security. The co-operation of volunteers and the support of social groups and associations, such as trade unions and employers' federations, could further the development of probation and promote its full acceptance in a country.

242. The public should be made aware that probation is one of the least costly and most effective ways of combating criminality. It was observed in this connexion that certain experiments conducted in the United States had effectively demonstrated the validity of this contention. 243. Nation-wide campaigns to change public attitudes and win public support for probation and other non-institutional treatment measures should be vigorously promoted. In this connexion, note was taken of the public campaigns effected regularly in Japan and in the Netherlands. Mass communication media and non-governmental organizations could play a vital role in this respect.

244. Although there is still much to be learnt about the effectiveness of probation, it seems clear that in many countries probation has had a favourable influence on the rate of recidivism, and has contributed to reducing the prison population. In the Netherlands, for instance, the prison population of about 2,000 has remained fairly constant despite a doubling of the general population in the last 25 years. It was said that this favourable ratio was closely connected with the development of probation in that country; over 19,000 adults are now under probation supervision.

245. It was urged that countries, particularly those whose prisons were overcrowded, should take steps to introduce or expand the probation system. The United Nations was asked to take appropriate action to help those countries to achieve these objectives.

246. In many countries, particularly in developing countries, the use of probation for adults is hampered by a number of factors: the probation system cannot simply be transplanted to cultural settings different from those where it was devised; the legal framework does not lend itself easily to the introduction of the probation system; trained judges and trained personnel are either lacking or insufficient; and in general, the lack of public support for the probation system. Gradual steps for the purpose of introducing probation were recommended as the best approach, in order that the public should come to realize that probation does not involve a greater risk to society than do more traditional methods. In some countries, general feelings of mistrust towards adult probation were reported to have lessened in recent years.

247. Community action in the field of probation is important. A social group, for instance, can be put to use in probation treatment as a source of pressure on the offender to change his attitudes and behaviour. The social group may be a spontaneous entity, or it may be specifically constituted for the purpose of exerting psychological pressure on the probationer placed within it. This method of group work has the additional merit of allowing the probation officer to give more of his time to those probationers who particularly need individual attention. Group counselling methods, it was noted, have proved particularly successful with hostile and aggressive young adult probationers.

248. Treatment should not necessarily be restricted to the probationer, but could, in some cases, be advantageously extended to his family, particularly through family-centred interviews. The purpose of such action is to bring together all members of the probationer's family and impress on them their share of responsibility in his rehabilitation.

- 25 -

249. Constructive human relations between the probationer and his supervisor are an essential element in rehabilitation. It was observed in this connexion that, according to the results of specific research, the transfer of cases from one supervisor to another tended to have harmful effects. The danger of overburdening a probation officer with administrative duties was also stressed; such a burden would be detrimental to the therapeutic relationship which he is expected to establish and maintain with the probationer.

250. The rehabilitation of the probationer depends to a great extent on the competence of the probation officer. The problem of obtaining qualified staff seems to be a cause for concern everywhere. In many countries this problem is compounded by the inadequacy of training facilities which, among other disadvantages, hinders the extension of the probation system. In addition to the relevant academic training required in most of the developed countries, it was pointed out that the probation officer should have such personal qualities as would enhance and enrich his relationship with the probationer.

251. The matching of probationers with probation officers according to age and to the need for either authoritative or supportive guidance should help to increase the effectiveness of treatment in the community. It was pointed out that such matching was particularly important for the younger age groups, and that sometimes young adult males were better helped by female probation officers and vice versa. In the case of voluntary workers, the social milieu of the offender should be taken into account as much as possible by assigning the probationer to a supervisor from the same socio-economic group in order to facilitate understanding and constructive influence.

252. The need to bridge the gap between institutional and non-institutional treatment methods was stressed. Many participants emphasized the usefulness of community-based residential centres, hostels and "half-way houses" for persons who were unable to adjust themselves to life in the community. A strong plea was made for the increase of such facilities, particularly in urban and industrialized areas. In conjunction with furloughs, work-release to the community and pre-release training centres, it was observed that such measures can help the offender to make a gradual adjustment to life in freedom and so tend to prevent recidivism.

253. It was stated that there was a striking parallel between the evolution of the prison regime and that of methods of treatment in freedom, in that both were becoming more flexible and diversified. Institutional treatment, in some of its forms, is approximating to probation and, to some extent, probation and other measures of treatment in freedom are tending to resemble certain methods of institutional treatment. As a consequence, there is often a confusion in terminology when describing the role of probation and that of parole after release from an institution. It was even suggested that one possible reason why the use of probation was not increasing in some countries was that institutional treatment itself was coming to be regarded as more therapeutic. It is therefore natural to conclude that treatment ought to form one continuous process and that it would be desirable to merge the administrations responsible for the different phases of correctional treatment.

254. A number of participants urged that judges, probation officers, sociologists and prison officials should be encouraged to co-operate in team work, to establish systematic contacts with each other, to seek new approaches and to experiment. Administrators and policy-makers should be given opportunities to test new methods and introduce methods of treatment in keeping with local conditions, without running the risk of being personally penalized in case of failure.

255. There was widespread support for unification of the relevant services with a view to achieving a more constructive relationship between them, for a commonly accepted penal philosophy for prison and probation officers, and for common training principles. Support for such integration was seen as one of the most important factors emerging from the discussions. Advantages were also seen in the application of more uniform policies by the courts and in increased possibilities for experiment. This would include group action and individual attention to the most difficult cases.

256. Action toward a unified service was said to be needed from within and from the top levels of the administrations concerned. The convening of conferences and, more specifically, seminars at which to exchange experience was seen as important in encouraging this development.

257. In view of this trend towards flexibility, new treatment research and the development of a treatment continuum, as well as the establishment of a unified service, it was submitted that a purely negative attitude towards the combination of institutional and non-institutional measures is not justified.

258. On the other hand, the combination of a fine with probation was reported to be an effective measure in Japan.

259. From a brief discussion of non-institutional measures other than probation, it appeared that in some countries the stay of prosecution or deferment of judgment yielded favourable results when combined with voluntary probation whereby the offender is entrusted to his fellow workers. It was said that very few of the cases so handled subsequently came to trial.

260. Extra-mural labour based on the idea of rehabilitation through work was found to offer prospects as a particularly useful form of penal sanction of an intermediate character between the fine and deprivation of liberty. As a recent example, extra-mural employment for petty offenders has been introduced in Kenya, resulting in a reduction of approximately 40 per cent in prison committals.

261. Mention was made of new developments in several East European countries whereby the judge is empowered to apply conditional suspension of

prison sentences and of sentences of corrective labour without imprisonment.

262. Restitution to the victim, in one form or another, was advocated as a separate and constructive means of penal action and crime prevention. The successful experiment reported from Ghana was noted in this connexion, and further attention to the matter was invited.

263. While limited research undertaken on certain pilot projects in institutional and non-institutional treatment in recent years would seem to indicate better success rates for those experimental groups which had been given more intense treatment than the control groups (by doubling the number of social workers, for instance), it was admitted that there still were wide gaps in knowledge referring to different risk categories and other matters. Control groups should be used in order to identify the individual factors affecting the results. Efforts should be made to establish much closer relations between practitioners and universities as well as research bodies. It was recognized that those responsible could not wait for y the completion of the studies undertaken, and that it was essential to continue practical efforts in the directions indicated above.

264. In a general way, research and experience have so far shown that probation and related measures could safely be expanded within the general framework of modern criminal policy.

G. REPORT ON AGENDA ITEM (6): SPECIAL PREVENTIVE AND TREATMENT MEASURES FOR YOUNG ADULTS

RAPPORTEUR : MR. DUNCAN FAIRN (UNITED KINGDOM)

265. Discussion on this agenda item disclosed wide variations in the definition of the term young adult. The chronological age limits for the "young adult' category as defined in legislation and regulations seemed to fall into one of two basic patterns. One, and this seemed to be the predominant pattern, fixed the age range of young adults from the upper limit for juvenile delinquents (usually between 15 and 18 years) to a maximum of 21 years. The trend in this first pattern seemed to be towards a raising of the upper age limit to 24 years; and, in one particular case -- under a recent amendment to the Federal Youth Correction Act of the United States of America-to a maximum of 26 years. The second pattern set the young adult group between the ages of 15 and 17. This lack of precise definition was matched by the admitted absence of fundamental research, and especially research derived from understanding between the research worker and the practitioner in the field. In addition, in most countries, the young adult group is recognized as a definable entity either by statute or by some other means; the basis for such recognition has often been impelled by tradition or such other factors as physiological maturity, prevailing

cultural expectation and social and economic responsibility. These considerations produced a consensus that each country should establish its own criteria for identifying the young adult, that whatever criteria are established must be based upon realistic factors and that legal definitions and national youth policies should be determined in accordance with these realistic considerations.

266. There is also some variation in the incidence of young adult crime. A proportionately low or declining incidence of crime was reported for some countries but others reported great concern both because of the increasing incidence and because of the seriousness of the crimes committed; the young adult offender was invariably the young adult male. In some countries, it was observed, the young adult male was responsible for at least half of the total volume of the serious crime reported; and the fact that very few crimes involving young adult females were reported was ascribed by some speakers partly to the tendency of parents and the public to protect young women by concealing their actions and partly to the greater hold of the family on them.

267. Despite the difference in definition and incidence, a common anxiety was voiced during the discussion. In all countries, it was observed, the young adult group merits special attention because its potential could present immense social danger, as well as unlimited opportunity for social development.

268. In some countries, the young adult age group constitutes a very high percentage of the total population, and in these countries it is particularly important to be alert to the group's potential for social revolt or for social reconstruction.

269. Despite the failure to promote adequate research, there was a general recognition of the effects of social forces on youth, of the influence of the mass media of communication (television, radio, pressure advertising, cinema, publications and the like), and what was generally described as the "excessive enticements of modern life". Also, participants referred to the effect in many countries of the break-up of patterns of family and religious life, and of the stresses and strains inherent in the transition to a new and mechanized civilization. In a time perspective, however, the problems of youth are not new: only the forms in which they manifest themselves are different. Mankind has always lived in an age of transition, and the age of adolescence has been perceived as an age of rebellion.

270. Particularly in the developing countries, it is vitally important to ensure that the restlessness and rebelliousness of youth against traditional controls and legal restraints are constructively channelled. Young adults in these countries are expected not only to participate actively in national development but also to assume leadership. They are regarded as the main instruments as well as the main beneficiaries of national developmental programmes; their dual role thus deserves and demands special attention. National development plans should therefore be prepared with a view not only to preparing the young adult for

- 27 -

working life and fuller participation in national development, but also to incorporating measures designed to counteract the criminogenic influences surrounding youth. The attainment of such objectives can be greatly facilitated by both comprehensive planning at the national level and by proper co-ordination of the work of various agencies engaged in youth programmes. In this connexion, reference was made to the existence in some countries of governmental ministries and agencies set up specifically for the youth.

271. It was emphasized that crime prevention could be made more effective if more challenging work opportunities were available for young people and if they were more closely involved in the planning and directing of such work. "Youth responds to youth", and at least in one country, Israel, it was reported that very satisfying results were obtained by inducing the youth themselves to initiate and carry out work with young delinquents.

272. Although crime cannot be ascribed to any class or any race, there is abundant evidence that much of it occurs in the poorer parts of the great urban complexes, where bad housing, poor schooling and spells of unemployment ultimately result in creating an army of the under-privileged. It was felt that insufficient attention was paid to the impact on the school leaver of his first job. The apprehension and eagerness with which he begins are too often followed by boredom. The experience in the Byelorussian SSR with community care for the young worker was felt to provide a means for preventing that boredom from leading to delinquency. Induction schemes in industry should be encouraged.

273. The traditional institutional approach to the treatment of the young adult offender was consistently and strongly criticized, and emphasis was placed on devising methods which could resolve the young adults' delinquency problems within the community. Such efforts, of course, called for the closest co-operation between government and private agencies, and for the integration of case and group work within the community framework.

274. Judging from the report of many speakers, the use of probation as a substitute for institutionalization is increasing, and experiments were reported which indicated that intensive supervision can succeed even with repeated offenders, without recourse to institutionalization. New and increased uses were reported of group methods and of controlled living in hostels, half-way houses and the like, as adjuncts to probation.

275. In connexion with the application of probation to young offenders, it was strongly emphasized that much greater use should be made of the services of volunteers in supervising probationers. It was pointed out that probation officers were in exiguous supply almost everywhere and that, even where they were available, they were required to devote so much time to routine administrative work that their supervisory and counselling time inevitably became minimal. 276. Although non-institutional treatment should be given preference, institutional treatment, with its attendant deprivation of liberty, is sometimes necessary for certain types of young offenders. Several types of short institutional treatment were described, such as short-term detention in special institutions for periods of between six to eight weeks, week-end detention and short-term arrest for periods not exceeding six days.

277. Longer institutional treatment in other types of institutions varied from nine months to three years in duration.

278. Whatever the type of institution, and whatever the length of the period of detention within it, it was felt to be essential that the institutional programmes should be educative and not punitive. The young inmates should be kept fully occupied with programmes of study, physical education, work training, group discussion and the like. Such programmes should, additionally, be attuned to local needs and cultural patterns. Institutions and their programmes are not to be transplanted from one culture to another; each culture has to evolve its own form of treatment.

279. Vocational and educational training programmes in the institution should take account of prevailing conditions relating to employment, as well as the offender's own occupational interests, in order to meet the needs of post-release life. In countries where this was necessary, attention should be given to ways and means of co-operating with the different labour organizations.

280. The point was made that there was always a risk that work training programmes within youth institutions might stagnate and become anachronistic in the context of rapid technological development outside. Young adults in institutions have to be trained for employment in freedom; instruction in outmoded skills and crafts adds to the disadvantages faced by these young people after their release to the community and this makes them all the more prone to recidivism.

281. It was urged also that long-term institutional treatment should preferably be followed by a mandatory period of after-care. The success rates obtained in countries which had made provision for such mandatory after-care seemed to support this contention. It was stressed, however, that the period of after-care should not be excessively prolonged, because it tended to yield diminishing returns after a certain point. Experience seemed to indicate a maximum of two years.

282. Poland, Spain and New Zealand, amongst others, described different kinds of treatment. Further, the group probation experiment in the District of Columbia in the United States was contrasted with the Highfields programme and the forestry groups in New Jersey, where work and group counselling were combined. Pleas were made for active co-operation between prison chaplains and psychiatrists, and for the training of administrators in the uses and application of research. In one country, unofficial prison

- 28 -

visitors played an important role in preserving contact with the larger community.

283. Towards the end of the discussion, attention centred on the role of the family and the part it could play in preventive and treatment programmes for young adults. Marriage guidance could help towards better family life. These techniques were also effective for persons in institutions. Families could also be mobilized to open their homes to the offender. This individual approach was felt to be in accordance with the retreat from institutionalism which characterized the entire discussions; it emphasized the essential humanity of the offender. In the long run, whether in court, under probation, or even, if necessary, in some institution, the offender will still need understanding friendship, and must be regarded not as a case but as a man.

284. The need for research was a recurrent theme in the deliberations of the Section. Since criminological research is hampered by imprecision in conceptualization and methodology, efforts must be made with the help of control groups to isolate variables, to identify prime factors and, by the exchange of knowledge between one country and another, to enlarge understanding of the turbulent adolescent and his group.

285. Research in crime prevention and treatment still has far to go before the findings are conclusive enough to justify action based upon them; and there are also many areas in which little or no research has been done. Practitioners and researchers must work more closely together as members of a team in order to facilitate communication. There is a place for both small and large-scale research, and the decision as to which kind of research should be favoured should generally be left to a competent team rather than to individuals.

286. So far, much research has been done with reference to the role of the family in delinquency prevention. There is a need for increased research into the fields of other socializing agencies, notably the school, work and leisure environment. In particular, research on the capacity of teachers, youth leaders and employers for attitude changes needs to be investigated.

287. There is also a need for increased research into the efficacy of small group techniques as currently applied in youth and other correctional institutions, at schools, and the like. If group-work brings about a relatively rapid change in attitude, then such work needs to be applied increasingly as preventive agent.

288. Research on the possible harmful effects of preventive programmes as well as their possible good effects should not be neglected. Many countries have initiated so called preventive programmes, aimed at both the general mass of young adults and also at the seemingly more recalcitrant groups within them which appeared to pose a threat to the security of the community. It is necessary to try and ascertain whether these programmes create more problems than they apparently solve; whether they in fact reach the rebellious groups at which they are specifically aimed; and, if these programmes do reach the target groups, whether they tend to identify and therefore incriminate these groups.

289. Research on special treatment measures for young adult offenders seems to be closely related to typology-personality research based on analysis of various factors. Some of these factors, which dominate differently at different times in various kinds of people, are physiological and environmental factors as well as psycho-social factors, degrees of neuroticism, degrees of maturity and the like. After further validated research, the next step will be to relate these factors to different types of crime and to various types of treatment regimes.

290. Complex analytical research, linked with typology and different types of crime and treatment regimes, should form only one end of the research continuum. The other end is, of necessity, a concern with a microscopic approach to study how young adults are motivated under different conditions; how they generate anxiety and aggression; how they have different learning and perceptual difficulties at different times of their lives; and how these difficulties can be overcome.

291. Research, however thorough, would nevertheless find little application in day-to-day programmes for young adults unless its findings were incorporated in executive and management training programmes. Those responsible for the critical decisions as to whether or not research findings are to be applied, must be made aware of the importance of such research to the success of their operational programmes, and of techniques of applying this research in actual practice.

III. Closing plenary meeting

292. After the various reports summarizing the debates had been given final consideration as already indicated, the Congress was informed at the closing plenary meeting of a written request from the Liberian delegation asking the Steering Committee to arrange a special plenary meeting of the Congress so that the Liberian delegation could register a formal protest on the presence of a delegation from South Africa at the Congress. The Steering Committee, however, had recognized that questions pertaining to the inclusion or exclusion of any particular country were not within the competence of a technical conference. By standard United Nations practice invitations had been extended to all Member States of the United Nations. The Steering Committee had therefore been unable to accede to the request of the Liberian delegation.

293. Looking back on the work of the Congress, Mr. E. Galway, speaking as representative of the Secretary-General, said it was characterized by two major trends : on the one hand, a growing emphasis on the need for more technical knowledge as a basis for the development of social defence policy and, on the other hand, an interest in more imaginative approaches to the prevention of crime and the treatment of offenders, such innovations calling for support by government and other agencies. The

- 29 -

important role that the public could play in this field had been defined. The new emphasis laid on research was most encouraging and coincided with new prominence given to research and the training of research workers in the United Nations expanded programme of technical assistance. These various endeavours should be geared towards the integration of programmes of crime prevention and control into general economic and social programmes as had been pointed out by Mr. de Seynes at the beginning of the Congress. The many different disciplines represented at the Congress had brought about a striking sense of professional unity among participants and agreement about common objectives. Finally, Mr. Galway expressed the gratitude due to the chairmen, rapporteurs and panel members for the time and effort they had devoted to the work of the Congress.

294. On behalf of the Government of Japan, Mr. Baba extended a cordial invitation to the United Nations to hold the Fourth Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders in 1970 in Japan. He expressed the hope of his Government that all Member States would be represented.

295. On behalf of the Third Congress, the President expressed to the Government of Japan and to Mr. Baba appreciation for this generous offer which he assumed would be accepted.

296. He then informed the Congress of a draft resolution submitted by the delegations of Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Nicaragua and Venezuela in accordance with rule 26 of the Rules of procedure. On behalf of the sponsoring Latin-American delegations, Mr. M. López-Rey introduced the text in which some minor drafting changes had already been introduced in consultation with other delegations. The draft resolution welcomed the recent proposals of the Secretary-General for strengthening the activities in the social defence field, emphasized the role of technical assistance, especially through regional institutes and research projects, the employment of regional advisers and co-operation with existing national or regional research centres, organizations or institutes; it noted with satisfaction the functions of the enlarged Advisory Committee of Experts as a new continuing body, as well as the decision of the Secretary-General to establish a trust fund account to strengthen the United Nations activities in this field; finally it expressed gratitude to the Government of Sweden and the Swedish Organizing Committee for their hospitality and to the Secretariat of the United Nations and other bodies for the documentation and organization of the Congress.

297. The resolution was seconded by Mr. Hedayati (Iran) and was adopted by acclamation. The text appears in annex I.

298. Mr. Wahl, speaking on behalf of the International Prisoners Aid Association which had held several meetings of member agencies in conjunction with the Congress, expressed his gratitude to the Government of Sweden and the United Nations Secretariat for the courtesies extended. He recalled the role of this non-governmental organization essentially based on citizen participation, willing to make its findings available to governmental units concerned with the administration of justice, and hoping to serve as a channel of communication and a source of possible counsel. 299. After a number of participants had expressed gratification at the hospitality extended to the Congress, the way in which it had been organized and the work achieved by it, the President declared the Third United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders closed.

PART TWO. LECTURES¹

- 31 -

I. The challenge of fair and effective criminal administration

300. The first lecture, dealing with the challenge of fair and effective criminal administration, was delivered by Mr. Thurgood Marshall, Judge of the United States Court of Appeals of the Second Circuit (New York) and Solicitor-General Designate of the United States of America. He began his address by conveying to the Congress greetings and personal good wishes for its success from President Johnson. He also informed participants that, because of pressing constitutional enactments at home, Attorney General Katzenbach was unable to attend the Congress as originally planned, but he had been in close touch with him in preparing his statement to the Congress.

301. Noting the importance of international co-operation in the field of criminal justice, Mr. Marshall emphasized that much could be learned and accomplished through increased contacts and the exchange of views on the experience of different countries. International co-operation on law enforcement was necessary also for a very practical reason, he added, because crime did not stop at national frontiers. Since crime had assumed an international character as a result of faster transportation, improved communication, and the complexity of international trade, it was necessary to organize international forms of protection. Such co-operation was already evident in organizations such as Interpol.

302. While lawlessness was as old as history, its causes were still the subject of much debate and controversy. The roots of criminal behaviour were a complex interweaving of psychological, sociological and economic factors. The competitive pressures of urbanization and the changing social patterns of modern life made criminality an acute problem almost everywhere. This was the core issue of the Congress. The common dilemma shared by all countries was to give increasing recognition to the freedom, the rights and the dignity of the individual and yet repress lawlessness. This made the struggle against crime such a difficult task.

303. Recognizing the close relationship between crime and poverty, Mr. Marshall stressed that it was essential to share more broadly the benefits of modern society. Similarly, full political and social equality was fundamental in providing a sense of community participation.

304. A tragedy shared by all countries was the heavily disproportionate rate of crimes committed by young people; as an example, more than one third of the serious crimes solved by the police in the

' See para 18 on page 2.

United States last year were committed by persons under 18 year of age, and more than 70 per cent of all arrests for serious offences involved persons under 25 years of age.

305. The search for a thoughtful solution to the problems of criminal justice, Mr. Marshall said, was being pursued constructively by the United States in an endeavour to eradicate injustices which for many years had plagued the administration of the criminal law. Decisive progress was made in safeguarding the rights of the individual under the criminal law and the constitution, and poverty ought no longer to be a barrier to the full attainment of equality before the law. One notable advance in this connexion, he said, was the sharp reduction in pre-trial detention of those who were too poor to secure their release by posting bail. Indeed, for all too many persons the first taste of jail and the degradation involved by it had come at the pre-trial stage, and the incarceration of a defendant should be avoided wherever possible.

306. Finding sound and fair treatment and control for those who had violated the criminal laws, Mr. Marshall said, was another of the difficult problems shared in common by all countries. There was a growing realization that a rigid adherence to traditional imprisonment might be tragically selfdefeating. Substantial periods of imprisonment exceeding the reasonable needs of society could only engender bitterness and hatred, thereby impeding rather than furthering the rehabilitation of the offender. Deprivation of self-respect and alienation from the community would produce new recruits to a "criminal culture" presenting dangers greater than those the penal system seeks to avoid. Along with other countries represented at the Congress, the United States was exploring new methods of treatment which would fairly reflect the protection of society and yet provide the maximum opportunity for the individual to turn away from a criminal career. There was increasing emphasis on treatment outside of institutions, both by greater use of probation and by affording early parole or work release in suitable cases. Close and effective supervision was the key to the success of such programmes, and this required vastly increased numbers of trained correctional personnel.

307. With respect to the direct control of lawlessness also, much needed to be done by providing more adequate training for the police and other law enforcement officials, since a trained and adequate police force was a strong bulwark against invasion of citizens' rights and dignity.

308. To meet these needs and improve crime prevention, President Johnson had committed his

country to a broad programme to deal with the problems of crime and had appointed recently a Commission on Law Enforcement and Administration of Justice, the first official body of its kind, to conduct a systematic nation-wide study of crime problems.

309. While criminal behaviour would never be eradicated from life in an organized society, the speaker hoped that broad social changes such as the direct onslaught on racial discrimination and poverty would make marked inroads in the conditions underlying criminal behaviour. The conflict between the freedom of the individual and the interests of society was not irreconcilable even though the task of finding a fair balance for reconciliation was enormously difficult. Progress, however slow, had been made since the last United Nations Congress and, now again, delegates had much to learn from each other. Mr. Marshall pledged the total co-operation of his Government to those seeking solutions to some of society's oldest and most difficult challenges.

II. Comradeship courts and related innovations in the Soviet Union

310. The second lecture, on comradeship courts and related innovations in the Soviet Union, was delivered by Mr. L. N. Smirnov, President of the Supreme Court of the Russian Soviet Federated Socialist Republic.

311. He first outlined the history and scope of comradeship courts in the Soviet Union, this approach being important to dispel certain misunderstanding about these public institutions in the western countries.

312. Comradeship courts were created by a decree signed by V. I. Lenin on 14 November 1919. The significance of this decree lay in the fact that it associated workers with the performance of judicial functions in public sittings. These courts were elected by a general meeting of workers, and they were comprised of a representative of the factory administration, a representative of the trade union, and a representative of the workers' collective. A decree of 5 April 1921 widened the disciplinary competence of comradeship courts from dealing with the rank-andfile workers to the examination of charges brought against administrative and technical personnel. These courts had to combat not only various violations of labour discipline but also amoral acts committed by individual members of the collective such as hooliganism, indecent behaviour, petty pilfering, etc.

313. The main objectives of these courts were to apply stringent measures against serious offenders, and to use the widest possible means of exerting social influence on chance violators of law and order. The working community was considered more competent and desirable in effecting social conformity and in rehabilitating weak and irresponsible comrades. To achieve these objectives, the co-operation of a broad strata of Soviet Society was enlisted.

314. The decrease in the number of persons convicted by the people's courts for offences initiated

by private complaint bore witness to the constructive role and considerable educational value of the comradeship courts. These social courts existed widely in the early thirties but declined thereafter and practically ceased to exist during the Second World War. They emerged again during the fifties together with such forms of community activity as the people's voluntary detachments, commissions on juvenile delinquency, etc. Mr. Smirnov stressed the spontaneous initiative of the people in reviving the comradeship courts and other forms of crime prevention, which had not been entirely new as maintained by some researchers in other countries. For the Soviet Union as a whole, the widespread development of comradeship courts, the expansion of their area of competence and the intensification of their activity occurred in the mid-fifties.

315. The first voluntary people's militia units for the preservation of law and order were established at the Kirov factory in 1958 in Leningrad. They were now operating in all towns and districts in the Soviet Union. Mr. Smirnov stressed that people's militia units represented one of the mass workers' organizations primarily dedicated to eradicating the factors and conditions favourable to the commission of crime. They were not a volunteer substitute for the police but a means of strengthening social self-discipline. They operated in conjunction with the comradeship courts and the commissions for minors, and a prominent part was played by the children's rooms of militia units.

316. Publicity was a key factor in achieving the desired objectives of the comradeship courts, and it exerted considerable influence in their deliberations through the formation of a definite public opinion against the offence and offender. Such public proceedings held in the presence of several dozens of a worker's comrades were found more effective than a fine or even detention.

317. In order to take local peculiarities more adequately into account, appropriate statutes and regulations were enacted within the Union Republics rather than for the Union as a whole. Thus, regulations were laid down for the Russian SFSR on 3 July 1961 and supplemented on 3 March 1962 and 23 October 1963, further widening the competence of these courts. On this basis, judicial and administrative bodies would transfer to them certain cases of a minor character relating to first offenders, as well as civil cases relating to title disputes over collective farms, and personal property. But the examination of such cases by comradeship courts was subject to the consent of the parties to the dispute.

318. Mr. Smirnov went on to review the relationship between the comradeship courts and the people's courts. Comradeship courts were not supplementary to the ordinary judiciary. They were accountable only to trade unions or to local councils. People's courts could render legal assistance to them and take measures to improve the legal knowledge of their members, but could not interfere with their activities. On the other hand, a comradeship court could refer a case to the

- 32 -

people's court when it found it necessary to institute criminal proceedings.

319. The scope of the activities of comradeship courts was by no means unlimited. They had an obligation to act strictly within the framework of the law. The State took full cognizance of the rights of the citizen, and comradeship courts did not imply contraction of those rights. Facilities existed for dual examination of cases in either comradeship courts or people's courts, according to the choice of the citizens. The rights of the citizen were further protected by denying comradeship courts the right to enforce their decisions. Enforcement orders could only be issued by people's courts after the people's judge had verified the information submitted and the legality of the decision. He could refuse issuing an order if the decision of the comradeship court was not based on law, but could not set aside its original decision. Only the appropriate executive committee of the council of workers' deputies could suggest re-examination of a case. Appeals were also dealt with by this executive body.

320. Under the Regulations, comradeship courts were entitled to apply measures of social influence to persons found guilty, and these measures were mainly preventive in character, such as social reprimand, censure and comradely warning. An important factor in the success of the preventive activity of these courts was the supervision of the subsequent behaviour of the person concerned. They also notified the social organizations and persons in authority of the causes and conditions which had contributed to the offence or other wrongful act.

321. Facilities were provided for the legal training of members of comradeship courts. Special annual and biennial training courses were arranged at faculties of comradeship courts at people's universities for legal studies.

322. Concluding his lecture, Mr. Smirnov drew the attention of Congress participants to the diversity of social and state structures which had given rise to different criteria in determining which actions should be labelled criminal. Such diversity had also led to the formulation of different programmes for the suppression and prevention of crime. But in spite of all these differences in fundamental concepts, there appeared to be agreement among participants that a broad programme for crime prevention must receive the support of the whole community. In this connexion, the whole system of state and social organization in the Soviet Union was directed to the education of the workers in a spirit of voluntary and conscientious discharge of their social obligations.

III. Approaches to crime prevention in rapidly changing societies

323. The third lecture, dealing with approaches to crime prevention in rapidly changing societies, was delivered by Mr. B. K. Bhattacharya, Senior Advocate at the Supreme Court of India.

- 33 -

324. In introducing the topic, he remarked that the morality of a society had a direct bearing on criminality, because of its influence on character formation. He observed that in many developing countries there was a marked decline in moral standards of conduct, particularly among important citizens and government officials. The restoration of moral standards was therefore an important prerequisite in any endeavour to reduce the incidence of crime and juvenile delinguency.

325. Mr. Bhattacharya went on to discuss the rapid changes in modern society and their effects on institutions. Many traditional institutions were going through a transformation, and the most important of these institutions in moulding the personalities of young people were the family and the school. For example, traditional forms of social control which were inherent in the extended family system were disappearing under the impact of urbanization. Overcrowding in schools and loss of a sense of dedication by school teachers had contributed to a lowering of the strict standards of school discipline.

326. Mr. Bhattacharya briefly referred to the dangers inherent in an unbalanced programme of training for higher education. The current trend in Asia was to produce too many graduates in the arts and letters, for all of whom corresponding employment could not be provided. It should be noted that Asian societies needed today more technicians for industrial development.

327. Food rationing in countries experiencing a dearth of food was, in a sense, speeding up the process of urbanization. People were moving from the rural areas to the towns because food was available there on ration books. Still, the wearisome search for food in urban streets, and its disruptive effects on family life by the standing in line for long hours to obtain meagre supplies, had widened the scope for the commission of crime. Mr. Bhattacharya felt that in India the distressing situation of immigrants on account of the partition was also intensifying the problem of crime in the urban areas, and suggested that the undertaking of special research into crimes committed by immigrants be considered.

328. The lecturer felt that it was in the context of rapid urbanization and industrialization and of shifting social values that measures to combat crime and delinquency had to be taken. Grossly deferred justice and prolonged detention in many Asian countries embittered those under trial and exposed them to the risk of a criminal career, and the judiciary, a prestigious body in each country, ought to initiate reforms to expedite the course of justice as perhaps one way of keeping up with rapidly changing social conditions.

329. As regards treatment measures for convicted offenders, Mr. Bhattacharya stated that the introduction of western-type correctional institutions required considerable modification to suit local conditions. For economic reasons, a wide preventive programme was considered more desirable in developing countries than institutional treatment, and the latter should only be used after preventive social work methods had failed. The developed countries themselves, which had evolved a network of institutions for the treatment of young offenders, should now benefit from the imaginative innovations being implemented by the developing countries and get away from the traditional reliance on commitment to institutions.

330. For obvious reasons, institutional treatment could not be ruled out entirely. Some form of institutional treatment had to be maintained for certain categories of offenders. But in many developing countries, Governments could not provide the necessary funds to improve conditions of existing institutions. In this regard, short-term imprisonment should be avoided whenever possible to minimize the dangers of overcrowding. Defaulters to pay fines might be put to work on public projects; caution and discharge ought to be used more extensively, and probation should have a wider application. Measures should be taken to expedite the process of justice in order to avoid contamination and the traumatic experience of prolonged detention. Committal to prison should be a last resort. Magistrates and judges should be trained in penology and criminology so as to be able to dispense social justice not merely based on legal technicalities.

331. Speaking on the possibilities of treatment in open institutions, Mr. Bhattacharya stated that they could be used much more extensively. He envisaged a system that would begin rather than end with open institutions and, moreover, would be used particularly for short-term prisoners. He cited India as one country in Asia which had now experimented on open institutions for some time. These institutions offered inmates some sort of family life, and those serving life sentences were permitted to bring their families to stay with them in the camp.

332. Regarding penal institutions in general, Mr. Bhattacharya continued, classification of offenders was a major problem in developing countries. Without proper classification individualized treatment was impossible, contamination in institutions could not be avoided, and the possibility of re-education and rehabilitation on an individual basis would be remote. Therefore, a thorough assessment of the inmate's personality in a receiving or allocation centre was essential.

333. The problems of after-care also required close attention to prevent recidivism. Transition from the sheltered and regulated life of an institution to the rough and tumble of free life was not easy for a released inmate. An after-care officer should prepare well in advance for the release of a prisoner, and the work of after-care associations should be shared by voluntary workers, to overcome a certain apathy on the part of the State and the public. A system of home leave for easing transition from institution to free life should also be maintained.

334. Staff problems were common to both developed and developing countries. Staff to be recruited should be of a high calibre to be able to apply enlightened treatment techniques and willing to dedicate themselves to their tasks. But the conditions of career in the correctional service in many developing countries were so bad that mostly those rejected from other employment areas were available for recruitment. Thorough training of suitable candidates was a prerequisite to the implementation of progressive penal programmes.

335. In conclusion, Mr. Bhattacharya stated that progress in social defence would depend on the advancement of scientific knowledge directed to the prevention of crime, and on a continuing evaluation of policies and programmes intended to control and prevent crime. Critical re-appraisal should aim at linking rationally the improvement of existing and the adoption of new methods in this field.

IV. Youth and criminality in Africa today

336. The fourth lecture, on youth and criminality in Africa today, was delivered by Mr. H. Kefacha, the Secretary of State for Justice of Tunisia.

337. He began by stressing the importance that the African countries attached to international co-operation in this field. Progress was being made in this direction through technical co-operation, expert group meetings convened by the United Nations, its regional commissions and specialized agencies, and through the activities of non-governmental organizations in the field of social defence.

338. Juvenile delinquency, he said, often denoted a social imbalance and thus was a symptom of social sickness. Suppressing this symptom and its other manifestations would not be enough, and a real cure should take the form of a frontal attack on the causes of the disease. In Africa, where juvenile delinquency had not yet shown itself in a particularly marked degree, there was hope to find satisfactory solutions to the problem if the phenomenon was given the necessary attention from the outset by taking vigorous measures against criminogenic breeding-grounds and formulating a well-considered policy of prevention. In this connexion, Africa was in the fortunate position of having gained from the sometimes painful experience of other regions, and the United Nations Congress was a welcome opportunity for exchanging lessons and experience.

339. Two important factors dominated juvenile maladjustment and these were the high proportion of young people in the African population today, and the breakdown of traditional institutions. It was also considered that the lack of employment opportunities and facilities for vocational training contributed to the inability of migrants and young people to fit properly into city life. Moreover, migrant parents were unable to exercise proper control over their children. Because of the adverse effects of urbanization and industrialization on traditional institutions, especially the disintegration of family groups, it was necessary to create more durable new institutions to replace certain old ones.

340. It would seem that in Africa the delinquent children did not manifest such character disturbances

- 34 -

and behavioural disorders as would necessitate a costly re-educational machinery. They rather needed educational measures in general.

341. By way of illustration, the lecturer referred to the experience of his own country, which had concentrated its efforts on strengthening the family environment by adapting it to the new requirements and on fighting against juvenile delinquency by measures of control and prevention. The main emphasis was being placed on halting the break-down of family groups which had been caused by the mass exodus to the capital. Among measures taken to promote the welfare of migrants repatriated to their villages were the creation of employment opportunities, land reform, low-income housing, and re-organization of small craft industries. To strengthen the family unit, polygamy was prohibited, birth control was advocated, contraceptives made available and medical abortion legalized in certain circumstances. A school to prepare parents for family responsibility was established. Repudiation was abolished and judicial divorce instituted. Finally, adoption was instituted to give abandoned children a family, and it met with great success.

342. The most significant approach to the problem of juvenile delinquency, Mr. Kefacha continued, was prevention. Under Tunisian law a young person was not criminally liable before attaining the age of 13 years. Imprisonment was quite exceptional for juveniles, and the possible courses of action were either to restore the offender to his family if it could offer adequate safeguards, or to entrust him to the care of a fit person, or to commit him to a specialized institution. These were supervised education and training centres resembling ordinary boarding schools. They included vocational training workshops for ten different trades, as well as agricultural training for illiterate inmates who received at the same time elementary education. Certificates of occupational aptitude or apprenticeship were issued to the pupils as in other schools. The two existing centres proved to be successful.

343. Children's villages which started as an expedient measure to provide relief for children and young persons abandoned in the streets of Tunis during the exceptionally severe winter of 1955-56, became a new institution designed to replace the missing family. To

ensure their success, the villages had to be organized in such a way that they did not resemble prisons or supervised schools. The main emphasis was placed on recreating the missing family and involving the children directly in group life. The size of each house was limited to twenty-five children and the village to a group of ten houses. There were 23 villages accommodating a total of 5,096 children.

344. The villages were run on the lines of a boarding school under the control and supervision of the Secretariat of State for Social Affairs, Youth and Sports. A village was headed by an administrative staff with special educational qualifications, assisted by a number of other professionals. The village administration enjoyed a certain degree of autonomy.

345. Education of the children was individualized, and the *éducateurs* who were specially selected were expected to act as substitute for the parents. For this reason it was desirable that *éducateurs* should be married. To avoid isolating these displaced children, they were admitted to the regular schools attended by children in the localities of the "children's villages". Efforts were made to maintain family contacts. In view of the great distances involved, contact with some relatives was impossible, and for this reason more villages were going to be set up so that children could be sent to those nearest to their homes.

346. More generally, the results obtained in the campaign against juvenile delinquency were encouraging but had to be supported by preventive action. A system of institutions had been created in Tunisia to supplement and substitute the family unit. Educational facilities were improved as this was considered a definite factor in the process of adjustment. Adequate provisions were also made for leisure activities including sports clubs, scout groups, youth hostels and holiday camps. There was a plan to establish children's clubs run by *éducateurs* to induce young people to take part in cultural and physical activities.

347. Concluding, Mr. Kefacha stated that punitive measures should only be employed as a last resort, and emphasis should be placed on prevention. Successful implementation of preventive measures depended on the ability of trained personnel to translate such measures into action.

ANNEXES

Annex I

RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE CONGRESS

The Third United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders,

Taking into account resolution 731 F (XXVIII) adopted by the Economic and Social Council on 30 July 1959 and noting with satisfaction the recent resolution 1086 B adopted by the Council on 30 July 1965, which enables the United Nations to intensify and enlarge its programme in the field of the prevention of crime and the treatment of offenders,

1. Welcomes the Secretary-General's proposals for strengthening the activities of the United Nations in the field of social defence;

2. Expresses the wish that technical assistance in this field be continued, especially through the organization of regional institutes or projects for criminological research, for the prevention of crime and for vocational training, and through the employment of regional advisers and effective co-operation with existing national or regional research centres, organizations or institutes;

3. Notes with satisfaction that the Ad Hoc Advisory Committee of Experts on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders should be a standing body, that the said Committee

should report direct to the Social Commission and that its membership should be increased from seven to ten;

4. Notes also with satisfaction, especially with a view to achieving the objectives mentioned in paragraph 2, the decision that the Secretary-General should proceed to establish a funds-intrust account to be administered by the United Nations, for the purpose of using the said funds to strengthen the Organization's activities and responsibilities in the social defence field, and should invite the Governments of Member States to contribute to the said account;

5. Expresses its gratitude to the Government of Sweden and to the Swedish Organizing Committee for their hospitality and for the work done in organizing the Congress, and also expresses its gratitude to the Secretariat of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies and other bodies for the excellent documentation and organization of this Congress, in keeping with the tradition and importance of the quinquennial United Nations Congresses on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders.

Annex II

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

Note. The information regarding participants is, as a rule, given in the language in which it was communicated to the Secretariat. The names of participants are listed in alphabetical order. In some cases, the names of participants appear several times in this list because they attended the Congress in several capacities; the professional titles of such persons are only given in the first listing of their names.

1. Representatives of Governments

ARGENTINA

Sr. A. R. Tognoni Director Nacional de Institutos Penales, Buenos Aires

AUSTRALIA

Mr. F. D. Hayes, Principal Parole Officer, Prison Field Service, Department of Prisons State of New South Wales

Mr. M. E. Lyon First Secretary Australian Embassy Stockholm

Mr. W. S. Matsdorf Parole Officer, Prison Field Service, Department of Prisons State of New South Wales Mr. Justice J. H. McClemens (Head of the Delegation) Judge of the Supreme Court State of New South Wales Mr. Norval Morris Julius Kreeger Professor of Law and Criminology University of Chicago Mr. D. C. Swanson Principal Probation Officer Attorney General and Justice Department, State of New South Wales

36 -

Austria

- Mr. Viktor Pickl (Head of the Delegation) Ministerial Secretary
- Federal Ministry of Justice, Vienna Mr. Gottfried Reissig

Ministerial Secretary

Federal Ministry of Justice, Vienna

Mrs. Elisabeth Schilder

Municipal Councillor

Managing Director of the Association for the Treatment of Juvenile Law Offenders, Vienna

Belgium

M. Paul Cornil (Head of the Delegation)
 Secrétaire général du Ministère de la Justice, Bruxelles
 M. Paul De Cant

Substitut du procureur général de Bruxelles

M. Maurice De Cnyf

Inspecteur général de l'Office de la Protection de l'Enfance, Bruxelles

Chevalier Joseph De Ghellinck d'Elseghem

- Président de la Commission royale des patronages, Bruxelles M. Jean Dupréel
- Directeur général de l'Administration des établissements pénitentiaires, Bruxelles
- M^{me} E. Jacobs
- Conseiller-adjoint à l'administration des établissements pénitentiaires, Bruxelles

M. P. Simons

Procureur du Roi à Louvain

M^{11e} L. Soetermans

Inspectrice principale à l'Office de la Protection de l'Enfance, Bruxelles

M. Marcel Van Helmont

Inspecteur général des prisons, Bruxelles

M. Séverin-Carlos Versele Juge au tribunal de Première instance de Bruxelles

BOLIVIA

Mr. Stig Erland Sandström Vice-Consil of Bolivia in Stockholm

BRAZIL

Mr. Benjamin Moraes Filho (Head of the Delegation) Director of the Institute of Criminology University of the State of Guanabara Rio de Janeiro

Miss Zuleika Sucupira Kenworthy Latin-American Institute of Criminology, Sao Paulo

BULGARIA

Mr. Grigor Grigorov (Head of the Delegation) Deputy General Public Prosecutor Mr. Ivan Voyvodov

Head of Department at the Ministry of Justice

Mr. A. F. Krayushkin First Secretary Ministry of Foreign Affairs Minsk Mr. L. G. Maksimov (Head of the Delegation) Deputy Procurator of the Byelorussian S.S.R., Minsk

BYELORUSSIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC

CAMBODIA

M. Kong Heng Directeur des services pénitentiaires et de la prison centrale, Phnom-Penh

CANADA

Mr. W. C. Bowman, Q.C. Director of Public Prosecutions Province of Ontario Mr. Jean Charles Cantin Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister of Justice, Ottawa Mr. Julien Chouinard, Q.C., Deputy Minister of Justice Province of Ouebec Mr. D. H. Christie, O.C. Director, Criminal Law Section, Department of Justice, Ottawa Mr. Allan Grossman Minister of Reform Institutions Province of Ontario Mr. T. J. K. Grygier Director of Research, Department of Reform Institutions Province of Ontario Mr. A. J. MacLeod, O.C. (Deputy Head of Delegation) Commissioner of Penitentiaries Province of Ontario Mr. L. T. Penneil (Head of the Delegation) Solicitor General, Province of Ontario Mr. T. G. Street, Q.C. Chairman of the National Parole Board, Ottawa Mr. Claude Wagner Minister of Justice Province of Quebec Alternate delegates : Mr. E. W. Kenrick Magistrate Haileybury, Province of Ontario Mr. A. M. Kirkpatrick **Executive Director** John Howard Society of Ontario Mr. Gwynn Nettler, Associate Professor of Sociology University of Alberta Mr. V. S. J. Richmond **Regional Director of Penitentiaries** Province of Ontario Mr. Johnstone Roberts, Magistrate Niagara Falls Ontario Mr. S. Rocksborough Smith

Director of Corrections Vancouver, B.C.

- 37 -

Official observers : Mr. J. R. Lemieux, **Deputy** Commissioner Valleyfield Province of Quebec Mr. Arthur Martin, O.C. Barrister Toronto, Province of Ontario Mrs. Dorothy McArton **Executive** Director Family Bureau of Greater Winnipeg, Manitoba Mr. W. T. McGrath Executive Secretary Canadian Corrections Association Ottawa, Province of Ontario Mr. Justice Roger Ouimet Judge of the Superior Court Province of Quebec

CEYLON

Mr. F. D. L. Ratnaike Commissioner of Prisons, Colombo

CHILE

Sr. Horacio Carvajal Ravest
Abogado y Profesor de Derecho Penal, Santiago
Sr. Ramón Coo Baeza
Capellán Mayor Prisiones de Chile, Santiago
Sr. Enrique Evans de la Cuadra
Subsecretario de Justicia y Profesor de Derecho Constitucional
Santiago
Sr. César Pinochet Elorza
Sub-Director Abogado del Servicio de Prisiones, Santiago
Sr. Eduardo Varas Videla
(Head of the Delegation)

(Head of the Delegation) Ministro de la Corte Suprema y Profesor de Derecho Penal, Santiago

CHINA

Mr. Peter B. T. Chang Counsellor, Permanent Mission of China to the European Office of the United Nations
Mr. Shih-hsien Hsu (Head of the Delegation) Administrative Vice-Minister of Justice, Taipei, Taiwan
Mr. Mo Li

Counsellor,

Ministry of Justice,

Taipei, Taiwan

COLOMBIA

Major Bernardo Echeverri Ossa Director General of Prisons, Bogota

CZECHOSLOVAKIA

Mr. Rudolf Pathy Official of the Principal Administration of Public Security, Prague Mr. Bohumil Repík

(Head of the Delegation)

Judge of the Highest Court of Justice, Prague

DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO

M. Joseph Kabala

Membre du Ministère des Affaires étrangères, Léopoldville M. Antoine Kabumbai

Membre du Ministère de la Justice, Léopoldville

M. François Mateta (Head of the Delegation)

Secrétaire général au Ministère de la Justice, Léopoldville M. Crispin Ngandu

Membre du Ministère des Affaires étrangères, Léopoldville M. Jean Seke

Membre du Ministère de la Justice, Léopoldville

DENMARK

Mr. Peter Christensen (Head of the Delegation) Acting Director of Prison Administration, Copenhagen Mr. E. Munch-Petersen President of the National Board of Child and Youth Welfare Ministry of Social Affairs, Copenhagen Mr. L. Nordskov-Nielsen Head of Division Ministry of Justice, Copenhagen Mr. Frank Poulsen Head of Division Ministry of Justice, Copenhagen Dr. G. K. Stürup Chief Physician Hellerup Mr. N. H. Vilien, Inspector of the Directorate for Child and Juvenile Welfare, Copenhagen Mr. Knud Waaben Professor University of Copenhagen

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

Sr. Erik Lundh Cónsul General Honorario de la República Dominicana en Estocolmo

ECUADOR

Sr. Enrique Sánchez-Barona (Observer) Ministro Encargado de Negocios del Ecuador en Suecia

ΕΤΗΙΟΡΙΑ

Major Debebe Hurrise General Police Headquarters Addis Ababa Mr. Andargatchew Tesfaye Director of Social Defence Ministry of National Community Development, Addis Ababa

FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY

Mr. Wilhelm Ansorge Ministerialrat Federal Ministry for Labour and Social Affairs, Bonn Mr. Ernst Buchholz Generalstaatsanwalt Attorney General, Hamburg

Mr. Hey Leitender Ministerialrat Ministry of Justice of Northrhine-Westfalia, Düsseldorf Mr. Isele Attorney at Law, Kassel Mr. Albert Krebs Ministerialrat, Ministry of Justice of Hesse, Wiesbaden Mr. Karl Mannzen State Secretary, Ministry of Justice of Lower Saxony, Hanover Mr. Maurach Professor of Penal Law University of Munich Mr. Wilhelm Pauli, Ministerialdirigent, Ministry of Justice of Baden-Württemberg, Stuttgart Mr. E. Ruediger Ministerialrat Federal Ministry for Family and Youth Affairs, Bonn Mr. Josef Schafheutle (Head of the Delegation) Ministerialdirektor Federal Ministry of Justice, Bonn Mr. Schroeder Professor of Penal Law University of Tübingen Mr. Hans Welzel Professor of Penal Law University of Bonn Mr. Thomas Wuertenberger Professor of Penal Law University of Freiburg

FINLAND

Mrs. Inkeri Anttila Professor of Criminal Law University of Helsinki Mr. Osten Elfving Counsellor of Justice Supreme Court, Helsinki Mr. Kaarlo Helasvuo Head of Department Child Welfare Office of Helsinki Mr. Pekka Kurvinen Counsellor of Legislation Ministry of Justice, Helsinki Mr. Lars Hugo Salonen Counsellor of Legislation Ministry of Justice, Helsinki Mr. Valentin Soine (Head of the Delegation) Director-General of the Prison Administration Ministry of Justice, Helsinki

FRANCE

M. Pierre Arpaillange Conseiller technique du Garde des Sceaux Ministère de la Justice, Paris
M. Pierre Ceccaldi Directeur de l'Administration et de l'équipement au Ministère de la Justice, Paris
M. Louis Damour (Head of the Delegation) Premier président honoraire de la Cour de Cassation, Paris
M. Jean Ledoux Chef du Service de l'Éducation surveillée

Ministère de la Justice, Paris

M. Raymond Morice Directeur de l'Administration pénitentiaire Ministère de la Justice, Paris M. Paul-Albert Pageaud Directeur des Affaires criminelles et des Grâces Ministère de la Justice, Paris M. Henri Tarniquet Sous-Directeur des Affaires criminelles au Ministère de l'Intérieur (Direction générale de la Sureté nationale), Paris Conseillers : M. Pierre Chabrand Secrétaire général Conseil Supérieur de la Magistrature, Paris M. Pierre Franck Magistrat Ministère de la Justice, Paris M. Louis Joseph Sous-Directeur de l'Éducation surveillée

Ministère de la Justice, Paris M. Georges Picca Magistrat au Ministère de la Justice Chef de la Section des Études et Programmes à la Direction de l'Administration pénitentiaire, Paris

Ghana

Mr. Samuel Amperey Obuobi Assistant Director of the Department of Social Welfare and Community Development, Accra

GREECE

Mr. J. Zagarolas Director-General of the Department of Justice, Athens

GUINEA

M. Sikhé Camara, Ancien Procureur général de la République de Guinée Ambassadeur à Belgrade

Haiti

M. Edgar Jean-Louis Ministère du Travail et des Affaires sociales, Port-au-Prince

HOLY SEE

M. W. P. J. Pompe Professeur émérite de droit pénal de l'Université d'Utrecht, (Pays-Bas) Msgr A. J. A. Verheggen

Aumônier général des prisons néerlandaises

HUNGARY

Mr. István Király, Head of Department Ministry of Justice Mr. György Rudas (Head of the Delegation) Head of Hungarian Criminal, Police Department

- 39 -

Iran

Mr. Massoud Hedayat
Deputy Minister of Justice
Judge of Supreme Court, Teheran
Mr. Mohamad Ali Hedayati
(Head of the Delegation)
Professor of Law and Legal Adviser to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs
Mr. Gholam Hossein Khoshbin
Legal Adviser to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Teheran
Mrs. Mehranguiz Manoutchehrian
Member of Senate, Teheran
Mr. Javad Mohazeb
Member of the Iranian National Assembly (Madjles)

Iraq

Mr. Abdul Rozzak Abdul Wahab Judge at First Instance Court of Baghdad Ministry of Justice
Mr. Akram Al-Oubiadi Director of Police Ministry of Justice, Baghdad
Mr. Abdul Hadi Salih (Head of the Delegation) Chief, Legal Drafting Department Ministry of Justice, Baghdad

IRELAND

Mr. Peter Berry (Head of the Delegation) Secretary, Department of Justice, Dublin
Mr. Joseph J. McCarthy Principal Officer, Department of Justice, Dublin
Mr. John Olden Assistant Principal Officer, Department of Justice, Dublin

ISRAEL

Mr. M. Ben-Ze'ev (Head of the Delegation) Attorney-General, Jerusalem Mr. Y. Carthy Assistant Commander Head of the Criminal Investigation Department Ministry of Police, Tel-Aviv Mr. Zvi Hermon Scientific Director of the Prison Service Ministry of Police Hakirya, Tel-Aviv Mr. M. Horowitz Deputy Director Adult Probation Service Ministry of Social Welfare, Jerusalem Mr. A. Nir Commissioner of Prisons Ministry of Police, Tel-Aviv Mr. D. Reifen Acting Chief Magistrate Juvenile Court Ministry of Justice, Tel-Aviv

ITALY

Mr. Giuseppe Altavista Conseiller à la Cour d'Appel, Rome Mr. Giovanni Rinaldo Coronas Directeur de la Division de la Police administrative de la Direction générale de la sécurité publique, Rome Mr. Alfonso Garofalo Conseiller à la Cour d'Appel, Rome Mr. Peppino Gnisci Directeur de la Section des Activités de défense sociale de la Division de la Police administrative, Rome Mr. Pietro Manca Procureur, général à la Cour d'Appel Directeur général des affaires pénales, Rome Mr. Luigi Masci Directeur de la Division des Affaires législatives et de la documentation de la direction générale de la sécurité publique, Rome Mr. Ettore Maselli Juge de Tribunal, Rome Mr. Nicola Reale (Head of the Delegation) Président de Section à la Cour de Cassation, Rome Mr. Giuseppe Renato Directeur des Services législatifs et des relations internationales, Rome

JAMAICA

Sir Cyril Henriques Member of the Court of Appeal, Kingston

JAPAN

Mr. Taiji Akagi Senior Superintendent Chief of the First Personnel Affairs Section Police Administration Division Metropolitan Police Department, Tokyo Mr. Yoshitsugu Baba (Head of the Delegation) Prosecutor General, Tokyo Mr. Shigemitsu Dando Member of the Criminal Law Sub-Committee of the Legislative Council Ministry of Justice, Tokyo Mr. Masaru Higuchi Judge of the Tokyo High Court Mr. Ryozo Katsuo Director of the Accounting Division Ministry of Justice, Tokyo Mr. Akira Mitsui Judge of the Tokyo District Court Mr. Minoru Shikita Professor, Research and Training Institute Ministry of Justice, Tokyo Mr. Toshio Suzuki Chief of the General Affairs Section Correction Bureau Ministry of Justice, Tokyo Mr. Zen Tokoi Professor, Research and Training Institute Ministry of Justice, Tokyo Mr. Michio Yasuda Chief of Juvenile Section Criminal Affairs Bureau Ministry of Justice, Tokyo

- 40 -

Kenya

Mr. C. G. Gould Resident Magistrate, Nairobi
Mr. J. R. Kinuthia Chief Inspector of Children, Nairobi
Mr. Andrew K. Saikwa (Head of the Delegation) Commissioner of Prisons, Nairobi

Liberia

Mr. George Edward Henries
Assistant Attorney General, Monrovia
Mr. S. Augustu P. Horton
(Head of the Delegation)
Director, Liberia National Youth Organization, Monrovia

Libya

Major Sgheier Abdussamad Director of Prisons, Tripoli
Major Ibrahim Ben Saud Director General of International Criminal Affairs and Statistics, Tripoli
Mr. Ramadan El Gaddafi Secretary of Social Security, Tripoli
Mr. Suleman Tumiah (Head of the Delegation) Attorney General Supreme Court, Tripoli

LUXEMBOURG

M. Étienne Klein Premier Substitut du Procureur d'État, Luxembourg

Morocco

M. Mohamed Belhadj Omar (Head of the Delegation)
Directeur de l'Administration pénitentiaire au Ministère de la Justice, Rabat
M. Iken Bouazza Conseiller à la Cour d'Appel

Chef de Cabinet du Ministère de la Justice, Rabat

NETHERLANDS

Mr. Willem Duk Legal Adviser to the Minister of Justice, The Hague Mr. Christiaan Justus Enschedé Professor of Criminal Law University of Amsterdam Mr. Ernest A. M. Lamers (Head of the Delegation) Director General of the Penitentiary Administration, The Hague Mr. Willem H. Nagel Professor of Criminology Institute for Penal Law and Criminology, Leiden Mr. Rijk Rijksen Professor of Criminal Law, Bilthoven Mr. J. A. Stalpers Professor State University of Utrecht

Mr. Maarten E. Tjaden Superintendent of Probation and Parole Ministry of Justice, The Hague

NEW ZEALAND

Mr. J. L. Robson Secretary for Justice, Wellington

NICARAGUA

Sr. José Sandino Arellano Consul General de Nicaragua à Rotterdam

NIGERIA

Mr. Henry Omo Ehijator Federal Prison Department
Mr. F. S. Giwa-Osagie (Head of the Delegation) Director of Prisons
Mrs. W. A. McEwen Chief Social Welfare Officer
Mr. Okaphaw Okocha Head, Social Welfare Division Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare, Benin City
Mr. A. Tanko Soba Principal Social Welfare Officer
Mr. A. O. Ukwa Assistant Director of Prisons

Norway

Mr. Andreas Aulie (Head of the Delegation) Attorney-General, Oslo Mr. Johannes Halvorsen Chief of the Penitentiary Administration Oslo Mr. Trygve Leivestad Judge of the Supreme Court, Oslo Mr. K. J. Oeknes Permanent Secretary Ministry of Social Affairs, Oslo Mr. Erling Østerberg District Commissioner of Police Trondheim Mr. Rolv Ryssdal Supreme Court Judge, Oslo Mr. Bjoern Skau Under-Secretary of State Ministry of Social Affairs, Oslo

PAKISTAN

Mr. Niaz Ahmad (Head of the Delegation) Home Secretary Government of West Pakistan, Lahore Mr. Shahryar Khan Counsellor Embassy of Pakistan, Stockholm

PERU

Mr. Julio Altmann-Smythe Abogado, Lima

- 41 -

Mr. Carlos Castillo Ríos
Secretario General del Consejo Nacional de Menores
Ministerio de Justicia y Culto, Lima
Mr. Julio Luque Tijero
Director General de Establecimientos Penales
Ministerio de Justicia y Culto, Lima
Mr. Eduardo Mimbela de los Santos
Profesor Ordinario de Criminologia y de Ciencia Penitenciaria,

PHILIPPINES

Mr. Diosdado M. Aguiluz Assistant Director of Prisons, Manila
Mrs. Cecilia Muñoz Palma Judge, Hall of Justice, Rizal
Mr. Lourdes Paredes San Diego Judge, Court of First Instance, Rizal
Mr. Conrado V. Sanchez (Head of the Delegation) Presiding Justice Court of Appeals, Manila

Universidad de San Marcos, Lima

POLAND

Colonel Franciszek Jozwiak Deputy Chief Commissioner of the Militia, Warsaw Mr. Stanislaw Plawski Professor of Law, Warsaw Mr. Tadeusz Rybicki Vice-President of the Provincial Court of the City of Rzeszow Mr. Stanislaw Walczak (Head of the Delegation) Deputy Minister of Justice, Warsaw Mr. Piotr Wierzbicki

Director of the Centre of Penitentiary Research, Warsaw Mr. Stanislaw Ziembinski Director of the Central Board of Prison Administration, Warsaw

PORTUGAL

Mr. Eduardo Correia
(Head of the Delegation)
Director of the Institute of Criminology
University of Coimbra
Mr. José Guardado Lopes
Director-General of Prisons

Ministry of Justice, Lisbon Mr. José Manso-Preto

Attorney General, Lisbon

REPUBLIC OF KOREA

Mr. Moon Gee Chou (Head of the Delegation) Chief of the Legal Affairs Section Ministry of Justice, Seoul
Mr. Jai Sung Kim Third Secretary Korean Embassy, Stockholm
Mr. Min Soo Park Second Secretary Korean Embassy, Stockholm

ROMANIA

Major-General Dumitru Cosoveanu Deputy Director-General of Militia, Bucharest
Mr. Emilian Nucescu (Head of the Delegation) Director of Studies and Documentation Ministry of Justice, Bucharest
Mr. Laurentiu Tamas Deputy Director of the Institute of Criminology of the General Prosecutor's Office, Bucharest

SAN MARINO

Mr. Filippo Gramatica Consul General of San Marino Genoa, Italy

SENEGAL

M. Jean Benglia Magistrat, Chef de l'Éducation surveillée, Dakar
M. Abdoulaye Diop (Head of the Delegation) Président de chambre à la Cour d'Appel Directeur de cabinet du Ministre de la Justice, Dakar

SIERRA LEONE

Mr. S. G. Seisay (Head of the Delegation) Director of Prisons, Freetown Mr. M. L. Sesay Head Teacher, The Approved School Wellington

SOUTH AFRICA

Colonel I. C. Schutte Parliamentary Staff Officer, Pretoria Major-General J. C. Steyn (Head of the Delegation) Commissioner of Prisons, Pretoria

SPAIN

Don Antonio Ferrer Sama (Head of the Delegation) Professor of Penal Law Don José Guallart Presidente del Tribunal para menores de Zaragoza Don Antonio Pascual de Zulueta Juez de Menores, Madrid Don Octavio Pérez Victoria Professor of Penal Law, Barcelona Don Antonio Sabater Tomas Juez de Vagos y Maleantes Barcelona

SWEDEN

Mr. Ivar Agge Professor University of Stockholm

- 42 -

Mr. Lars Åström Under-Secretary of State Ministry for Social Affairs Stockholm Mr. Nils Beckman Justice of the Supreme Court Stockholm Mr. Ernst Bexelius Director-General National Social Welfare Board Stockholm Mr. Carl-Henrik Ericsson Head of Division National Correctional Administration Stockholm Mr. Torsten Eriksson Director-General National Correctional Administration Stockholm Mr. Sven Fischier Head of Administrative Division Ministry of Justice Stockholm Mr. Folke Häggbom Head of Section National Police Board Stockholm Mr. Carl Holmberg Under-Secretary of State Ministry of Justice Stockholm Mr. Björn Kjellin President of the Court of Appeal for Scania and Blekinge, Malmö Mr. Herman Kling (Head of the Delegation) Minister of Justice, Stockholm Mr. Klas Lithner Country Public Prosecutor, Karlskrona Mr. Hjalmar Mehr Commissioner City Hall, Stockholm Mr. Alvar Nelson Professor University of Lund Mr. Erik Nyman Head of Division National Correctional Administration, Stockholm Mr. Karl-Inge Öster Head of Division National Board of Health, Stockholm Mr. Carl Persson National Police Commissioner Stockholm Mr. Sture Petrén President Svea Court of Appeal, Stockholm Mr. Holger Romander Head of the Legal Division Ministry of Justice, Stockholm Mrs. Göta Rosén Head of Division National Social Welfare Board Stockholm Mr. Gunnar Rudstedt Director of the Eastern Correctional Administration Region Långholmen Central Prison Establishment, Stockholm

Mr. Gösta Rylander Professor Långholmen Central Prison Establishment, Stockholm Mr. Lars Simonsson Head of Division Ministry of Justice, Stockholm Mr. Ivar Strahl Professor University of Uppsala Mr. Knut Sveri Assistant Professor University of Stockholm Mr. Hans Thornstedt Professor University of Stockholm Mr. Emanuel Walberg Chief Public Prosecutor Stockholm SWITZERLAND

M Alain Bauer Président du Tribunal de La Chaux-de-Fonds Dr. Jacques Bernheim Professeur à la Faculté de Médecine à Genève M. François Clerc (Head of the Delegation) Professeur de droit pénal aux Universités de Neuchâtel et Fribourg M. Jean Eger Procureur général à Genève M. Alfred Schatzmann Avocat des mineurs à Frauenfeld M. M. Veillard-Cybulski Président International Association of Youth Magistrates

SYRIA

Mr. Muhammad El-Fadel Professor at the University of Damascus Mr. Hussein Mahanna (Head of the Delegation) Minister of Justice Damascus Mr. Nassrat Manla Haidar Judge Ministry of Justice, Damascus Mr. Jamal Namani

Head of the Section of Legislation and Cases Ministry of Justice, Damascus

TANZANIA

Mr. O. K. Rugimbana Commissioner of Prisons Dar-es-Salaam

Mr. M. N. S. Shaidi Inspector-General of Police Dar-es-Salaam

THAILAND

Mr. Dhavee Choosup Chief of the Division of Criminology System Department of Correction, Bangkok

43 -

Mr. Malai Huvanandana (Head of the Delegation)
Deputy Under-Secretary of State Ministry of Interior, Bangkok
Mr. Sanga Linasmita
Director of the Central Observation and Protection Centre Central Juvenile Court Ministry of Justice, Bangkok
Mr. Wattana Nualsuwan First Grade Superintendent Child and Youth Welfare Division, Bangkok
Mr. Narong Panditya Director-General

Department of Correction, Bangkok

TUNISIA

M. Mustafa Abdesselem
 Sous-Directeur au Secrétariat d'État à la Justice, Tunis
 M. Hamda Amri
 Directeur du Centre d'Éducation Professionnelle Surveillée.

Gammarth M. Zinelabidine Djait

Avocat général

Chef de Cabinet de M. le Secrétaire d'État à la Justice, Tunis M. Mohamed Hammami Secrétariat d'État à l'Intérieur

Tunis

M. Hedi Khefacha (Head of the Delegation) Secrétaire d'État à la Justice Tunis

M. Mzoughi Secrétariat d'État à l'Intérieur Tunis

M. Mohsen Tekaya Chef de Service de la Défense sociale au Secrétariat d'État aux Affaires sociales, Tunis

TURKEY

Mr. Isik Erim First Secretary Turkish Embassy Stockholm

Uganda

Mr. M. Hassan Head of C.I.D., Kampala
Mr. J. N. Kawuki Ministry of Planning and Community Development, Kampala
Mr. Simeon J. O. Kego Officer-in-Charge of Classification Prison, Kampala
Mr. Pontiano G. T. Mwebesa Officer-in-Charge Recidivist Prison, Kampala
Mr. F. L. Okwaare

(Head of the Delegation) Commissioner of Prisons, Kampala

UKRAINIAN SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLIC

Mr. Valentin Timofeevich Kolomiets

Deputy Director Office of the Ukrainian Ministry for Protection of Public Order Kiev Mr. Ivan Ivanovich Korchak (Head of the Delegation) Deputy Procurator of the Ukrainian SSR, Kiev

UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS

Mr. I. I. Karpets Director, Institute for the Prevention of Crime Mr. V. I. Khamanev Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics Mr. A. Y. Kudryavtsev Deputy Minister for the Protection of Social Order of the R.S.F.S.R. Mr. V. I. Laputin Senior Scientific Officer Institute for the Prevention of Crime Mr. L. N. Smirnov (Head of the Delegation) President of the Supreme Court of the R.S.F.S.R. Mr. S. L. Zivs Institute of State and Law of the Academy of Sciences of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

UNITED ARAB REPUBLIC

Mr. Aly Nur El-Din General Administrative Prosecutor, Cairo
Major-General Mohamed Youssef El Refaie Deputy Director of Department of Prisons, Cairo
Mr. Mohammed Hamzawi, General Director of Juvenile Delinquent Department, Ministry of Social Affairs
Mr. Ahmed M. Khalifa Director
National Centre of Social and Criminological Research
Mr. Adel Younés President of the Supreme Court of Cassation

UNITED KINGDOM

Mr. A. Alexander Senior Assistant Secretary Ministry of Home Affairs Belfast Mr. J. A. B. Allan Adviser on Prison Services Ministry of Overseas Development London Mr. W. H. Chinn Social Development Adviser Ministry of Overseas Development London Mr. C. R. Corner Chief Inspector of Probation and Child Care Edinburgh Sir Charles Cunningham (Head of the Delegation) Permanent Under-Secretary of State London Mr. R. D. Fairn Assistant Under-Secretary of State Prison Department, Home Office London Mr. J. B. Howard Assistant Under-Secretary of State Children's Department Home Office, London

Mr. T. S. Lodge Director of Research Home Office Research Unit London Mr. F. J. MacRae **Principal Probation Inspector** Home Office, London Lieut-Commander C. H. Mullan Resident Magistrate, Belfast Mr. J. S. Murphy H.M. Inspector of Schools Scottish Education Department Miss A. M. Scorrer Chief Inspector Children's Department Home Office, London Mr. T. B. Skinner Director of Prison Services Scottish Home and Health Department Edinburgh Dr. D. R. K. Street Medical Superintendent Rampton Hospital, Ratford Advisers : Mr. T. E. Clunie Senior Assistant Commissioner of Police (Hong Kong) Mr. J. S. Douglas Permanent Secretary Ministry of Home Affairs Georgetown (British Guiana) Mr. L. E. A. Holt-Kentwell Principal Probation Officer (Hong Kong) Mr. C. N. E. Murray Chief Probation Officer Georgetown (British Guiana) Mr. C. J. Norman Commissioner of Prisons (Hong Kong) Mr. Pengiran Hidup Bin V. Pengiran Hashim Superintendent of Prisons (Brunei) Mr. D. T. E. Roberts Solicitor General (Hong Kong) Mr. J. M. T. B. Ross Commissioner of Prisons (Mauritius)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Mr. Mvrl E. Alexander Director, Bureau of Prisons Department of Justice Washington, D.C. Miss Blanche Bernstein Office of International Economic and Social Affairs Department of State Washington, D.C. Mr. Edmund G. Brown Governor of California Mr. Garrett M. Byrne Attorney-at-Law Washington, D.C. Mr. Robert L. Carter General Counsel National Association for the Advancement of Coloured People New York

Mr. Richard A. Chappel Chairman, Board of Parole Department of Justice Washington, D.C. Mr. Thomas Dodd United States Senate Washington, D.C. Mr. Edward D. Greenwood Menninger Foundation Topeka, Kansas Mr. Leo J. Grille Mr. Roman L. Hruska United States Senate Washington, D.C. Mr. Orman W. Ketcham Judge, Juvenile Court of the District of Columbia Washington, D.C. Mr. Carleton J. King United States House of Representatives Washington, D.C. Mr. Peter P. Leiins Professor of Sociology University of Maryland Representative of the American Correctional Association College Park, Maryland Mr. Edward V. Long United States Senate Washington, D.C. Mr. Frank Loveland (Technical Secretary of Delegation) Consultant, Bureau of Prisons Department of Justice Washington, D.C. Mr. Thurgood Marshall (Head of the Delegation) Judge of the United States Court of Appeals of the Second Circuit (New York) and Solicitor-General Designate Mr. Wade H. McCree, Jr. Judge, United States District Court for the Eastern District of Michigan Detroit, Michigan Mr. Richard A. McGee Administrator, California Youth and Adult Corrections Agency Sacramento, California Mr. Samuel F. Prvor Mr. Milton G. Rector Director, National Council on Crime and Delinquency New York Mr. Bernard Russell Director, Office of Juvenile Delinquency and Youth Development Department of Health, Education and Welfare Washington, D.C. Mr. Robert J. Thornton Attorney General for the State of Oregon, Salem Mr. Edward Toothman Chief of Police Oakland, California Mr. James Vorenberg Director, Office of Criminal Justice Department of Justice Mr. Lee White Special Counsel to the President Executive Office of the President Washington, D.C. Mr. Richard W. White (Secretary of the Delegation) Office of International Conferences Department of State Washington, D.C.

- 45 -

Mr. Franklin H. Williams Ambassador, United States Representative on the United Nations Economic and Social Council New York

Mr. Edwin E. Willis United States House of Representatives Washington, D.C.

Mr. Luther W. Youngdahl Judge, United States District Court for the District of Columbia Washington, D.C.

VENEZUELA

Sr. Régulo Julián Guerra Tineo Médico Psiquiátra Sabana Grande, Caracas

Sra Clarissa Sanoja Hernández Jefe de Division de Menores del Cuerpo Técnico de la Policía Judicial, Caracas

Sra Angeles Sotilla Arreaza Chief of Health and Delinquency Treatment Section of Cordiplan, Caracas

YUGOSLAVIA Mr. Dragutin Lenard Chef de Division au Secrétariat fédéral de l'Intérieur Belgrade Mr. Panta Marina Président de la Cour suprême de la République socialiste de Macédoine et Professeur à la Faculté de Droit de Skopje Mr. Tomislav Marković Directeur du Bureau pour les recherches criminologiques à Zagreb Mr. Milan Milutinović Directeur de l'Institut pour les recherches criminologiques et Professeur à la Faculté de Droit de Belgrade Mr. Nikola Srzentić (Head of the Delegation) Juge à la Cour constitutionnelle fédérale et Professeur à la Faculté de Droit de Novi Sad Mrs. Katja Vodopivec Directeur de l'Institut criminologique Ljubljana

Zambia

Mr. Alan Haworth Government Specialist Psychiatrist Lusaka

2. Specialized agencies

INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANIZATION

Mrs. Marion Janjic

Office of the Programme Co-ordinator

Women, Young Workers and Older Workers Programmes Mr. Cecil Herbert Lindsey

Youth Specialist

Woodford Green, United Kingdom (Expert)

M. Paul Lutz

Conseiller à la Cour d'Appel de Paris (Expert)

UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND CULTURAL ORGANIZATION

Mr. George Victor Coelho Programme Specialist, Department of Adult Education and Youth Activities

Mr. R. G. Andry Lecturer in Psychology Institute of Education London University (Expert) Mr. William Clement Kvaraceus Professor of Education and Director of Youth Studies Lincoln Filene Center Tufts University, Medford, Mass. (Expert) Professor P. M. Jacobson Institute of Psychology Academy of Pedagogical Sciences

Academy of Pedagogical Science Moscow (Expert)

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

Dr. Pieter Baan Chief, Mental Health Unit Geneva

Professor Thomas Adeoye Lambo

Professor of Psychiatry and Head of Department of Psychiatry, Neurology and Neurosurgery University of Ibadan

Nigeria (Expert)

Dr. Anna Maria Roosenburg

Medical Superintendent Dr. H. van der Hoeven Kliniek

Utrecht, Netherlands (Expert)

3. Inter-governmental organizations

COUNCIL OF EUROPE

Mr. Norman Bishop Head of Division of Crime Problems Legal Directorate Strasbourg LEAGUE OF ARAB STATES

Mr. Hassan Allam Executive Secretary of the Pan Arab Organization for Social Defence Cairo

4. International non-governmental organizations invited to the Congress

(a) Non-governmental organizations in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council

BOY SCOUTS WORLD BUREAU

M. Jean Somers Secrétaire national Bruxelles-Watermael, Belgique

CATHOLIC INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR SOCIAL SERVICE

M¹¹ Marie-Louise Marck Inspectrice au service social pénitentiaire Ministère de la Justice Bruxelles, Belgique

FRIENDS WORLD COMMITTEE FOR CONSULTATION

Mr. Arthur W. Clark Secretary, Prison Service Committee Philadelphia, United States of America Mrs. Mary B. Clark Delegate, Prison Service Committee Philadelphia, United States of America Mrs. Jane S. Droutman

Executive Director, Quaker Committee on Social Rehabilitation New York, United States of America

HOWARD LEAGUE FOR PENAL REFORM (UNITED KINGDOM)

Mrs. Anne Elizabeth Allen Member of the Executive Committee Mr. Donald F. Broadhead **Prison Visitor** Kidderminster, United Kingdom Rev. J. Arthur Hoyles Co-ordinator of Prison Pastors Buckingham, United Kingdom Mr. Hugh John Klare Secretary of the League Mrs. Monica Rachel McKenna Mölnlycke, Sweden Mrs. Florence M. McNeille Birmingham, United Kingdom Mr. Martin C. Mitcheson London, United Kingdom

INTERNATIONAL ABOLITIONIST FEDERATION

Mrs. Margaret F. Bligh Teddington, United Kingdom

INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE OF WOMEN

Mrs. Edith Anrep Vice-President Stockholm, Sweden Mrs. Kastner London, United Kingdom

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF PENAL LAW

Mr. Gerhard O. W. Mueller Vice-President and Chief United Nations Representative New York, United States of America M^{me} Hélène-Gr. Romniciano Représentante permanente auprès de l'Office européen des Nations Unies Genève. Suisse

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOLS OF SOCIAL WORK

Miss Kerstin Widén Lecturer in social legislation Stockholm, Sweden

> INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF WORKERS FOR MALADJUSTED CHILDREN

M. Henri Joubrel Président Paris, France
M. Pierre Zumbach Représentant permanent auprès de l'Office européen des Nations Unies Genève, Suisse

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF YOUTH MAGISTRATES

M. Maurice Veillard-Cybulski Président Lausanne, Switzerland M. David Reifen Vice-Président Tel-Aviv, Israel

INTERNATIONAL CATHOLIC CHILD BUREAU

M. Henri Paul Bissonnier Secrétaire général de la Commission médico-pédagogique et psycho-sociale du Bureau Paris, France

INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF JURISTS

Judge Per-Erik Fürst Bromma, Sweden Judge Bertil Voss Judge in the Court of Appeal Stockholm, Sweden

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE OF CATHOLIC CHARITIES

M. R. P. Rousset Adjoint de l'Aumônier général des prisons en France
M. R. D. Schmitz Président de la Conférence des Aumôniers catholiques des prisons en Allemagne
Mgr H. Verheggen

La Haye

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE OF SOCIAL WORK

Miss Elsa Wollmer General Secretary Swedish National Committee of the ICSW Stockholm, Sweden

- 47 --

INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF WOMEN

Mrs. Margaret F. Bligh Vice-President, National Council of Women of Great Britain Teddington, United Kingdom Mrs. Sigrid Lindblad

Member of the ICW Standing Committee on Social Welfare Norrviken, Sweden

Miss Louise C. A. van Eeghen ICW Representative at the United Nations Geneva, Switzerland

INTERNATIONAL CRIMINAL POLICE ORGANIZATION

M. Henri Féraud Chef de Division du Secrétariat général de l'OIPC-Interpol Paris, France

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF SENIOR POLICE OFFICERS

M. Erik Meijer Vice-Président Aerdenhout, Netherlands

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF UNIVERSITY WOMEN

Mrs. Valborg Lundgren Barrister Stockholm, Sweden Miss Harriet Stangenberg Councillor and Secretary in the Department of Justice Stockholm, Sweden

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF WOMEN LAWYERS

Mrs. Phyllis E. Newman Senior Lecturer in Law London, United Kingdom
M^{™e} Susana Solano R. President of the Peruvian Federation of Women Lawyers Lima, Peru
Sta Rosa Clelia Valentino Lawyer Rome, Italy

INTERNATIONAL HUMANIST AND ETHICAL UNION

Mr. P. A. Pols Chief Humanist Prison Counsellor Amersfoort, Netherlands

INTERNATIONAL LAW ASSOCIATION

Mr. Sture Petrén Stockholm, Sweden

INTERNATIONAL LEAGUE FOR THE RIGHTS OF MAN

Miss T. I. H. Detter Associate Professor University of Stockholm Sweden

INTERNATIONAL PRISONERS AID ASSOCIATION

Mr. G. Richard Bacon President Designate Philadelphia, United States of America
Mrs. Ruth P. Baker Executive Director and Secretary-Treasurer, Milwaukee, United States of America
Mr. A. M. Kirkpatrick Vice-President Toronto, Canada

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY FOR CRIMINOLOGY

Mr. Thorsten Sellin President Philadelphia, United States of America

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF SOCIAL DEFENCE

M. Filippo Gramatica President Genoa, Italy
M. Sévérin-Carlos Versele Bruxelles, Belgique

INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR CHILD WELFARE

Mr. D. Q. R. Mulock-Houwer Secretary-General Geneva, Switzerland

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF SOCIALIST YOUTH

Mr. Stig Gustafsson Legal Adviser to the Swedish Confederation of Trade Unions Stockholm, Sweden

LEAGUE OF RED CROSS SOCIETIES

Mr. Eirik Guldvog Parson at the Penitentiary in Oslo Norway

PAN PACIFIC AND SOUTH-EAST ASIA WOMEN'S ASSOCIATION

Mrs. A. Day Bradley Representative at the United Nations New York, United States of America

ST. JOAN'S INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE

M^{me} K. Gillquist Stockholm, Sweden

SALVATION ARMY

Commissioner M. Owen Culshaw Consultant on Social Services International Headquarters London, United Kingdom

48 -

SOCIETY OF COMPARATIVE LEGISLATION (FRANCE)

M^{11e} Yvonne R. Marx Secrétaire général adjoint Paris, France

WORLD ASSEMBLY OF YOUTH

Mr. Rolf Theorin Member of the Executive Committee Alvsjö, Sweden

WORLD FEDERATION FOR MENTAL HEALTH

Mr. Karl O. Christiansen Professor of Criminology University of Copenhagen, Denmark

WORLD FEDERATION OF UNITED NATIONS ASSOCIATIONS

Mr. Bertil Bolin Director for International Affairs Landsorganisationen Stockholm, Sweden

Mr. Lars Eriksson Secretary-General, United Nations Association of Sweden Stockholm, Sweden

WORLD JEWISH CONGRESS

Mr. Lionel Daiches Q.C. Sheriff, Court of Lanarkshire Glasgow, United Kingdom Mr. David Glueck Judge Stockholm, Sweden

ARGENTINA

Sr. Enrique E. Febbraro Especialista en Psicología de la Criminalidad Buenos Aires

Sr. J. Carlos Garcia Basalo Inspector General del Servicio Penitenciario de la Nación Buenos Aires

AUSTRALIA

Dr. Allen Austin Bartholomew Psychiatrist Superintendent Department of Prisons Victoria

Austria

Mr. Max Horrow Professor of Criminal Law University of Graz Mr. Bernhard Tarschys Dozent , Stockholm, Sweden

WORLD UNION OF CATHOLIC WOMEN'S ORGANIZATIONS

M^{11e} Brit Marie Ericsson Avocate Paris, France

WORLD UNION OF ORGANIZATIONS FOR THE SAFEGUARD OF YOUTH

M^{me} Renée A. Cornil Vice-présidente Brussels, Belgium

WORLD YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION

Miss Monica Persson Deaconess and social worker Stockholm, Sweden

(b) Other non-governmental organization

INTERNATIONAL PENAL AND PENITENTIARY FOUNDATION

M. François Clerc Neuchâtel, Suisse
M. Jean Dupréel Secrétaire général Bruxelles, Belgique
M. Björn Kjellin Deuxième Vice-président Malmö, Sweden
M. Thorsten Sellin Premier Vice-président Philadelphia, United States of America

5. Individual participants

Belgium

M. Rodolphe Henri Callewaert Avocat à la Cour d'Appel Brussels M^{11e} Janine Demanck Assistante sociale pénitentiaire Brussels M^{me} Rosette Dubuisson Juge des Enfants Charleroi M. Albert V. M. L. Fettweis Professeur à la Faculté de droit de l'Université de Liège M. Raymond Koeckelenbergh Président, Office de réadaptation sociale, Brussels M. Jan Rommel Vice-Président Tribunal de première instance Kortrijk M^{me} Colette Somerhausen Sociologue, Secrétaire scientifique du Centre d'Étude de la Délinquance juvénile Brussels

- 49 -

M^{**} Anne-Louise Verheven Directeur, Office de Réadaptation sociale Brussels

BOLIVIA

Sr. Manuel Lopez Rey United Nations Expert Ankara, Turkey

Sr. José Medrano Ossio Profesor de Criminología y Derecho Penal Potosí

BRAZIL

Sr. Francisco Bueno Torres Directeur exécutif de l'Institut Latino-américain de Criminologie São Paulo

- Sra. Dolores R. R. Carvalho Instructor of the Department of Legal Medicine, University of São Paulo
- Sr. Tasso Ramos de Carvalho Head of the Department of Legal Medicine Medical School of Ribeirão Prêto São Paulo

Sr. Heleno C. Fragoso Professor of Criminal Law Rio de Janeiro

Sr. Ruy Ribeiro de Moraes Leme Chef de Cabinet du Secrétaire de Justice São Paulo

Sr. Eduardo Theiler Director, Ministry of Justice Rio de Janeiro

CANADA

Mr. Ernest William Allen Executive Secretary, John Howard Society New Brunswick Mrs. M. Gertrude Burgess **Executive Director** John Howard Society of New Brunswick Mrs. Betty Cross Social Worker Toronto Mr. Kenneth G. Howard **Executive Director** John Howard and Elizabeth Fry Society of Manitoba Mrs. Jean Newman Member, John Howard Society Toronto Mr. T. Campbell Newman Q.C.

Barrister Toronto

Mrs. Eva Camac Nickels

Sociologist and Psychologist at the Prison for Women Kingston, Ontario

Rev. Martin W. Pinker Chairman, Minister's Advisory Council for Treatment of Offenders Ontario
Mr. Craig Reid President of International Prisoners' Aid Association and Executive Director, John Howard Society of Alberta
Mr. Frank Roberts Executive Director,

CEYLON

Mr. Don James Rajakaruna Gunawardena Permanent Secretary Ministry of Justice, Colombo

Catholic Rehabilitation Service

Montreal

CHILE

Sr. Héctor Brain Rioja Abogado, Profesor de Derecho Penal Concepción
Sr. Ignacio Garcés Basaure Director Abogado, Defensa Ley de Alcoholes
Sra. Loreley Friedman Director of Criminological Research Center University of Chile, Santiago
Sr. Darwin Haz Vásquez Jefe del Dpto. Legal y de Estudios del Servicio de Prisiones de Chile Santiago
Sr. Juan Manuel Meza Servicio de Prisiones Santiago

COLOMBIA

Sr. Oscar Jiminez Jefe, Sección de Normas y Programas, Division de Menores, Ministerio de Justicia Bogotà

CZECHOSLOVAKIA

Mr. Julius Lehotsky Judge at the Supreme Court Prague Mr. Ladislav Schubert Professor of Criminal Law University of Bratislava

DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO

Mr. William Clifford United Nations Senior Consultant Leopoldville

DENMARK

Mr. Peter Ammundsen Executive Director Danish Welfare Society Copenhagen

50 –

Mrs. Karen Berntsen Mr. Joachim Renneberg Professor mit Lehrauftrag für Strafrecht Director of the "Youth Clinic" Potsdam-Babelsberg Copenhagen Mr. Bent Brier Governor of State Prison Nr. Snede FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY Mrs. Ditte Cecilie Cederstrand Mr. Rudolf Adrian Teacher at the State Prison of Horserød Bezirksgeschäftsführer der Arbeiterwohlfahrt, Bezirk Mittelrhein Mrs. Elers-Nielsen e.V. Psychologist at the State Prison of Vridsløselille Cologne Miss Henny Fogtmann Mr. Johannes Berger Social Worker at the State Prison of Jerup Medizinaldirektor Mr. Preben E. P. R. Freitag Wunstorf Physician, Glostrup Mr. Günter Blau Mr. Svend Hansen Judge Governor of State Prison Falkenstein/Taunus Horserød Mr. Ulrich Bosch Mr. Torben Hvam Judge Deputy Medical Superintendent Cologne Glostrup Mr. Hans Goeppinger Mr. Axel Hye-Knudsen Direktor des Instituts für Kriminologie, Universität Judge Tübingen Kgs. Lyngby Mr. Wolfgang Gottwaldt Mr. Jorgen V. Jepsen Ministerialrat im Bundesjustizministerium, Wiesbaden Administrative Secretary, Scandinavian Research Council for Mr. Willy Grote Criminology Regierungsdirektor im Niedersächsischen Ministerium des Innern Ministry of Social Affairs Hanover Copenhagen Mr. Theodor Grunau Mr. Ib Johannsen Leitender Regierungsdirektor Teacher of Abnormal offenders Siegburg-Mülldorf Glostrup Mr. Heinrich Grützner Mr. Flemming Lerche Chef de la division pour les affaires internationales pénales Deputy Governor Bonn State Prison of Kragskovhede Mr. Hans Güttges Jerun Landgerichtsdirektor beim Landgericht Duisburg Mrs. Britt-Mari Persson Blegvad Moers Research fellow at the University of Copenhagen Mr. Wolfgang Engel Mr. Carsten Rafael University of Heidelberg Governor, State Prison of Kragskovhede, Jerup Mr. Rüdiger Herren Mr. Per Rindom **Deputy Director** Psychologist Institut für Kriminologie und Strafvollzugskunde Forvaringen, Herstedvester Freiburg/Br. Mr. Jan Sachs Mr. Horst Herrmann Medical Director, Horsens Senatsrat Mr. Niels Jakob Sølling **Berlin-Schöneberg Borstal Governor** Mr. Joseph Herzog Kaershovedgård pr. Ikast Ministerialrat im Bundesjustizministerium Mr. Irgens Villaume Bad Godesberg First Assistant Physician, Miss Anita Hörauf Forvaringsanstalt og saerfaengsel i Horsens Sozialarbeiterin, Institut für Kriminologie EASTERN GERMANY Tübingen Mr. Erich Buchholz Mr. Hartmuth Horstkotte Dozent für Strafrecht Landgerichtsrat Berlin-Treptow Bonn Mr. Walter Hennig Mr. Walter Isele Direktor des Instituts für Strafrecht Rechtsanwalt und Notar Friedrich-Schiller-Universität Kassel Jena Mr. Georg Kaiser Referent für Jugendgerichtshilfe und Bewährungshilfe (Sozial-Mr. Hans Hinderer Dozent und Direktor des Instituts für Strafrecht amtmann) Berlin Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg Mr. Günther Kaiser Mr. Walter F. Krutzach Wissenschaftlicher Assistent am Institut für Kriminologie Scientific Assistant in the Ministry of Justice and Lecturer in Tübingen Criminal Law Mr. Peter Keil Berlin Judge at the Criminal Court of Frankfurt/Main - 51 -

Mr. Gerhard Kielwein Professor of Criminology Saarbrücken Mr. Herbert H. Th. Klein Landgerichtspräsident a.D. Limburg an der Lahn Mr. Hermann Koch Bezirksvorsitzender d. Arbeiterwohlfahrt, Bez. Mittelrhein e.V. Düren Mr. Hans Kühler Strafanstaltspfarrer Freiburg/Br. Mr. Willibert Kulp Regierungsdirektor im Sozialministerium Hanover Mr. Erhard Land Leitender Kriminaldirektor, Polizeipräsidium Hamburg Mr. Heinz Leferenz Direktor des Instituts für Kriminologie der Universität Heidelberg Mr. Philipp Lersch Direktor d. Psycholog. Instituts der Universität Munich Mr. Hans Lüdtke Amtsgerichtsrat Aachen Mr. Hellmuth Mayer Professor of Criminal Law and Criminology at the University of Kiel Mr. Armand Mergen Professor of Criminology at the University of Mainz Mr. Heinz Meyer-Velde Prison Director Kassel Mr. Wolf Middendorff Judge Freiburg/Br. Mr. Walter Nitsche Regierungsdirektor Munich Mr. Peter Noll Professor of Penal Law and Criminology at Mainz University Mr. Karl Panzer Judge Cologne Mr. Klemens Potthoff Staatsanwalt und Präsident des "Bundeshilfswerk für Straffällige ' Bonn Mr. Stephan Ouensel Wissenschaftl, Assistent Ebnet/Wittental Msgr. Carl Josef Richter Generalsekretär des Sozialdienstes Katholischer Männer Düsseldorf Mr. Karl-Heinz Schmidt Probation officer Darmstadt Mr. Hans Joachim Schneider Assessor Freiburg i. Br.-Littenweiler Mr. Albert Scholl Direktor, Landeswohlfahrtswerk für Baden-Württemberg Stuttgart

Mr. Helmut Schulenberger **Probation Officer** Berlin Mr. Georg Schulz Director of Criminal Police Department of Lower Saxony Hanover-Kleefeld Mrs. Gertie Siemsen Regierungsrätin Berlin Mr. Martin C. Skambraks Evangelischer Pfarrer an der Jugendstrafanstalt Rockenberg Oberhessen Mr. John Michael Steiner Visiting Assistant Professor of Sociology Freiburg i. Br. Mr. Richard Sturm Ministerialrat im Bundesjustizministerium Вопп Mr. Hans-Georg Voelkel Regierungsdirektor beim Strafvollzugsamt Berlin Mr. Heinz von der Linden Rechtsanwalt und Notar Mülheim - Ruhr Mr. Alfons Wahl Ministerialrat im Bundesjustizministerium Bonn Mr. G. Weisenbach **Regierungs-Medizinalrat** Aachen Mr. August Wimmer Senatspräsident Bonn Miss Gisela Winkler Psychologist Freiburg/Br. Mr. Georg W. Wolff Landgerichtsrat Bremen FINLAND Mr. Henrik Grönqvist Legislative Counsellor Ministry of Justice Helsinki Mr. Kaarlo Tapani Hämäläinen **Probation Officer** Prison Association Helsinki Mr. Lauri Kustaa Holopainen Warden of the Central Prison Konnunsuo Mr. Hannu Paavo Elias Kiuru Secretary of Division Home Office, Kulosaari Mr. Karl-Johan Lång Director of Prison Staff Training School Helsinki

- Mrs. Ulla Britt Lång Assistant at the Faculty of Law University of Helsinki Mr. Frans-Carl Mahlberg Chief of the Bureau of Prison Work
- Helsinki Mr. Jouko Tapio Nevalainen Chief Inspector of Care of Prisoners Helsinki

- 52 -

Miss Ann-Lis Österholm Prison Administration Ministry of Justice, Helsinki Mr. Rajendra Saran Agarwal Mr. Bo Palmgren Advocate, High Court, Allahabad Professor of Criminal Law and Legal Procedure Mr. Syed Ali Baquer Helsinki Welfare Officer, New Delhi Mr. Hannes Walin Mr. Premnarayan Bhargava Superintendent of Probation Service Executive Councillor of Uttar Pradesh Crime Prevention Society, Lucknow Helsinki Mr. B. K. Bhattacharva Senior Advocate, Supreme Court of India FRANCE New Delhi Mr. Mrinmava Choudhuri M^{me} Madeleine Anselmann Assistant Director Déléguée à la Protection de l'Enfance Central Bureau of Correctional Services Strasbourg-Neudorf Jamshedpur M. Jean-Paul Batelier Mr. J. J. Panakal Éducateur. Head, Department of Criminology and Corrections Association des Centres Familiaux de Jeunes Tata Institute of Social Sciences Paris Bombay Mrs. Patricia Bishop Mr. V. N. Rajan Strasbourg Deputy Inspector General of Police M¹¹ Sylvie Boisson Trivandrum, Kerala State Assistante sociale Mr. Umesh Chandra Rastogi Chef régionale au Ministère de la Justice Executive Councillor and Secretary of the District Unit, Uttar Marseille Pradesh Crime Prevention Society, Kanpur M. Noureddine Kassab Mr. Radhanath Rath Directeur-Adjoint du Club de Prévention dit « Les Planètes » Head of the Post-Graduate Department of Psychology Paris Utkal University, M. Richard Michaud Bhubaneswar, Orissa State Psychiatre, Centre psychiatrique de Sainte-Anne Mr. Suresh Chandra Sengupta Paris Joint Secretary to Government Department of Social Security M. E. J. M. Mottini Mr. Paripurnanand Varma Avocat à la Cour de Paris President, All-India Crime Prevention Society, Kanpur, Uttar M. D. G. M. Yzerman Pradesh **Commissaire** Principal Direction de la Sûreté Nationale à Paris

INDONESIA

Secretary of the Foundation for the Suppression of Prostitution and Protection of Erring Women Vice-Chairman of the H.Q. of Pra Juwana Kebajoran Baru

IRAN

Mrs. Safiyeh Firouz Vice-Chairman Society for the Protection of Prisoners Teheran

Mrs. Suhariah Sutarman

IRAQ

Mr. Hameed Saaid Legal Adviser, Ministry of Justice Baghdad

- 53 -

IRELAND

Rev. Richard S. E. Hinde United Council of Christian Churches and Religious Communions in Ireland Dublin

Reykjavik

GREECE

M. Desmosthene Mirasyezis Avocat au Barreau d'Athènes et à la Cour de Cassation Athens Mr. George Nicodotis Director of Criminological Research Center and President of Organization for Prevention of Crime Athens M^{me} Aglaia Tsitsoura Fonctionnaire au Conseil de l'Europe (Division des Problèmes

criminels) Strasbourg

M. Constantin Vouyoucas Professeur Agrégé de Droit Pénal Université de Thessaloniki M. Jacques Zancarolas

Directeur de l'Administration pénitentiaire Ministère de la Justice Athens

ICELAND

Mr. Oscar Clausen Member of International Prisoners' Aid Association INDIA

ISRAEL

Mr. Zvi Berinson Justice, Supreme Court Jerusalem
Mr. Israel Drapkin Professor of Criminology and Director, Institute of Criminology Jerusalem

Mr. Shlomo Shoham Director, Institute of Criminology Bar-Ilan University Ramat-Gan

ITALY

Miss Giovanna Ambrosini Profesora adjunta Universidad de Roma Mr. Andrea Arata Assistant à la chaire d'anthropologie criminelle de l'Université de Gênes Mrs. Piera Bevilacqua Assistante, Centre criminologique de la chaire d'anthropologie criminelle de l'Université de Gênes Mrs. Lydia Bolla Juge assesseur Tribunal des Enfants Rome Dr. Benigno Di Tullio Directeur, Institut d'Anthropologie criminelle Université de Rome Dr. Franco Ferracuti Director, Criminology Program, Social Science Research Center, University of Puerto Rico Mr. Riad Khani Institute of Criminology Rome University Mr. Alfonso Lanzetta Assistente ordinario di diritto penale Università di Siena Mr. Oreste Migiardi Consigliere di appello a riposo Messina Mrs. Bianca Renzi Giurista, Assistente sociale Associazione Rinascita Sociale Milano Mr. Mamoun Salama Assistant universitaire de droit pénal Rome Mr. Raimondo Sinagra Sostituto Procuratore della Repubblica a Milano Mr. Giuliano Vassalli Professeur ordinaire de Droit Pénal à l'Université de Rome

JAPAN

Mr. Yuji Inoue Assistant Professor Kyushu University Mr. Tadashi Morishita Professor Okayama University Mr. Keats Ozawa United Nations Fellow Nerimaku Mr. Masahiko Sato Judge of the Tokyo Family Court

Kenya

Mr. Eliazarus Odhiambo Welfare Office Kenya Government Prison, Kisumu

LEBANON

M. Mustapha El Aougi Professeur de Criminologie à l'Université libanaise Beirut

LIBYA

 M. Hassan Sadek Elmarsafawi Professeur à la Faculté de Droit Benghazi
 M^{me} Safia Osman Avocate Benghazi

MALTA

Professor Edwin Busuttil
Head of the Department of Public Law at the Royal University of Malta, Sliema
Professor John Joseph Cremona
Crown Advocate-General and Head of the Department of Criminal Law

Royal University of Malta, Sliema

MEXICO

 Sr. Luis Garrido
 Presidente de la Academia Mexicana de Ciencias Penales, Mexico, D.F.
 Sr. Alfonso Quiroz Cuaron

Profesor de Medicina Forense y de Criminología en la Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México

Morocco

M. Tafik Shawi Conseiller juridique du Parlement du Maroc, Rabat

NETHERLANDS

Mr. Johann Anton Adler Honorary Reporter of Interpol The Hague Mr. Edward Brongersma

Collaborateur scientifique de l'Institut Criminologique de l'Université Nationale d'Utrecht

Mr. Cornelis Bronkhorst Professor in Criminal Law and Criminology University of Tilburg

- 54 -

Mr. Wouter Buikhuisen Research Psychologist Netherlands Institute for Preventive Medicine, Leiden
Mr. Huip J. Heyboer Superintendent of Police Heerlen
Dr. Pieter J. Plomp Psychologist of the Prisons and Detention Houses of Haarlem and Alkmaar
Miss Louise ter Haar Police Inspector The Hague
Mr. Willem Theodoor Wethmar Head, Section of Regime Affairs Prison Administration

NIGERIA

Dr. Tolani Asuni Medical Superintendent Aro Hospital. Abeokuta Mr. Alan Milner Professor of Law Institute of Administration Zaria

Ministry of Justice, The Hague

NORWAY

Mr. Hans Harstad Headmaster, Horten Mr. Bergsvein Hov Prison Governor, Oslo Mr. Ragnar Kolstad Secretary General Norges Vernesamband, Oslo Mr. Knut Nordal Social Worker, Oslo

PERU

Mr. Hector Tanaka Architect, Ministry of Justice Lima

Mr. Enrique Villasana Zevallos Jefe de la Division de Ingeniera del Ministerio de Justicia, Lima

PHILIPPINES

Mr. Pedro P. Solis Chief, Crime Prevention Research Division, National Bureau of Investigation, Manila

POLAND

.

Mr. Pawel Horoszowski Professor at the University of Warsaw

Mr. Edward Nevmark

Conseiller Juridique,

Juge Populaire à la Haute Cour de Varsovie

M^{me} Stefania-Matylda Neymark-Małek

Médecin-spécialiste, Assistante à l'Académie de Médecine Łodz

Mr. Florian Uryzaj

Deuxième Secrétaire de l'Ambassade de Pologne à Stockholm

- 55 -

REPUBLIC OF KOREA

Mr. Wan Joong Kim Chairman of Civil Rehabilitation Agency, Ministry of Justice Seoul

Mr. Soon Young Kwon

Attorney Seoul

Mr. Joon Ik Park

Chief of Juvenile Division Ministry of Justice, Seoul

REPUBLIC OF VIET-NAM

M. Tran-Van-Liem Avocat à la Cour, Chargé de Cours à la Faculté de Droit Saigon

SAUDI ARABIA

M. Faïçal Assali Conseiller juridique au Ministère de l'Intérieur, Jeddah

SPAIN

Sr. Antonio Beristain Impiña Profesor de Derecho Penal Universidad de Deusto, Bilbao Sr. Francisco Bueno Arus Letrado del Ministerio de Justicia Madrid Sr. Antonio Carretero-Pérez Juez de Instrucción Torrente, Valencia Sr. Justo Diaz Villasante Juez, Director del Seminario de la Infancia y la Juventud Inadaptadas Madrid Sr. Fernando Luis Fernandez-Blanco Presidente del Tribunal de Menores de Avila Sr. Francisco Jimenez Magistrado Militar Palma de Mallorca Sr. Juan Moya Monreal Juez Comarcal Silla, Valencia Sr. José Maria Rodriguez Devesa Catedrático de Derecho Penal, Coronel Auditor Instituto Francisco de Vitoria Sr. José-Antonio Sainz-Cantero Profesor Adjunto de Derecho Penal Universidad de Granada Sr. Fernando Serrano Misas Fiscal, Juzgado Especial Vagos y Maleantes de Barcelona Sr. Jorge Xifra-Heras Director del Instituto de Ciencias Sociales, Barcelona

SOUTH AFRICA

Miss Carol Low Social Worker Durban

SWEDEN

Mr. Sixten Åborg **Psychiatrist** Södertälje Mr. Rolf Adrell Psychologist Gudhem Mr. Sven Ahnsjö Professor Bromma Mr. Nils Altahr-Cederberg Probation Officer Falun Mrs. Margit Althin Solicitor Stockholm Mr. Ants Anderson Physician, Stockholm Mr. Nils Bejerot Social Psychiatrist Hägersten Mrs. Sonja Berg von Linde Assistant Head of Division to the Swedish Correctional Administration, Stockholm Mrs. Elisabeth Björkquist Assistant of Treatment at the Örebro Penal Institute Örebro Mr. Michael Bohman Child Psychiatrist Stockholm Mr. Lars Bolin Headmaster, Bärby Miss Ulla Bondeson Graduate Studient, Lund Miss Elsa Christensson Assistant, Fagersta Mr. Olof Darell District Judge, Piteå Miss Ann-Marie Eek Judge, Stockholm Mrs. Anna-Lisa Ek Principal Probation Officer Stockholm Mrs. Ethel Ekelin Assistant Psychologist Västerås Mr. Ingmar Eklöf Assistant Head Physician Stockholm Mrs. Gudrun Elfverson Medical Social Worker Stockholm Mrs. Kerstin Elmhorn Researcher, Hägersten Mr. Tage Evers Permanent Under-Secretary of State Stockholm Mr. John Falkenberg Psychologist, Solna Mrs. Ethel Florén-Winther Member of the Child Welfare Committee in Stockholm Älvsjö Mr. Bertil Forssell Head of Division, The National Swedish Correctional Administration Lidingö

Mr. Hjalmar Friberg Chief Superintendent at the National Police Board Stockholm Mr. Per-Erik Fries Chief Medical Officer Stockholm Miss Märta Gabrielson Probation Officer Stockholm Mr. Christer Gemzell District Judge Mariestad Mr. Miron Giuroiu Assistant Prison Governor Stockholm Mr. José Gonzalez First Physician Stockholm Mr. Kurt Gordan Psychologist Stockholm Mr. Karl-Erik Granath Director of Child and Youth Welfare Services Stockholm Mr. Thord Granger District Judge, Vara Mr. Lennart Groll Assistant Judge, Svea Court of Appeal Saltsjö-Duvnäs Mr. Karl Grunewald General Inspector, Stockholm Mrs. Anna-Greta Gustafson Superintendent, Child Welfare Committee of Stockholm Mr. Ingvar Gustafsson Police-Inspector Stockholm Miss Birgitta Hahn Attorney, Göteborg Mrs. Barbro Hall-Mikaelsson Prison Governor, Frövi Miss Ulla Hård af Segerstad Protective Consultant Assistant Karlskrona Mr. Hans Hartelius Head Psychiatric Clinic Kristianstad Mr. Tord Hasselberg Superintendent of Roxtuna Linköping Mrs. Maria Heller Chief Psychiatrist, Child Guidance Clinic Solna Mr. Gösta Hellgren Governor of Prison Mariestad Mr. Sven-Eric Henricson Head of Section National Board of Education Stockholm Mrs. Merit Hertzman-Ericsson Psychologist, Child Guidance Clinic Saltsjöbaden Mr. Bengt Herulf Psychiatrist, Child Guidance Clinic Lidingö Mrs. Ingrid Heyman Member of the Child Welfare Committee of Stockholm

- 56 -

Mr. Sven Hjelmskog Social Worker, Bromma Mrs. Karin Hogfors Layman Judge, Malmö Mr. Ivar Höjer Director, Gudhem Mr. Sten Holmberg Secretary of a Government Committee, Danderyd Mr. Yngve Holmstedt Head Physician Stockholm Miss Britta Holmström Psychologist at Child Guidance Clinic, Solna Mr. Erik Husmark Doctor of Medicine, Stockholm Mr. Gunnar Inghe Professor of Social Medicine Caroline Institute, Bromma Mr. Biwe Janhager Prison Governor, Långban Mr. Carl-Gunnar Janson Assistant Professor, Farsta Mr. Nils Jareborg Bachelor of Law Research Stipendiate, Lund Mr. Arne Johnson Dortor, Hälsingborg Mr. Karl-Birger Jonasson School Psychologist, Täby Miss Ann-Marie Jonsson Assistant Physician at Rättspsykiatriska kliniken Stockholm Mr Gustav Jonsson Head Psychiatrist at Barnbyn Skå Mr. Bertil Junel Head of Division, Stockholm Mr. Allan Källoff Judge, Ulricehamn Mrs. Birgit Kihlblom Head Physician, Stockholm Mr. Hans Klette Assistant, Lund Mr. Olof Kolmodin Psychologist, Höganäs Mrs. Viveka Lagercrantz Childpsychiatrist, Västerås Mr. Ossian Larnstedt Principal Assistant Secretary Stockholm Mr. Sven Larsson Psychologist at the National Correctional Administration Bromma Miss Ulla Larsson First Secretary, Ministry of Justice Bromma Mr. Ernst Leche Lord Justice of District Court Rättvik Mrs. Ulla Liljequist First Secretary at the National Swedish Correctional Administration Stockholm Mr. Sten Lilliehöök Head of Section, Vällingby Mr. Erik Lindberg Prison Governor, Östra Husby

Mr. Folke Lindberg Prison Governor, Karlstad Mr. Bo Lindsten Judge, Södertälje Mrs. Karin Lindström-Wretblad Social Worker, Stockholm Mr. Ragnar Linner Director of Administration Child Welfare Committee of Stockholm Mr. Ingemar Lundkvist Assistant Head of Division Stockholm Mrs. Margareta Machl Psychologist, Västerås Mr. Gunnar Marnell Prison Governor, Södertälje Mrs. Ingrid Mattsson-Gavatin Barrister, Stockholm Mrs. Henry Mjönes **Chief Psychiatrist** Assistant Professor, Bromma Mr. Göte Nilsson Assistant Head of Section Stockholm Miss Monica Nordh Assistant, Fagersta Mr. Åke Nordin Prison Governor, Rekarne Mr. Lars Nyman Social Worker, New York, USA Mr. Ola Nyquist Assistant Professor of Criminal Law, Uppsala Mr. Gunnar Öberg Psychologist, Vyggbyholm Mr. Ivan Odhammar Assistant Judge, Lidingö Miss Carin Olofsson Assistant Judge, County Court Stockholm Mrs. Anna-Lisa Önnersten Psychologist, Västerås Mr. Walter Parviainen Forensic Psychiatrist Stockholm Miss Anita Persson Probation Officer, Luleå Mr. Gustaf Persson District Judge, Arvika Mr. Stig Radhe Municipal Office Manager, Stockholm Mr. Bengt Rehnström Prosecutor, Member of the Child Welfare Committee of Stockholm Mr. Erik Reinius Chief Psychiatrist, Danderyd Mr. Sven Rengby Member of the Scandinavian Research Council on Criminology Näsbypark Mr. Ingemar Rexed Assistant Judge at the Court of Appeal in Stockholm Uppsala Mr. Gösta Ringius Director of Correctional Region Kumla Mr. Stig Rönnblad Civil Servant at Local Government Office, Falun

- 57 -

Mr. Per Ryding SWITZERLAND Judge of Appeal, Malmö Mr. Henry Sälde Dr. Jürg Im Obersteg Head of the Mental Division Directeur de l'Institut de Médecine légale de l'Université de Bâle National Board of Health, Ulleråker M. Christian Robert Mr. Torkel Scholander Représentant de la Société Genevoise des Détenus Libérés, Associate Professor, Head of the Department of Child Psychiatry Genève Linköping Mr. Fritz Serenander Superintendent of the Western Group UGANDA Göteborg Mr. Gerhard Simson Counsellor, Ministry of Justice Mr. Raphael Ssebuggwawo Lidingö Judge Designate Mr. Benkt Sjöberg Mr. R. E. S. Tanner Chairman, East African Institute of Social Research, Kampala First Assistant at Lövstaskolan Vagnhärad Mrs. Ingrid Söderberg Physician Superintendent for Open Care at the Mental Hospital, UNITED ARAB REPUBLIC Ryhov, Jönköping Mr. Yngve Söderlund Judge in the Supreme Court Dr. Badr-El-Din Ali Stockholm Assistant Professor of Sociology Mr. Hugo Stargård Ain Shams University, Cairo Headmaster, Drottningholm Mr. Yosr Anwar Ali Mrs. Christina Steen-Sundberg Lecturer in Criminal Sciences Public Prosecutor, Stockholm University of Assiut Mr. Karl-Henrik Ström Mr. Ahmed Elgaaly First Assistant Governor Psychiatrist Vällingby Cairo Mr. Samir El-Ganzoury Mrs. Lena Ström Research Worker at the National Center of Criminology, Cairo Probation Officer, Stockholm Mr. Fathy El-Rashidi Mr. Carl-Edvard Sturkell Professor at the Police Academy Chief of Law Division. Cairo Swedish Welfare Board, Stockholm Mr. Saied Ewies Mr. Bertil Sundin Head of Crime and Juvenile Delinquency Research Unit Psychologist, Södertälje National Centre for Social and Criminological Research, Cairo Miss Britta Sundström Mr. Alv Hassan Fahmy Assistant Physician, Stockholm Research worker, National Centre for Sociological Research and Mrs. Ulla Thedeen Criminology, Cairo Judge, Eskilstuna Mr. Abdelaziz Fathelbab Mr. Gunnar Thurén Director, Social Defence Section Director of Correctional Region Ministry of Social Affairs, Cairo Malmö M. Abdel-Ahad Gamal El Dine Mr. Harry Tibbling Chargé de Cours à l'Université Ain-Chams, Cairo Head of Section, Stockholm Mr. Saad Nassar Mr. Karl-Erik Törnqvist Legal Adviser, Ministry of Justice Assistant Physician Cairo Stockholm-Enskede Mrs. Amal Abdel-Rehim Osman Mr. Werner Walensky Member of the National Centre for Social and Criminological Scientist, Doctor of Law Research Göteborg Cairo Mrs Gunnel Wallman M. Aly A. Rached Social Worker, Stocksund Professeur de droit criminel à l'Université Ain-Chams, Cairo Mr. Johan Wellander Mr. Mahmoud Saheb Deputy Justice of the District Court of Sollentuna and Färentuna President of Cairo Association for After-Care of Prisoners, Cairo Bromma M. Ahmed Fathi Sorour Mrs. Inger Westmark Professeur de droit pénal à l'Université du Caire Psychologist, Stockholm M. El Sayed Yassin El Sayed Mr. Daniel Wiklund Research Worker, National Centre for Social and Criminological Assistant Head of Social Welfare Department, Stockholm Research Mr. Bertil Wikström Cairo Physician, Strömsund Mr. Mohamed Zeid Miss Ester Wikström Member of National Centre of Social and Criminological Research, Social Inspector at the Child Welfare Committee of Stockholm Cairo

- 58 -

UNITED KINGDOM

Mr. William Addison Chairman, Treatment of Offenders Committee Magistrates' Association of England and Wales Loughton, Essex Miss Grace Eileen Affleck Senior Probation Officer Crewe, Cheshire Rev. John Russell Anderson Chaplain, H.M. Prison, Glasgow Mr. Michael Argyle Lecturer in Social Psychology Oxford University Rev. Martin Bryant Atkinson Welfare Officer, The Polytechnic London Mrs. Mary Backhouse Assistant Governor, H.M. Prison Holloway, London Mr. Ranulph R. M. Bacon Assistant Commissioner (Crime) of the Metropolis London Mrs. Nancy Winifred Banks Social Worker Ashford Remand Centre, Middlesex Mrs. Gertrude Muriel Fennell Bishop Member of the English Magistrates Association Council Glenfield, Leicester Mr. Michael Harvey Bracken Probation Officer, London Mr. Anthony John Edward Brennan Secretary, Royal Commission on the Penal System in England and Wales London Miss Lisbeth Briess Research Psychologist Nathan and Adolphe Haendler Trust London Mr. Kenneth Brill Honorary Secretary Association of Children's Officers London Mrs. Irene Broadhead Member of Howard League Kidderminster, Worcs. Mr. John Lewis Burns Superintendent, Stamford House Remand Home and Classifying Centre London Mrs. Nancy Burton Lecturer in Social Administration Bristol College of Science and Technology Rev. Alexander Cameron Chaplain to H.M. Borstal Polmont Mrs. Winifred Elizabeth Cavenagh Lecturer in Criminology Social Study Department of the University of Birmingham Miss Pauline Claisse Secretary to the Church of England Committee for Liaison with the Social Services, London Dr. Reginald Cockett Principal Psychologist Home Office Prison Department London

Mrs. Joan Doris Cole Assistant Governor Holloway Prison, London Miss Peggy Conway Head of the Prison Welfare Department Women's Voluntary Service London Miss Mary Couper Lecturer in Sociology Bristol College of Science and Technology Mrs. Jean Craig Councillor and Justice of the Peace for the City of Glasgow Mr. William John Craig Children's Officer Liverpool Mr. William H. Craike **Consultant Psychiatrist** Redhill, Surrey Mrs. Florence K. Cranleigh-Swash Lay Magistrate Dulwich Village, London Rt. Rev. Thomas Craske **Bishop** (Assistant) London Mrs. Flora Daiches Social Worker, Edinburgh Rev. Donald Davidson Convenor, Social and Moral Welfare Board, Church of Scotland Edinburgh Mrs. Margaret B. Davidson Member of Secretary of State's Advisory Council on the Treatment of the Offender Edinburgh Mr. William John Davies Solicitor Windlesham, Surrey Mr. Franck Dawtry General Secretary National Association of Probation Officers London Mrs. Mary Dovey Child Care Officer Wallington, Surrey Miss Frances Margaret Drake Children's Officer Northamptonshire County Council Mrs. Hartie Nellie Eastburn Justice of the Peace Southampton Mrs. Joan Isobel Edmondson Justice of the Peace Loughton, Essex Mr. Derek William Elliott Professor of Law, The University Newcastle-upon-Tyne Miss Lucy Ellison Probation Officer, Norwich Mrs. R. Kent Evans Prison Visitor and Executive Committee Member of the National Association of Prison Visitors Cardiff Mr. Robert Maule Ffinch Governor, H.M. Prison Stafford Mr. Colin Fishwick **Probation Officer**

- 59 -

Nottingham

Mr. Arthur Desmond Fitz-Gibbon Secretary and Organiser of the Elstree and District Citizens' Advice Bureau, Hertfordshire Mrs. Helen Elizabeth Forbes Principal, Prison Department Home Office, London Dr. Trevor Charles Gibbens Reader in Forensic Psychiatry London University Dr. John Morel Gibbs Psychologist, Lecturer on Applied Social Studies Courses University College, Cardiff Mr. Gerald H. Gordon Head, Department of Criminology Edinburgh University Mr. David Grav Chief Constable Stirling Mr. Arnold John Gregory Prison Department Home Office, London Mrs. Anna Lloyd Grieves Solicitor of the Supreme Court Mr. Joseph Arthur Grieves Queen's Counsel, Deputy Chairman of Greater London (Middlesex) Quarter Sessions London Miss Marjorie Travers Hankin Magistrate **Birmingham** Mr. Charles Lewis Hannam Lecturer in Education University of Bristol Rev. Augustine Harris Senior Roman Catholic Priest Prison Department, Home Office London Mr. Thomas Forrest Henshilwood Principal Probation Officer Glasgow Rev. Roy Herbert Secretary Church of England Youth Council London Mr. Reginald William Hewitt Vice Chairman, National Association of Prison Visitors Stockport, Cheshire Mr. David George Hewlings Principal, H.M. Prison Service Staff College Wakefield, Yorkshire Mr. Roger Grahame Hood Lecturer in Social Administration University of Durham Mr. Frederick Victor Jarvis Principal Probation Officer Stoneygate, Leicester Miss Claris Freeman Jayne Inspector, Home Office Children's Department London Miss Alice C. Johnston Social Services Administrator Women's Voluntary Service London Mr. Howard Jones Reader in Sociology Keele University

Miss Mary Joynson Assistant Children's Officer Somerset County Council Mr. David Robert Keir Chief Probation Officer Motherwell Miss Daphne R. F. Kellv Child Care Officer County Borough of Croydon Miss Joan F. S. King Senior Assistant in Research Institute of Criminology Cambridge Miss Winifred Kirk **Probation Officer** Kendal, Westmorland Rev. J. Kenneth Lawton Secretary, Social Responsibility Department British Council of Churches London Mrs. Raya Levin Solicitor, After-care Officer London Mr. Frank McNair Liesching Warden H.M. Detention Centre Richmond, Surrey Mr. Benedict Lorraine Psychologist Stamford House Remand Home London Mr. George Maclean Assistant Chief Constable Glasgow Mr. Harold John Marchant Project Director Youth Development Trust Manchester Mrs. Joan Mary Marris Magistrate Edgbaston, Birmingham Mr. John David McClean Lecturer in Law University of Sheffield Mr. I. F. McDonald Lecturer in Criminal Law and Criminology University of Edinburgh Mrs. Rosalind Messenger Member of Board of Visitors H.M. Prison, Blundeston, Suffolk Dr. Derek H. Miller **Consultant** Psychiatrist Adolescent Unit Tavistock Clinic, London Mr. Eric Moonman Chairman, London Borough of Tower Hamlets, Children's Committee London Rt. Rev. Robert Cecil Mortimer Bishop of Exeter Mr. Alec Andrew Muir Chief Constable Durham Mr. Nial Osborough Lecturer in Law Queen's University, Belfast

- 60 -

Mr. James Harry Parish Member, Board of Managers Senior Boys Approved School Manchester Mr. John Richard Parker Law Faculty, University of Southampton Mr. Adrian Robert Poole Lecturer in Criminology University of Exeter Mr. Michael John Power Social Scientist Medical Research Council London Professor Leon Radzinowicz Director, Cambridge Institute of Criminology Member, Royal Commission on the Penal Systems of Great **Britain** Chairman, Scientific Committee of the Council of Europe for the Study of Crime Problems Rev. Leslie Llovd Rees Chaplain General of Prisons London Mrs. Dorothy Richardson Prison Welfare Officer Women's Prison, Cheshire Mr. Geoffrey Robson Magistrate Stoke-on-Trent Mr. Gordon Rose Senior Lecturer in Social Administration Manchester University Mr. R. Arnold Rosen Lecturer in Law London Dr. Patrick Ross Medical Officer, H.M. Borstal Feltham, Middlesex Miss Elsie Rowland **Probation Officer** Blackpool, Lancashire Mr. Hugh Sanders Principal Probation Officer Sheffield Miss Eve Saville General Secretary Institute for the Study and Treatment of Delinquency London Mrs. Irene Frances Say County J.P. and Member of Board of Visitors, Maidstone **Regional Training Prison** Mr. Leslie Sebba Assistant Research Officer Home Office Research Unit, London Mr. Maurice Shinwell Senior Magistrate Corporation of Glasgow Miss Dorothy Muriel Shipman Member Howard League for Penal Reform London Mr. Joseph Simpson Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis London Mr. James Kehinde Sofidiya Postgraduate research student London

Mr. J. A. W. Somerville Secretary, Scottish Association of Discharged Prisoners' Aid Societies, Edinburgh Mr. Richard Sparks Lecturer in Law Birmingham University Dr. Dorothy Elizabeth Speed Medical Officer, H.M. Prison Holloway, London Mrs. Frances Clare Spurgin Chairman, Overseas Comm. Magistrates Association Moreton-in-Marsh, Gloucester Mr. Eric Stockdale Barrister, London Miss Jeanne Taylor Social Caseworker Senior Boys' Approved School Welwyn Garden City Mr. Robert Richardson Taylor Queen's Counsel, Edinburgh Miss Pamela Patricia Thayer Inspector, Children's Department Home Office, London Mr. Eric Arthur Towndrow Governor, Bludeston Prison Mr. Neville Vincent Secretary to the Central Council of Probation Committees for England and Wales London Mr. Nigel Walker Reader in Criminology University of Oxford Mrs. Eliot Warburton Chairman, London Juvenile Court Member of the Royal Commission on Penal Reform (England) London Dr. Iestyn Morgan Watkin County Medical Officer of Health and Principal School Medical Officer Aberystwyth Mrs. Margaret Auriol Watkin Magistrate, Lecturer at University of Wales Abervstwyth Mr. Austin Williams Welfare Officer and Social Worker London Mrs. Joyce Egersis Williams Inspector of Police Georgetown, British Guiana Mr. Ian Douglas Willock Professor of Jurisprudence University of St. Andrews Dundee Mrs. N. Rosemary Woodward ·Vice-President National Association of Prison Visitors Walsall, Staffordshire Mr. Martin Wright Secretary and Librarian Institute of Criminology Cambridge UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Dr. David Abrahamsen

Practicing Psychiatrist and Psychoanalyst Consultant, Department of Mental Hygiene State of New York

- 61 -

Mr. Benedict S. Alper Research Criminologist Brookline, Mass. Mrs. Mary Stevens Baird Member, Executive Committee of the Correctional Association of New York Bernardsville, New Jersey Mr. John G. Baker President, Wisconsin Service Association, Milwaukee Mrs. John W. Ballantine Member, Executive Committee of the Correctional Association of New York Princeton, New Jersey Mr. David L. Bazelon Chief Judge, U.S. Court of Appeals Washington, D.C. Miss Elizabeth Benjamin Parole Agent Playa del Rey, California Mr. Lewis Bernstein Professor of Psychology Marguette University School of Medicine Milwaukee, Wisconsin Mrs. Rosalyn S. Bernstein Lecturer, School of Social Work University of Wisconsin Milwaukee Mr. George Beto Director, Texas Department of Corrections, Huntsville Mrs. Evelyn Beveridge Member of John Howard Association of Hawaii Dr. Howard T. Blane Associate Psychologist Massachusetts General Hospital Roston Mr. Robert James Brooks Coordinator, International Studies Program, Center for the Study of Crime, Delinquency and Corrections Southern Illinois University, Carbondale Mrs. Beatrice Burstein Judge of the District Court of Nassau County Long Island, New York Mr. Kenneth S. Carpenter Chief. Technical Aid Branch Juvenile Delinquency Service Dept. of Health, Education and Welfare Washington, D.C. Mrs. Margery Carpenter Welfare Consultant National Lutheran Council Washington, D.C. Mr. Gene E. Carte Postgraduate student in rehabilitation counselling Columbia University, New York Mr. Edward R. Cass Vice Chairman, N.Y. State Commission of Correction President Emeritus, American Correctional Association New York Mr. Robert W. Cassidy Consultant on Correctional Services Columbus, Ohio Mr. Jordan T. Cavan Professor Emeritus of Education Rockford College DeKalb, Illinois Mrs. Ruth Shonle Cavan Visiting Professor of Sociology Northern Illinois University

Dr. Morris E. Chafetz Assistant Professor of Psychiatry Harvard Medical School Boston, Mass. Mr. Melber Chambers President, the Correctional Association of New York Mr. Rex B. Christensen Director, Delinquency Prevention Service Office Los Angeles County Probation Department, California Mr. Marshall B. Clinard Professor of Sociology University of Wisconsin Mr. John P. Conrad Chief of Research, California Department of Corrections Sacramento Mrs. Bette-Jane Cook President, Federation of Community Coordinating Councils Los Angeles County Mr. Frederick D. Copeland Modus Operandi Analyst Sacramento, California Mrs. Lucille D. Copeland Teacher Sacramento, California Mr. Ben W. Cunningham Chief Inspector, Security Division American Express Company, New York Mr. Mario D'Angeli Chairman, Department of Social Welfare San Francisco State College California Miss K. Imogene Dean Graduate Student of Criminology Florida State University Tallahassee Mr. Rafael de Jesus Toro Director, Social Science Research Center University of Puerto Rico Mr. Leon E. De Kalb Supervising U.S. Probation and Parole Officer New York Mr. Philip Deutsch Senior Youth Parole Worker Elmhurst, New York Mrs. Barbara Mary De Vault **Clinical Psychologist** Berkeley, California Rev. John V. Driscoll Dean, Boston College School of Social Work Massachusetts Mr. Clinton T. Duffy Vice-President, American League to Abolish Capital Punishment Marin County, California Mr. Christopher F. Edley Program Associate Ford Foundation, New York Mr. Albert Elias Superintendent. Bordentown Reformatory New Jersev Mr. Ralph W. England Professor of Sociology University of Rhode Island Kingston Mr. Carl B. Erickson Director of Probation Juvenile Court Seattle, Washington

- 62 -

Mr. Byron E. Eshelman Protestant Chaplain San Quentin, California Mr. Francisco Espinosa First Assistant Attorney General San Juan, Puerto Rico Dr. Richard M. Esser Associate Clinical Director Northside Center for Child Development New York, NY. Mr. George H. Finck Director Juvenile Welfare Board of Pinellas County, Florida Mr. Michael Fooner Chairman, Research Committee Association for Applied Psychoanalysis, New York, N.Y. Dr. Joel Fort United Nations Social Affairs Officer El Cerrito, California Mr. Erwin France Director, Division of Community Organization Chicago Commission on Youth Welfare Illinois Mr. Daniel B. Gale Architect specializing in correctional work St. Louis, Missouri Mr. Gilbert Geis Professor of Sociology California State College Los Angeles Mr. Daniel Glaser Professor of Sociology University of Illinois Mrs. Eleanor T. Glueck Research Associate in Criminology Harvard Law School Cambridge, Mass. Mr. Sheldon Glueck Roscoe Pound Professor of Law, Emeritus, Harvard Law School Cambridge, Mass. Mr. Donald H. Goff **General Secretary** Correctional Association of Rutgers University New York, N.Y. Mr. John S. Gonas Judge South Bend, Indiana Dr. Harry Gottesfeld Faculty, Yeshiva University New York, N.Y. Mrs. Mary Gottesfeld Senior Social Worker Jewish Board of Guardians New York, N.Y. Mr. Philip G. Green Director, Division of Juvenile Delinquency Service Department of Health, Education and Welfare Washington, D.C. Mr. Robert L. Hafey Correctional Officer University of California Berkeley Mr. Irving W. Halpern Chief Probation Officer (Retired) New York, N.Y. Mr. Albert G. Hess Assistant Director Information Center on Crime and Delinquency New York, N.Y.

Mrs. Lois Higgins Professor of Criminology and Sociology Executive Director, International Association of Women Police Chicago, Illinois Mr. Allan C. Hubanks **Executive Director** Correctional Service of Minnesota Minneapolis Mrs. Lorna Hultgren Teacher of Delinquents Sacramento, California Mrs. Sarah H. Hutchison Teacher of Delinquents Orangevale, California Mrs. Katherine B. Jaynes Member legislative commission Illinois Legislature Glencoe, Ill. Mr. Willard F. Johnson Director of State Institutions New York State Dept. of Social Welfare Albany, N.Y. Miss Helen Kenney **Research** Psychologist Harvard University Medical School Belmont, Mass. Mr. James S. Kern Professor of Social Work University of Denver, Colorado Mr. Robert Kevan Deputy Assistant Secretary for International Affairs Department of Health, Education and Welfare Washington, D.C. Mr. Paul Keve Director of Court Services Hennepin County District Court Minneapolis, Minnesota Mr. Nicholas N. Kittrie Professor of Law Washington College of Law Mr. Herbert William Kochs Honorary Vice-President National Council on Crime and Delinquency Mr. Ray Lappegaard Commissioner of Corrections Minnesota Department of Corrections St. Paul Mr. Harold Leopold Clinical Professor Albert Einstein College of Medicine New York, N.Y. Mrs. Florence Lieberman Psychiatric Social Worker Little Neck, N.Y. Dr. Solomon S. Lieberman Psychologist Plainedge School System Massapequa, N.Y. Mr. John A. Lindquist Captain, Police Department Berkeley, California Mr. Joseph D. Lohman Dean and Professor of Criminology University of California, Berkeley Mr. F. Lovell Bixby Consultant on Probation Trenton, New Jersey

- 63 -

Mr. Arthur Mann Psychologist New York, N.Y. Mr. Pascal Marsico Warden, Brooklyn House of Detention for Men New York, N.Y. Mr. Charles V. Matthews Assistant Director Center for the Study of Crime Delinquency and Corrections Southern Illinois University Edwardsville, Illinois Mr. William Lloyd McCraney Special Educator Department of Education City of Baltimore, Maryland Mr. V. Dyke McMillan Caseworker San Francisco, California Mrs. Theresa M. Melchionne Deputy Commissioner in charge of Youth Program New York City Police Department Mr. William Melnicoe Associate Professor of Police Science and Administration University of California Sacramento Mr. David S. Milne Professor of Sociology San Diego State College California Miss Patricia Morgan University of California Berkelev Mr. Charles V. Morris Assistant Director Institute of Correctional Administration American University, Washington, D.C. Mrs. June Morrison School of Social Welfare Florida State University Tallahassee Miss Ward Ella Murphy Superintendent Maine State Reformatory for Women Skowhegan Mr. Anastassios Mylonas Professor of Sociology **Oueens** College New York, N.Y. Mr. Robert Nelson Director of Family Division Ramsey County Probation Department St. Paul, Minnesota Mr. Abraham Novick **Executive Director** Berkshire Farm for Boys and Berkshire Farm Institute for Training and Research Canaan, New York Mr. John W. Oliver **District Judge** Western District of Missouri Kansas City Miss Rheta Olsen Senior Deputy Probation Officer Playa del Rey, California Miss Lee Stubbs Penland Board, California Youth Authority San Francisco

Mr. I. Richard Perlman Chief, Juvenile Delinquency Studies Branch, Children's Bureau Department of Health, Education and Welfare Washington, D.C. Mr. Thomas R. Phelps Department of Criminology and Corrections Florida State University Tallahassee Mr. Lawrence W. Pierce Director, New York State Division for Youth, Executive Department Albany, New York Mr. William Pincus Program Associate Ford Foundation New York, N.Y. Mr. Houshang Poorkaj Assistant Professor of Sociology California State College Fullerton Dr. Stanley L. Portnow Director of Psychiatry New York City Department of Correction, N.Y. Mr. Charles Prigmore Educational Consultant for the Corrections Project Council on Social Work Education New York, N.Y. Dr. Efrén Ramírez Director, Addiction Research Center State Psychiatric Hospital Puerto Rico Mr. Jack Reed Correctional Counsellor Vacaville, California Mr. Ralph Reisner Professor of Law University of Illinois Champaign Mr. William H. Robinson **Program Consultant** Chicago, Illinois Mr. Henry W. Rodney Consultant, Industrial Security and Criminology New York, N.Y. Mr. John C. Scanlon Director, Information Center on Crime and Delinquency New York, N.Y. Dr. Stephen Schafer Professor of Criminology Ohio University, Athens Mr. Frank J. Schira **Executive Director** National Police Officers' Association Venice, Florida Miss Edith Schulhofer Professor of Social Work Tulane University New Orleans, Louisiana Mr. David Schulte, Jr. Member of the Board of Correction New York, N.Y. Mr. Eugene Phillip Schwartz Executive Director Metropolitan Youth Commission of St. Louis and St. Louis County Missouri

64 -

Mr. Louis B. Schwartz Professor of Law University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia Mr. Kenyon J. Scudder Consultant Osborne Association Inc. New York, N.Y. Mr. William Henry Sheridan Assistant Director Division of Juvenile Delinquency Service Silver Spring, Maryland Mr. Earl B. Shoesmith **Educational Consultant** Sacramento, California Mrs. Caroline K. Simon Judge, New York State Court of Claims, New York Mr. A. La Mont Smith Lecturer, Faculty, School of Criminology University of California Berkelev Mr. Ralph L. Smith Director of Court Services, Juvenile Court St. Louis County Mrs. George W. K. Snyder Board Member John Howard Association Chicago, Illinois Mr. John M. Speca Professor of Law University of Missouri Kansas City Mrs. Helene Spector Member, N.Y. Citizens Council Scarsdale, N.Y. Mr. Charles Stewart Senior Deputy Probation Officer Los Angeles, California Mr. Herbert Sturz Director, Vera Foundation Inc. New York, N.Y. Mr. Jack Taube Senior Deputy Probation Officer Los Angeles, California Mr. William Henry Thompson, Jr. Commissioner of the California Delinquency Prevention Commission Los Angeles, California Mr. Paul Thurlow Attorney at Law Joliet, Illinois Mr. Jackson Toby Professor of Sociology **Rutgers University** New Brunswick, New Jersey Mr. James A. Turman **Executive Director Texas Youth Council** Austin, Texas Mr. Douglass Ryan Turner Member, Parole and Pardon Board State of Illinois Chicago Mr. Jesse Marvin Unruh Speaker, California Assembly Sacramento

Miss Mary Lou Villa Social Worker Wheatland, California Mr. Roy C. Votaw Assistant Director Department of the Youth Authority Sacramento, California Mr. Melvin Wallace **Reintegration Unit** Mobilization for Youth Inc. New York, N.Y. Mr. Noah Weinstein Juvenile Court Judge St. Louis County Missouri Mrs. Carol H. Weiss Consultant Office of Juvenile Delinquency Union. New Jersev Mr. Morris J. Wexler President, John Howard Association Chicago, Illinois Miss Doris Whitney Representative of the Women's Prison Association of New York, Ň.Y. Mr. David I. Winton Member of the Citizens Council on Delinquency and Crime in Minnesota Minneapolis Miss Helen L. Witmer Director, Division of Research Children's Bureau Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Washington, D.C. Mr. Goesta Wollin Consultant to National Council on Crime and Delinquency New York, N.Y. Mr. Pearce Young Member, California Legislature and Chairman, Assembly Committee on Criminal Procedure Sacramento, California Miss Dorothy Zietz Assistant Director Department of Social Work Sacramento State College California

VENEZUELA

Mr. Ruben Bendon Aponte Director, Escuela de Psicologia Universidad Central Caracas Sra. Rosa del Olmo Sociologist Ministry of Justice Caracas Sra. Maria Lucia Díaz Asistente Pedagoga de la División de Menores en Situación Irregular del Consejo Venezolano del Niño Caracas Sr. Elio Gomez Grillo Abogado y Profesor de Derecho Caracas Sr. Juan Mendoza Pimentel Asesor Técnico de la Dirección de Prisiones Ministerio de Justicia Sabana Grande, Caracas

- 65 -

Sr. Hernan Quijada Director de Asuntos Sociales del Ministerio de Sanidad y Asistencia Social Caracas

Sr. Tomas R. Rodriguez Gonzalez Profesor de Ciencias Sociales Caracas

Sr. Abel Sanchez Profesor Psiquiatría Universidad Central Caracas

Sr. José Luis Vethencourt Balestrini Médico Psiquiátra Caracas

YUGOSLAVIA

Dr. Dusan Cotič Collaborateur scientifique Institut de Recherches criminologiques Belgrade

Dr. Vinko Skalar Psychologist at the Secretariat for Internal Affairs Ljubljana

M. Mijat Sukovič Procureur Belgrade

Annex III

RULES OF PROCEDURE OF THE CONGRESS

I. CONGRESS MEMBERSHIP

Rule 1

The Congress shall include three categories of participants: (a) Delegates officially designated by their Governments;

(b) Representatives of United Nations specialized agencies, intergovernmental organizations, and non-governmental organizations in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council;

(c) Individual participants having a direct interest in the field of social defence, including representatives of criminological institutes and of national non-governmental organizations concerned with social defence matters.

Rule 2

Each Government invited by the United Nations which proposes to participate in the Congress shall communicate the names of its delegates to the Secretary-General via official channels. The name of the head of the delegation and of the delegates who in his absence are authorized to cast the vote of the delegation shall be communicated to the Secretariat upon registration at the Congress.

Rule 3

Each specialized agency, inter-governmental organization and non-governmental organization which proposes to participate in the Congress shall communicate the names of its representatives to the United Nations Secretariat.

Rule 4

Persons who meet the requirements for Congress membership set forth by the Secretariat on the advice of the *Ad Hoc* Advisory Committee of Experts on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders may attend the Congress as individual participants if their applications have been accepted by the United Nations Secretariat.

II. ORGANIZATION OF THE WORK OF THE CONGRESS

Rule 5

The Congress shall consider the items included in the topical agenda prepared by the Secretariat of the United Nations on the advice of the *Ad Hoc* Advisory Committee of Experts on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders.

Rule 6

The work of the Congress shall be conducted in plenary and Section meetings, in accordance with a programme prepared by the Secretariat of the United Nations and distributed to participants in advance of the meetings.

Rule 7

The Congress shall establish six Sections corresponding to the six agenda items; Sections I, II and III will hold their meetings simultaneously with Sections IV, V and VI.

Rule 8

Each participant shall choose to participate in the work of up to three Sections. For purposes of continuity of debate, participants shall not take part in Section meetings scheduled to be held simultaneously.

Rule 9

A special plenary meeting shall be held on the question of research, prior to the debates on the agenda items in the respective Sections.

Rule 10

In Section meetings, the discussions shall be initiated by a small panel designated in advance of the Congress by the Secretary-General of the United Nations from among the registrants with due regard to geographical representation.

Rule 11

The deliberations of each Section shall be synthesized by its Rapporteur in a report which shall be presented to the Congress in a plenary meeting.

Rule 12

The United Nations Secretariat and the Host Government shall be responsible for making all the necessary arrangements for meetings of the Congress, interpretation and translation, and shall provide the services which the Congress may require.

- 66 -

III. OFFICERS

Rule 13

The Congress shall elect a President and up to a maximum of fifteen Vice-Presidents.

Nominations for President may be made by any delegation and will be retained if seconded by another delegation. If two or more candidates are so nominated, a vote shall be taken in accordance with the provision of rule 31.

For the posts of Vice-Presidents, a list may be presented jointly by any three delegations for election by the Congress at its first plenary meeting. If two or more lists are so presented, a vote shall be taken in accordance with the provision of rule 31.

Rule 14

The Secretary-General of the United Nations shall designate, in advance of the Congress, a Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Rapporteur for each Section, and in their selection regard shall be had to an equitable geographical distribution of posts. The list of officers so designated shall be placed before the Congress at its first plenary meeting for affirmation.

Rule 15

L

If the Chairman finds it necessary to be absent during a meeting or any part thereof, the Vice-Chairman acting as Chairman shall have the same powers and duties as the Chairman.

If the Chairman or any other officer of the Section must withdraw from the Congress, the Secretary-General shall designate a new officer for the post.

IV. CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

Rule 16

At the opening of the Congress, the representative of the Secretary-General of the United Nations shall preside until the Congress has elected a President.

Rule 17

The President of the Congress shall declare the opening and closing of each plenary meeting, accord the right to speak, direct the discussion in plenary meeting, ensure the observance of these rules, put questions and announce decisions. He shall rule on points of order and, subject to these rules, shall have control of the proceedings. He may call a speaker to order if his remarks are not relevant to the subject under consideration.

Rule 18

If the President is absent from a meeting or any part thereof, he shall designate a Vice-President to take his place. A Vice-President acting as President shall have the same powers and duties as the President.

Rule 19

The President may limit the time allowed to each speaker and the numbers of times each participant may speak on any question. He may request that participants who may wish to take part in the discussion should complete, in advance of the meeting, a speaker's form indicating briefly the subject of their intervention. When debate is limited and a participant has spoken his allotted time, the President shall call him to order without delay.

Rule 20

If the time allotted to the item under consideration does not permit the Congress to hear all participants who signify their desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may accord the right to speak to only a limited number of participants. In the choice of

participants on the speakers list, due regard shall be had to geographical representation and the points which each speaker proposes to discuss.

Rule 21

Each Section shall be presided over by a Chairman whose powers and functions shall be similar to those of the President of the Congress at plenary meetings, as provided in rules 17 and 19.

Rule 22

In Section meetings, the right to speak shall first be accorded by the Chairman to panel members, and in the ensuing general discussion all participants shall have the right to ask for the floor, subject to the provisions of rules 19 and 20.

Rule 23

The provisions of rules 21 and 22 shall be applicable *mutatis mutandis* to the proceedings of the special plenary meeting on research.

Rule 24

The representative of the Secretary-General or any officer of the Secretariat designated by him may, at any time, make oral as well as written statements concerning any question under consideration by the Congress.

Rule 25

Any proposal on matters pertaining to the substance of an agenda item shall not be submitted to or entertained by the Congress if it requires adoption by voting. The Presiding Officer of any meeting may, however, ascertain the sense of the meeting on matters not relating to the substance of an item on the agenda.

Rule 26

Any draft resolution proposed for adoption by the Congress cannot be submitted for consideration at a plenary meeting unless it is sponsored by not less than three delegations and cleared by the Steering Committee in advance of the plenary meeting. The text of any such resolution shall be circulated to the participants twenty-four hours before it is discussed and voted upon, unless the Congress decides otherwise.

V. STEERING COMMITTEE

Rule 27

The Steering Committee shall be the governing body of the Congress. It shall assist the President in the general conduct of the work of the Congress, ensure the co-ordination of the work of the Sections, review the progress of the Congress and make recommendations for furthering such progress. It shall also have the authority to decide on the submission to the Congress of any question not closely related to the agenda items. It shall not, however, decide any political question.

Rule 28

The Steering Committee shall comprise the President of the Congress, the representative of the Secretary-General of the United Nations, the representative of the Host Government, the Chairmen of the six Sections, the Chairman of the special plenary meeting, the representative of the Host Government for the next quinquennial Congress and the Executive Secretary of the Congress. The Steering Committee may co-opt up to four additional members to participate in its meetings.

67 _

Rule 29

The Steering Committee shall elect its own Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Rapporteur, and set the schedule of its meetings.

Rule 30

The decisions of the Steering Committee shall be made by a majority of members present and voting.

VI. VOTING

Rule 31

In plenary meetings, voting shall be confined to Government delegations, each of which shall have one vote. The vote of each delegation shall be cast by the head of the delegation or by a duly authorized delegate. The vote shall normally be taken by show of hands, but any delegation may request a roll-call. The roll-call shall be taken in the English alphabetical order of the names of delegations, beginning with the delegation whose name is drawn by lot by the President.

Rule 32

Decisions of the Congress shall be made by a majority of Government delegates present and voting. The delegations which abstain from voting are considered as not voting.

Rule 33

Subsequent to any vote taken in accordance with rule 31, the Presiding Officer may request, for consultative purposes, that the views of individual participants and of the representatives of

The basic documentation for the Congress was as follows:

specialized agencies, inter-governmental and non-governmental organizations be expressed by show of hands.

Rule 34

In Section meetings, all participants have the right to vote. Decisions shall be made by a majority of participants present and voting.

VII. LANGUAGES

Rule 35

English, French, Russian and Spanish shall be the official languages of the Congress. Simultaneous interpretation to and from any of these languages shall be provided in Section and plenary meetings.

VIII. REPORT OF THE CONGRESS

Rule 36

The report of the Congress shall be prepared by the Secretariat of the United Nations and distributed after the close of the Congress to the participants as well as to all States Members of the United Nations.

IX. GENERAL PROVISION

Rule 37

Any question not specifically covered by these rules shall be settled by the Presiding Officer following as closely as possible the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the United Nations.

Annex IV

LIST OF DOCUMENTS

Unless otherwise indicated, the basic documentation for the Congress listed below was published in English, French, Spanish and Russian. A Conference Handbook in four languages, prepared by the Swedish Organizing Committee, was distributed to all participants. The reports submitted by the Rapporteurs were also made available to all participants in the four languages. Minutes of the Plenary and Section meetings were prepared for the use of the officers of the Congress and the Secretariat only.

The basic doc	uncitation for the Congress was as follows.
A/CONF.26/1	Social change and criminality Working paper prepared by the Secretariat
A/CONF.26/2	Social forces and the prevention of criminality (with particular reference to the public, the family, educational facilities and occupational opportunities) Working paper prepared by the Secretariat
A/CONF.26/3	Community preventive action (with particular reference to the planning and implementation of medical, police and social programmes) Working paper prepared by the Secretariat
A/CONF.26/4	Measures to combat recidivism (with particular reference to adverse conditions of detention pending trial and inequality in the administration of justice) Working paper prepared by the Secretariat
A/CONF.26/5	Probation (especially adult probation) and other non-institutional measures Working paper prepared by the Secretariat
A/CONF.26/6	Special preventive and treatment measures for young adults Working paper prepared by the Secretariat
A/CONF.26/L.1	The role of vocational guidance, training, employment opportunity and work in youth adjustment and the pre- vention of juvenile delinquency Paper prepared by the International Labour Office

- 68 -

A/CONF.26/L.2	Mental health aspects of the prevention of crime Paper prepared by the World Health Organization English, French and Spanish
A/CONF.26/L.3	The mental health approach to the problem of juvenile delinquency in developing countries Paper prepared by the World Health Organization English, French and Spanish
A/CONF.26/L.4	The role of school and out-of-school education in delinquency prevention Paper prepared by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization English, French and Spanish
A/CONF.26/L.5	International Review of Criminal Policy No. 21
(ST/SOA/SER.M/21)	English, French and Spanish (United Nations publication Sales No. 64.IV.3)
A/CONF.26/L.6	International Review of Criminal Policy No. 22
(ST/SOA/SER.M/22)	English, French and Spanish (United Nations publication Sales No. 65.IV.1)
A/CONF.26/L.7	International Review of Criminal Policy No. 23
(ST/SOA/SER.M/23)	English, French and Spanish (United Nations publication Sales No. 65.IV.4)
A/CONF.20/L.//Add.1	Some theoretical and practical problems of the study and prevention of criminality in the Soviet Union English, French and Russian
A/CONF.26/L.8 (ST/SOA/SD/11)	The young adult offender: A review of current practice and programmes in prevention and treatment Report prepared at the request of the Secretariat by the National Council on Crime and Delinquency, New York English, French and Spanish (United Nations publication Sales No. 65.IV.5)
A/CONF.26/L.9	Criminological Research and the Council of Europe Paper prepared by the Council of Europe English and French
A/CONF.26/NGO.1	The role and future of the police in the field of crime prevention Paper prepared by INTERPOL English, French and Spanish
A/CONF.26/NGO.2	Measures tending to combat recidivism among women Paper prepared by the International Council of Women English and French
A/CONF.26/NGO.3	Some aspects of the prevention of juvenile delinquency Paper submitted by the following organizations: International Union for Child Welfare (IUCW)
	International Association of Youth Magistrates (IAYM)
	International Catholic Child Bureau (ICCB) International Union of Family Organizations (IUFO)
	International Association of Workers with Maladjusted Children (IAWMC) World Union of Organizations for the Safeguard of Youth (UMOSEA) English and French
A/CONF.26/NGO.4	Cultural factors in delinquency
	Paper submitted by the World Federation for Mental Health English and French
For the correct	information of Congress negatisingents of list of documents and multiplications of the United Nations and the

For the general information of Congress participants, a list of documents and publications of the United Nations and the Specialized Agencies on the prevention of crime and the treatment of offenders was also distributed.

HOW TO OBTAIN UNITED NATIONS PUBLICATIONS

United Nations publications may be obtained from bookstores and distributors throughout the world. Consult your bookstore or write to: United Nations, Sales Section, New York or Geneva.

COMMENT SE PROCURER LES PUBLICATIONS DES NATIONS UNIES

Les publications des Nations Unies sont en vente dans les librairies et les agences dépositaires du monde entier. Informez-vous auprès de votre librairie ou adréssez-vous à: Nations Unies, Section des ventes, New York ou Genève.

COMO CONSEGUIR PUBLICACIONES DE LAS NACIONES UNIDAS

Las publicaciones de las Naciones Unidas están en venta en librerías y casas distribuidoras en todas partes del mundo. Consulte a su librero o diríjase a: Naciones Unidas, Sección de Ventas, Nueva York o Ginebra.